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1 CIVMEC FINANCIAL REPORT 2025 

 

Directors’ report 
30 June 2025 

The Directors present their report to the members together with the audited consolidated financial statements 
of Civmec Limited (the ‘Company’) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the ‘Group’) for the financial 
year ended 30 June 2025. 

 

1. Information on Directors and Group Company Secretary 

The Directors of the Company who held office during and since the end of the financial year are:  

 

Directors appointed on 4 September 2024 

Name Position 

Mr. James Finbarr Fitzgerald Executive Chairman 

Mr. Patrick John Tallon Chief Executive Officer 

Mr. Kevin James Deery Chief Operating Officer 

 

Directors appointed on 30 October 2024 

Name Position 

Mr. Ambrose Law Lead Independent Director 

Ms. Ong Beng Hong Independent Director 

Mr. Gary Gray Independent Director 

 

Directors retired on 30 October 2024 

Name Position 

Mr. Chong Teck Sin Lead Independent Director 

Mr. Wong Fook Choy Sunny Independent Director 

Mr. Douglas Owen Chester Independent Director 

 

The following Directors held office prior to the Company’s listing on the Australian Securities Exchange 
(‘ASX’) and Singapore Exchange (‘SGX’) and while the Company was dormant. They each ceased office on 
4 September 2024. 

Name Position 

Mr. Adam James Goldsmith Director 

Mr. Charles John Sweeney Director 

Mr. Peter John Ricciardello Director 
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Directors’ report 
30 June 2025 

1.  Information on Directors and Group Company Secretary (continued) 

Information on the current Directors, including their terms of service, qualifications, experience and special 
responsibilities, and directorships of other listed companies held in the last three years are listed below: 

Director Profiles and Responsibilities 

James Fitzgerald James joined the Civmec Board on 27 March 2012. He is a co-founder of Civmec. A 
dedicated leader with over 41 years industry experience, he guides the corporate 
direction of the company, oversees overall business and financial performance, and 
ensures compliance with corporate governance guidelines. James has contributed to 
several national industry initiatives, including roles with the Centre for Defence 
Industry Capability and the AusIndustry Modern Manufacturing Initiative. A strong 
advocate for skills development and inclusion, he promotes training pathways, 
diversity, and equal opportunity across the business. His leadership continues to guide 
Civmec’s growth while reinforcing its role in supporting Australia’s industrial 
capabilities. 
 
Responsibilities: Executive Chairman 

Current directorships of listed entities: Nil 

Other directorships of listed entities within the past three years: Nil 

Patrick Tallon Patrick was appointed to the Board on 27 March 2012. He is a co-founder of Civmec. 
Patrick Tallon has 38 years of experience in the construction, engineering and 
manufacturing sectors. As the CEO, he leads the implementation of the company’s 
strategic objectives, with a focus on operational excellence, workforce engagement, 
and sustainable growth across all business units. He is committed to fostering a strong 
safety culture and driving innovation through continuous improvement. Patrick 
maintains regular engagement with clients, partners, and staff, and is particularly 
involved with the direct workforce – those on the workshop floors and project sites 
who carry out the physical work. His leadership style promotes collaboration and a 
values driven approach in all aspects of the business. A dedicated supporter of a few 
charities, he has taken part in seven Vinnies CEO Sleepout events, raising more than 
A$500,000 in total for homelessness. 
 
Responsibilities: Chief Executive Officer 

Current directorships of listed entities: Nil 

Other directorships of listed entities within the past three years: Nil 

Kevin Deery Kevin joined the Civmec Board on 27 March 2012. With a Bachelor of Engineering 
(Mechanical) degree, he has more than 31 years of experience managing major 
Australian manufacturing and construction projects. A key part of Civmec’s leadership 
since its inception, he oversees the Group’s operations, with responsibility for project 
delivery, safety performance, and financial control. Kevin also plays a central role in  
ensuring Civmec’s operational and financial strategies are closely aligned, enabling 
continued growth while maintaining quality and efficiency across all areas of the 
business. 
 
Responsibilities: Chief Operating Officer 

Current directorships of listed entities: Nil 

Other directorships of listed entities within the past three years: Nil 
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Directors’ report 
30 June 2025 

1.  Information on Directors and Group Company Secretary (continued) 

Director Profiles and Responsibilities 

Ambrose Law A seasoned Chartered Accountant with extensive experience in senior financial roles 
across multiple countries. Ambrose brings to the Board extensive experience in 
corporate governance and risk management. He holds a Bachelor of Commerce from 
Victoria University of Wellington, New Zealand, and is a Chartered Accountant with 
extensive experience in senior financial roles in the Banking and Finance industry and 
in public accounting. Ambrose’s appointment aligns with Civmec’s commitment to 
maintaining a diverse and skilled Board, ensuring robust oversight and strategic 
guidance as the company continues its growth trajectory. He currently serves as Chair 
of the Audit Committee and the Risks and Conflicts Committee and is a member of 
both the Remuneration and Nominating Committees. 
 
Responsibilities: Lead Independent Director, Chairman of Audit and Risk and 
Conflicts Committee, Member of Nominating Committee, Member of Remuneration 
Committee 
 
Degrees & qualifications:  
Chartered Accountant in New Zealand and Singapore 
Bachelor of Commerce 
 
Other directorships of listed entities within the past three years: 
Global Testing Corporation (SGX listed) 
 
Other directorships: Coca-Cola Euro-Pacific Partners Investments 

Ong Beng Hong Ong Beng Hong has a Bachelor of Laws (Honours) from Kings College, London, and 
is a practicing advocate and solicitor of the Supreme Court of Singapore. She is also 
a Joint Managing Director of Wong Tan & Molly Lim LLC, specialising in corporate, 
banking, finance, and capital markets law. 
 
Beng Hong brings a wealth of experience in legal and corporate advisory roles, 
contributing valuable insights to the Board’s deliberations. Her expertise supports 
Civmec’s focus on strong governance practices and strategic decision making, 
reinforcing the company’s position in the industry. On the Civmec Limited Board, Beng 
Hong has the role of Chairperson for the Remuneration Committee (RC). 
 
Responsibilities: Independent Director, Chairman of Remuneration Committee, 
Member of Audit, Risks and Conflicts Committee, Member of Nominating Committee 
 
Degrees & qualifications: 
LL.B (Hons) 
Advocate & Solicitor of the Supreme Court of Singapore 
 
Other directorships of listed entities within the past three years: 
Intraco Limited (SGX listed) 
Moneymax Financials Services Ltd (SGX Listed) 
 
Other directorships*:  
Wong Tan & Molly Lim LLC  
WTML Management Services Pte Ltd 
 
*Companies in which Ong Beng Hong was appointed as a director for the purposes of 

incorporation or nominee director only and in the course of her professional practice have not 

been included. 
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Directors’ report 
30 June 2025 

1.  Information on Directors and Group Company Secretary (continued) 

Director Profiles and Responsibilities 

Gary Gray Mr. Gray AO brings extensive public policy, political, and commercial experience, he 
has held senior roles across both the public and private sectors. Mr. Gray’s previous 
appointments include as Australia’s Ambassador to Ireland, Director of the Australian 
Submarine Corporation, Director of the Perth Astronomical Observatory, a Trustee of 
Telethon, Australia’s largest charity, Director of Corporate Affairs at Woodside Energy, 
General Manager of External Affairs at Mineral Resources Ltd and as Executive 
Director of the WA Institute of Medical Research. 
 
In Government, Mr. Gray was Federal Parliamentary Member for Brand and held 
ministerial portfolios including Minister for Resources, Energy and Minister for the 
Public Service and Federal Integrity Agencies. Mr. Gray has been a member of the 
Independent Parliamentary Expenses Authority since 2016. In 2024, Mr. Gray was 
appointed as a Non-Executive Director of Amplitude Energy Limited (ASX: AEL). 
 
Mr. Gray GAICD was awarded a Centenary Medal in 2001, an AO in 2003 he is a 
Bachelor of Economics from ANU. 
 
Responsibilities: Independent Director, Chairman of Nominating Committee, 
Member of Audit, Risks and Conflicts Committee, Member of Remuneration 
Committee 
 
Degrees & qualifications: 
Bachelor of Economics ANU 
 
Other directorships of listed entities within the past three years: 
Amplitude Energy (ASX listed) 
 
Other appointments: Non-executive Director Amplitude Energy and Member of the 
Independent Parliamentary Expenses Authority 
 

 
Group Company 
Secretary Profiles and Responsibilities 

Bojan Cica Bojan Cica was appointed to the executive team as the Chief Financial Officer on 1 
September 2024. He holds a Master of Business Administration, a Bachelor of Laws, 
is a Certified Practising Accountant, and is currently completing a Master of Applied 
Finance. Prior to his appointment as CFO, Bojan was the Group Manager Commercial 
and Operational Risk. Following a structured transition process, he succeeded Kevin 
Deery in the role, who had fulfilled the CFO duties in an acting capacity alongside his 
responsibilities as Chief Operating Officer for several years. As CFO, Bojan brings a 
sound understanding of operations and commercial strategy. He works closely with 
the operational EGMs while managing the company’s financial team, ensuring 
compliance and guiding the company’s strategic direction to ensure consistent and 
sustainable fiscal growth. 
 
Responsibilities: Chief Financial Officer 

Other directorships of listed entities within the past three years: Nil 

Other directorships: Nil 
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Directors’ report 
30 June 2025 

2. Principal activities 

The consolidated group operates as an integrated construction and engineering enterprise, specialising in: 

Manufacturing  

The Group offers a comprehensive range of manufacturing capabilities, including heavy engineering, offsite 
modular assembly and testing. Additionally, it also specialises in supplying OEM material handling 
equipment and offers expertise in naval shipbuilding. 

 

Construction  

The Group delivers comprehensive on-site services, including module installation, SMPE&I (structural, 
mechanical, piping, electrical & instrumentation), EIC (electrical, instrumentation and control), structural 
concrete works, and site earthworks. 

 

Maintenance and capital works 

The Group delivers SMPE&I services and civil concrete works. It also offers specialised solutions in industrial 
insulation, rope access solutions and heat-resistant industrial linings. 

 

No significant change in the nature of these activities occurred during the current financial year. 

 

3. Operating and financial review 

A summary of the consolidated revenue and results for the current and previous financial years 
is as follows: 
 2025 

A$’000 
2024 

A$’000 
Variance 

% 

Revenue and other income 814,138 1,038,803 (21.6) 
Total depreciation (21,433) (19,676) 8.9 
Total finance cost (9,681) (9,583) 1.0 
Earnings before interest, tax and amortisation 

(EBITDA) 91,689 120,750 (24.1) 
Earnings before interest and tax (EBIT) 70,256 101,074 (30.5) 
Earnings before tax (EBT) 60,575 91,491 (33.8) 
Net profit after tax (NPAT) 42,536 64,409 (34.0) 
Cash position 102,940 88,457 16.4 
Operating cash flow before working capital changes 89,267 116,544 (23.4) 

Revenue and other income were 21.6% lower than the previous year, primarily due to the reduced level of 
activities within the Resources division and lower interest income earned from bank balances. The gross 
profit margin remains at 11.5%. 

The 33.8% decline in EBT compared to the previous year was mainly driven by a reduction in gross profit, 
increased administrative costs and higher depreciation expenses. 

The Group’s cash balance increased by 16.4%. The positive operating cash flow supported the funding of 
working capital requirements, consistent dividend payments, and capital expenditure in property, plant and 
equipment. 
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Directors’ report 
30 June 2025 

4. Likely developments and expected results 

The Group continues to focus on sustainable growth and profitability, with tendering activities remaining 
positive. The Group is actively deploying its growth strategy, including the expansion of its offerings in the 
materials handling machines, maintenance, and defence sectors. While the level of activity has moderated 
compared to FY24, the Group remains committed to delivering profitability and shareholder returns by 
prioritising the acquisition of profitable work. 

The Group will continue to embed its strategy of streamlining operations to enhance efficiency and 
performance. 

Further information about likely developments in the operations of the Group and the expected results of 
those operations in future financial years has not been included in this report because disclosure of the 
information would be likely to result in unreasonable prejudice to the Group. 

 

5. Significant changes in the state of affairs 

Establishment of a new group organisational structure 

On 27 October 2023, Civmec Singapore Limited (formerly known as Civmec Limited, domiciled in Singapore) 
entered into an implementation agreement with Civmec Limited (formerly known as Civmec Australia 
Limited, domiciled in Australia) with the intention to change the domicile of the head company of the Civmec 
Group from Singapore to Australia. The Change of Domicile was achieved by way of a scheme of 
arrangement in accordance with Section 210 of the Companies Act 1967 of Singapore. The Shareholders’ 
scheme became effective on 4 September 2024.  

On Restructure, each Civmec Singapore Limited shareholder received one Civmec Limited ordinary share 
for each Civmec Singapore Limited ordinary share that they held prior to the implementation of the 
Restructure. Accordingly, these consolidated financial statements reflect a continuation of the Civmec Group 
prior to the Restructure. 

 

6. Environmental regulations 

The consolidated group’s operations are not regulated by any significant environmental regulation under a 
law of the Commonwealth or of a state or territory. The Group is committed to responsible environmental 
management and sustainability practices. Further details of the Company’s environmental policy are 
available on the Company’s corporate website. 

 

7. Dividends 

Information on dividends made during the year can be found under Note 25 of this report. 

 

8. Arrangements to enable directors to acquire shares or debentures 

Neither at the end of nor at any time during the financial year was the Company a party to any arrangement 
whose object was to enable the Directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of 
shares in or debentures of the Company or any other body corporate, other than as disclosed under 
’Performance Rights Plan’ in this report. 
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Directors’ report 
30 June 2025 

9. Shares under option and unvested equity performance rights 

Options 

There are no outstanding share options at the date of this report. 

 

Performance rights 

As at the date of this report, the Company had outstanding performance rights granted under the 2024 
Civmec Key Senior Executives Performance Rights Plan as follows: 

 

Year of award 
No. of rights 

granted 
No. of unvested 

rights 
Unvested rights 

held by KMP 

FY2022/23: Tranche 6 2,134,000 2,050,000 459,000 

FY2023/24: Tranche 7 1,817,000 1,756,000 459,000 

FY2024/25: Tranche 8 2,283,000 2,283,000 410,000 

These rights entitle the holder to receive shares upon vesting, subject to the satisfaction of the relevant 
conditions. No amounts are payable by the recipients upon vesting. Further information can be found under 
Remuneration Report and Note 26 of this report. 

 

10. Directors’ shareholdings 

The names of Directors of the Company during the year ended 30 June 2025, and up to the date of this 
report, along with details of the relevant interest of each of those Directors in shares in the Company at the 
date of this report, are as set out below: 

 

Directors 
Shareholdings in the 

Company 

James Fitzgerald 97,720,806 

Patrick Tallon 97,620,806 

Kevin Deery 10,193,250 

Gary Gray1 78,000 

Douglas Chester2 70,000 

1. appointed on 30 October 2024. 
2. retired on 30 October 2024. 
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Directors’ report 
30 June 2025 

11. Directors’ meetings 

The number of Board and standing Board Committee meetings held during the year, and the number of 
meetings each Director attended is below: 

 

   Board committee 

 Extraordinary 
Board 

Meetings Board 
Audit 

committee 
Remuneration 

committee 
Nominating 
committee 

Risks and 
conflicts 

committee 

No. of meetings held 2 4 4 2 2 4 

No. of meeting attended 

James Fitzgerald 2 4 4* 2* 2* 4* 

Patrick Tallon 2 4 4* 2* 2* 4* 

Kevin Deery 2 4 4* 2* 2* 4* 

Chong Teck Sin1 N/A 2 2 1 1 2 

Wong Fook Choy Sunny1 N/A 2 2 1 1 2 

Douglas Chester1 N/A 2 2 1 1 2 

Ambrose Law2 2 2 2 1 1 2 

Ong Beng Hong2 2 2 2 1 1 2 

Gary Gray2 2 2 2 1 1 2 
Note: 
*By invitation 
1. retired on 30 October 2024 
2. appointed on 30 October 2024 

 

12. Corporate governance 

Civmec Limited maintains a high level of corporate governance in accordance with the ASX Corporate 
Governance Principles and recommendations (4th Edition) and Principles and Provisions of the Singapore 
Code of Corporate Governance 2018 (the ‘Code’). For more comprehensive information, refer to Corporate 
Governance section in this report. 
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Directors’ report 
30 June 2025 

13. Remuneration report (audited) 

The Directors of Civmec Limited present this Remuneration Report for the consolidated group for the year 
ended 30 June 2025. It has been prepared in accordance with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001 
(Cth) (‘Act’), applicable regulations and the Company’s policies regarding Key Management Personnel 
(‘KMP’) remuneration governance. The remuneration report has been audited as required by section 
308(3C) of the Act. 

The remuneration report is presented under the following sections: 

13.1 Introduction 

13.2 Highlights for FY25 

13.3 Remuneration governance 

13.4 Executive remuneration arrangements 

A. Remuneration strategy and objectives 

B. Approach to setting remuneration and details of incentive plans 

C. Executive contracts 

13.5 Executive remuneration outcomes for FY25 (including link to performance) 

13.6 Non-executive director remuneration arrangements 

13.7 Statutory Executive KMP remuneration 

13.8 Additional disclosures relating to performance rights and shares 

13.9 Loans to key management personnel and their related parties 

13.10 Other transactions and balances with key management personnel and their related parties 
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Directors’ report 
30 June 2025 

13.  Remuneration report (audited)(continued) 

13.1 Introduction 

The remuneration report details the remuneration arrangements for KMP who are defined as those persons 
having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the major activities of the Company, 
directly or indirectly, including any director (whether executive or otherwise) of the Company. 

The table below details the KMP of the Company during FY25.  Each was a KMP for the entire period unless 
otherwise stated.  For the purposes of this report, the term ‘non-executive director’ refers to the Independent 
Directors of the company. The term 'executive KMP’ includes the Executive Chairman and other senior 
executives of the Company. 

 
Non-Executive Directors (NEDs) Position 

Mr. Chong Teck Sin Lead Independent Director (retired on 30 October 2024) 

Mr. Wong Fook Choy Sunny Independent Director (retired on 30 October 2024) 

Mr. Douglas Owen Chester Independent Director (retired on 30 October 2024) 

Mr. Ambrose Law Lead Independent Director (appointed on 30 October 2024) 

Mr. Gary Gray Independent Director (appointed on 30 October 2024) 

Ms. Ong Beng Hong Independent Director (appointed on 30 October 2024) 

 
Executive KMP Position 

Mr. James Finbarr Fitzgerald Executive Chairman 

Mr. Patrick John Tallon Chief Executive Officer 

Mr. Kevin James Deery Chief Operating Officer 

Mr. Bojan Cica* Chief Financial Officer 

*Mr Bojan Cica commenced in the role of Chief Financial Officer (CFO) effective from 1 September 2024 

There were no other changes to KMP after the reporting date and before the date the financial report was 
authorised for issue. 
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13.  Remuneration report (audited)(continued) 

13.2 Highlights for FY25 

Executive fixed 
remuneration 

7.49% 
Average increase 

A comprehensive executive remuneration review 
was undertaken, assessing each executive 
director’s fixed remuneration against relevant 
external market benchmarks. This evaluation 
also considered individual performance, role 
complexity, and internal relativities. As a result, 
the base salaries of the Executive Chairman, 
Chief Executive Officer, and Chief Operating 
Officer were increased by an average of 7.49%. 
These adjustments reflect prevailing market 
conditions and acknowledge the growing 
complexity of their roles as the company 
continues to diversify its operations. 
 

Short-term incentive – 
Group outcomes 

30% awarded The company’s Short-Term Incentive Plan 
(STIP) is structured around both group and 
individual performance targets. Group targets 
account for 75% of the total STIP pool available 
to executive directors. 
 
For FY25, STIP measures related to company 
turnover and EBIT were not met. However, 
targets associated with Work-in-Hand and Total 
Recordable Injury Frequency Rate (TRIFR) were 
successfully achieved. These outcomes reflect 
the company’s ongoing focus on operational 
execution and safety performance. 
 

Long-term incentive 
(‘LTI’) outcomes 

68.9% awarded The 2022 LTI (FY25) three-year performance 
period ended on 30 June 2025. In line with the 
LTI incentive plan and the company performance 
during this period, the Board approved vesting of 
this award at 68.9% based on assessment 
against the required 
 

FY25 Non-Executive 
directors remuneration 

0% increase During FY25 the Board reviewed the NED fee 
structure in light of relevant benchmarking. As a 
result, it was determined no increase in NED fees 
was required.  
 
The agreed NED fee pool of SGD$400,000 (as 
approved by shareholders at the 2024 AGM) 
remains unchanged. 
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13.  Remuneration report (audited)(continued) 

13.3 Remuneration governance 

The following sets out the Company’s governance framework for remuneration setting and decision 
making, and responsibilities of various parties. 

Board The Board takes an active role in the governance and oversight of the 
Company’s KMP remuneration strategies and has overall responsibility 
for ensuring the effectiveness of remuneration arrangements. This is in 
consideration of remuneration outcomes that align with the Company’s 
strategic objectives and risk management framework, and shareholder 
value over the long term. 

 
Remuneration Committee 
(‘RC’ or ‘the Committee’) 

 

The Company has established an RC to make recommendations to the 
Board on remuneration packages of individual NEDs and executive KMP 
to attract and retain talent to drive long-term sustainable results. The 
Company has developed a remuneration policy for setting the 
remuneration packages of NEDs and executive KMP. 
 
The RC considers all aspects of remuneration, including termination 
terms, to ensure they are fair. The RC has established a framework of 
remuneration for the NEDs and executive KMP covering all aspects of 
remuneration but not limited to NED fees, executive KMP salaries, 
allowances, bonuses, incentive schemes and benefits-in-kind. This 
framework considers business context, remuneration guiding principles 
and external market conditions when setting appropriate remuneration 
levels. The RC also oversees remuneration governance matters 
including delegations, disclosures, conflicts of interest and 
independence.  
 
The recommendations of the RC are submitted for endorsement by the 
entire Board. Each member of the RC abstains from voting on any 
resolutions in respect of their own remuneration package. Also, in the 
event that a member of the RC is related to the employee under review, 
they will abstain from participating in that review. Directors are not 
involved in the discussion and in deciding their own remuneration. 
 

External Remuneration 
Advisors 

To ensure the Board and the RC are fully informed when making 
remuneration decisions, it may seek additional market insights and 
advice from external independent remuneration consultants (as 
endorsed by the RC and approved by the Board).  
 
During the year, the Committee engaged The Reward Practice Pty Ltd 
(‘TRP’) to provide remuneration support. A total fee of A$7,000 was paid 
to the advisor for services rendered during the year. 
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13.  Remuneration report (audited)(continued) 

13.3 Remuneration governance (continued) 

The following sets out the Company’s governance framework for remuneration setting and decision 
making, and responsibilities of various parties. (continued) 

Share Trading Policy The Company has a policy that governs the Directors and senior 
management personnel dealing in securities trading. The securities 
trading policy reflects the Corporations Act 2001 prohibition on KMP and 
their closely related parties from hedging the KMP’s incentive 
remuneration. The KMP, and their immediate family and controlled 
entities are prohibited from entering into any arrangement that would 
have the effect of limiting the KMP’s exposure to risk relating to an 
element of the KMP’s remuneration that is unvested, or is vested but 
remains subject to a holding lock. The securities trading policy sets out 
closed periods for trading in securities by KMP including for four weeks 
prior to and 48 hours after release of half yearly and annual financial 
results. The policy also restricts KMP from engaging in short term trading 
of securities. 

 
The Company’s Securities Trading Policy is available at 
https://www.civmec.com.au/approach/policies/. 
 

 

13.4 Executive remuneration arrangements 

13.4A Remuneration strategy and objectives 

Civmec aims to remunerate fairly and responsibly and in accordance with the region, markets, 
skills, experience, individual performance and the applicable corporate governance principles, 
such as the Principles and Provisions of the Singapore Code of Corporate Governance 2018 and 
the 4th edition of the Australian Securities Exchange Corporate Governance Principles and 
Recommendations. 

The objectives of Civmec’s Remuneration Policy are: 

 to ensure the remuneration framework is appropriate to attract, retain and motivate the executive 
KMP, provide good stewardship of the Company and successfully manage the Company for the long 
term; 

 to ensure the short-term incentives and long-term incentives align with the achievement of Civmec’s 
short-term and long-term strategic goals that support the interests of shareholders and other 
stakeholders and promote Civmec’s long-term success; 

 to ensure the share and equity-based plans comply with the applicable corporate governance 
principles; 

 to ensure effective benchmarking of remuneration packages for executive KMP is in accordance with 
market movements for a clearly defined peer group of similar companies to ensure fair and 
competitive remuneration; and 

 to set performance goals and reward performance for key stages of the Company’s development in 
a way which is sustainable, including in respect of health and safety-based objective. 
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13.  Remuneration report (audited)(continued) 

13.4 Executive remuneration arrangements (continued) 

13.4A Remuneration strategy and objectives (continued) 

The executive KMP remuneration structure for FY25 remains consistent with prior years and comprises a 
base salary, superannuation and performance incentives (consisting of short and long-term incentive 
opportunities). The following table provides an overview of the remuneration structure.  

Fixed remuneration (FR) Short-term Incentive (STI) Long-term Incentive (LTI) 

Purpose 

Attract and retain high quality 
executives through market 
competitive and fair 
remuneration. 

Ensure a portion of 
remuneration is variable, at-risk 
and linked to the delivery of 
agreed plan targets for financial 
and non-financial measures that 
support strategic priorities. 

Designed to retain and reward 
executives, whilst setting an 
incentive structure that aligns 
with overall company 
performance and shareholder 
value and ensures that rewards 
are contingent on the 
achievement of long-term 
financial goals such as absolute 
earnings per share (aEPS) over 
a multi-year period. 
 

Delivery 

Base salary, superannuation as 
per the Superannuation 
Guarantee (Administration) Act 
1992. 

Awarded in cash based on an 
assessment of performance 
against a mix of individual and 
group KPIs and measures over 
the preceding year. 

Awarded in performance rights 
which potentially vest after three 
years. 
 
To the extent gateway hurdles 
are satisfied, vesting is based on 
absolute earnings per share 
(“aEPS”) over a three-year 
performance period.   Vested 
LTIs are satisfied in either 
Civmec shares or the cash 
equivalent. 
 

Alignment to performance 

Set with reference to 
comparable industry market 
benchmarks as well as the size, 
responsibilities, and complexity 
of the role, and skills and 
experience.  Individual 
performance impacts fixed 
remuneration adjustments. 

Performance is assessed using 
a scorecard comprising financial 
and non-financial measures 
linked to the key strategic 
priorities for the performance 
year. 

Performance is assessed 
against aEPS which is aligned to 
shareholder wealth creation over 
the long term.   
 
Underperformance over the 
longer-term may also result in 
no vesting of long-term incentive 
awards (e.g., performance 
rights). 
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13.  Remuneration report (audited)(continued) 

13.4 Executive remuneration arrangements (continued) 

13.4B Approach to setting remuneration and details of incentive plans 

In FY25, the executive remuneration framework consisted of base salary and short and long- term 
incentives as outlined below. 

Overall remuneration level and mix 

How is overall 
remuneration and mix 
determined? 

Executive KMP remuneration comprises a fixed and a variable component, the 
latter of which is in the form of a bonus linked to the performance of the individual 
as well as the Group. In addition, short-term and long-term incentives are in 
place to strengthen the pay-for-performance framework by rewarding and 
recognising the key executives’ contributions to the growth of the Group. This is 
designed to align remuneration with the interests of shareholders and link 
rewards to corporate and individual performance to promote long-term 
sustainability of the Group.  
 
The remuneration of the executive KMP is reviewed based on benchmarking 
against comparable peer companies using survey data sourced from external 
remuneration consultants and data providers and are reviewed annually by the 
RC to ensure market competitiveness. 
 
In making its recommendations to the Board on the level and mix of 
remuneration, the RC strives to be competitive, linking rewards with 
performance. It takes into consideration the essential factors to attract, retain 
and motivate the executive KMP needed to run the Company successfully, 
linking rewards to corporate and individual performance, and aligning their 
interest with those of the shareholders. 
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13.  Remuneration report (audited)(continued) 

13.4 Executive remuneration arrangements (continued) 

13.4B Approach to setting remuneration and details of incentive plans (continued) 

Base salary and other benefits 

How is base salary 
and other benefits 
reviewed and 
approved? 

Base salary and other benefits are reviewed annually utilising 
benchmarked remuneration data. Any changes in remuneration for 
executive KMP are subject to approval from the Board considering 
recommendations from the RC.   
 

Short-Term Incentives (STI) 

What is the STI plan? The STI ensures a portion of remuneration is variable, at-risk and linked 
to individual performance and the delivery of agreed plan targets for 
financial and non-financial measures that support the Company’s 
strategic priorities over a twelve-month performance period. The STI is 
awarded in cash on completion of the external audit, approval by the 
RC and Board and subsequent release of the Annual Report. 
 

What are the 
performance criteria 
and how do they align 
with business 
performance? 

STI payments are not guaranteed and are linked to the achievement of 
a mix of company and individual performance metrics as approved by 
the Board for the year.  
 
The performance measures relating to the Executive Chairman are 
shown below.  
 
Corporate Measures (75%) 

Key Performance Indicator Weighting 

Turnover – The Groups Annual Revenue 30% 

EBIT – Earnings Before Interest and Tax 40% 

Work in Hand [WIH] Order Book 20% 

Total recordable injury frequency rate per 1 million 
hours worked [TRIFR*] 

10% 

*12 month rolling figure (annualised) 

 

Individual Measures (75%) 

The Executive Chairman’s individual measure relevant to STI award is 
at risk against personal objectives set at the beginning of the financial 
year. 

Key Performance Indicator 

Weighting of 
Individual 

Bonus 

Growth and Strategy 50% 

Operating costs and Overhead Management 25% 

Future Planning 25% 
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13.  Remuneration report (audited)(continued) 

13.4 Executive remuneration arrangements (continued) 

13.4B Approach to setting remuneration and details of incentive plans (continued) 

Short-Term Incentives (STI) (continued) 

What is the value of 
the STI award 
opportunity? 

The executive KMP FY25 STI maximum opportunity is shown below. 

 

Executive KMP Position 

Total STI max 
opportunity 

(Cash) 

Mr. James Finbarr 
Fitzgerald 

Executive 
Chairman 

A$400,000 

Mr. Patrick John Tallon Chief Executive 
Officer 

A$400,000 

Mr. Kevin James Deery Chief Operating 
Officer 

A$350,000 

Mr. Bojan Cica Chief Financial 
Officer 

A$250,000 

 

How are STI payouts 
determined? 

The STI award is determined after the end of the financial year and 
release of financial statements and individual and group performance, 
over the year against the KPIs set by the RC. 
 

What happens to STI 
awards in the event of 
employment 
cessation? 

STI awards will lapse on cessation of employment, unless the 
Participant is considered a ‘Good Leaver”. A participant will generally 
be considered a "Good Leaver" if they retire, leave due to ill health, 
injury, disability, death, redundancy, or any other reason approved by 
the Committee, including certain corporate restructures or transfers 
within the Group. In such cases, the Committee has full discretion to 
determine whether any unvested Performance Rights should lapse or 
vest (in whole or in part). This decision will be made on a case-by-case 
basis, taking into account factors such as the Participant’s contributions 
and the extent to which performance conditions have been met. If 
vesting is approved, the relevant Award Shares will be delivered to the 
Participant. 
 

Long-Term Incentive (LTI) 

What is the LTI plan? The LTI plan is delivered in cash and performance rights, granted at 
the discretion of the RC.  
 
The original Civmec Limited Performance Rights Plan (the ‘CPRP’) was 
replaced by the ‘2024 Civmec Key Senior Executives Performance 
Rights Plan’, which was approved and adopted at the Extraordinary 
General Meeting (‘EGM’) held on 1 August 2024. This new plan is 
designed to reinforce the vital equity culture at the top management 
level and to further align the interests of the Company’s top 
management with those of shareholders. 
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13.  Remuneration report (audited)(continued) 

13.4 Executive remuneration arrangements (continued) 

13.4B Approach to setting remuneration and details of incentive plans (continued) 

Long-Term Incentive (LTI) (continued) 

How much can 
executives earn? 

The grant of awards may be made on an annual basis at the discretion 
of the Committee. When considering the value of the award to be 
provided, the Committee primarily considers the number of 
performance rights and the performance condition within the 
performance period. 
 
Civmec to provide further details on annual LTI opportunity (dollars or 
% of TFR). 
 
The suggested number of performance rights allocated to each 
participant is based on the values agreed in by the RC and the share 
price at 1 July of each year. The number of performance rights allocated 
are recalculated every year at the time of issuing. The number of 
performance rights by groups are noted below: 

Role 
LTIP Incentive 

Value 

Executive Chairman / CEO A$350,000 

COO A$300,000 

CFO A$250,000 

** The Civmec Performance Rights Plan limits the number of any grant 
of performance rights under the plan to Controlling Share Holders 
(directly or indirectly holds 15% or more total number of issued shares) 
to 10% or less. Based on this rule, Civmec is limited to issuing 
performance rights to some of the Directors and the equivalent value of 
cash is paid.** 
 

How is performance 
measured? 

The Performance Rights vest subject to the following criteria: 
1. Satisfaction of gateway hurdles 
2. Achievement of company performance measures 
 
Gateway Hurdles 
The following two gateway hurdles need to be satisfied for any vesting, 
regardless of achievement of company performance measures. 

 personal performance reviews have been received over the 
performance period at a satisfactory level (as determined by the 
RC); and 

 the participant remains employed with Civmec  
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13.  Remuneration report (audited)(continued) 

13.4 Executive remuneration arrangements (continued) 

13.4B Approach to setting remuneration and details of incentive plans (continued) 

Long-Term Incentive (LTI) (continued) 

How is performance 
measured? 

(continued) 

Company Performance Measures 
To the extent the gateway hurdles are satisfied, 100% of the vesting 
will be based on the absolute earnings per share (aEPS) outcome. 
The aEPS is based on the achievement of certain predetermined 
performance targets determined by the RC. The vesting schedule is 
as follows: 

LTI proportion 
vesting aEPS (100%) 

50% 
Target =90% of three-year average annual 
result 

Pro-rata between 
50% and 100% 

Outcome achieved between target and 
stretch 

100% 
Stretch >110% of three-year average annual 
result 

The RC has the discretion to determine whether the performance 
targets have been met. 

When is performance 
measured? 

After the end of each performance period, the RC will review the 
performance targets specified in respect of the Award and if they have 
been satisfied, will release awards to Participants. 

What happens if an 
executive leaves? 

For all participants, termination of employment will trigger a forfeiture 
of all unvested awards except under certain limited circumstances 
defined in the Plan Rules (e.g., good leavers). 

What happens if there is 
a change in control? 

If a change of control event occurs with respect to the Company, the 
RC may determine, in its discretion, whether the rights immediately 
vest and if so, what proportion shall vest. 

13.4CExecutive contracts 

Remuneration arrangements for KMP are formalised in employment agreements. The following outlines the 
details of contracts with the executive KMP (including the Executive Chairman): 

 Notice 
period 

Payment in 
lieu of notice 

Treatment of STI 
on termination 

Treatment of LTI 
on termination 

Resignation 6 months Yes Unvested awards 
forfeited 

Unvested awards 
forfeited 

Termination for cause None None Unvested awards 
forfeited 

Unvested awards 
forfeited 

Termination in cases of 
death, disablement, 
redundancy or notice 
without cause* 

6 months** There are no 
provisions in the 
contract 

RC discretion under 
Good Leaver 
requirements 

RC discretion under 
Good Leaver 
requirements 

*Special provisions in the incentive plan rules deal with termination in the case of death, in addition to income protection and 
insurance impacts. 
**Notice period provisions do not apply to death. 
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13.  Remuneration report (audited)(continued) 

13.5 Executive remuneration outcomes for FY25 (including link to performance) 

A summary of the company’s performance over the years is shown below. 

 
FY25 

A$’000 
FY24 

A$’000 
FY23 

A$’000 
FY22 

A$’000 
FY21 

A$’000 

Revenue from continuing operations 810,586 1,033,473 830,866 809,295 674,186 

Profit before income tax from 
continuing operations 

60,575 91,491 82,571 69,983 50,197 

Profit after income tax: 

 continuing operations 42,536 64,409 57,673 50,741 34,628 

 discontinued operations - - - - - 

Profit after income tax 42,536 64,409 57,673 50,741 34,628 

Share price (A$ cent) – ASX      

 beginning of the year 0.94 0.82 0.60 0.65 0.40 

 end of the year 1.11 0.94 0.82 0.60 0.65 

Change in share price 0.17 0.12 0.22 (0.05) 0.25 

Fully franked dividend (cents per share)      

 interim 0.025 0.025 0.020 0.010 0.010 

 final  0.035 0.035 0.030 0.020 0.010 

Change in Shareholder Wealth 0.060 0.060 0.050 0.030 0.020 

Share price change + dividend 0.230 0.180 0.270 (0.020) 0.270 

Earnings per share from continuing and 
discontinued operations – basic 
(A$ cent) 8.37 12.70 11.42 10.11 6.94 

 

Short-Term Incentives 

Company performance and its link to short-term incentives 

The table below outlines the general STI outcomes for KMP. It highlights the portion of STI earned relative 
to target, reflecting individual and company performance. This linkage underscores the alignment between 
remuneration outcomes and the achievement of strategic and financial objectives. 

Name 

STI 
opportunity % 
of Total Fixed 
Remuneration 

STI 
opportunity 

$ (max) 

Proportion 
of 

maximum 
STI earned 

in FY25 

Proportion 
of 

maximum 
STI 

forfeited in 
FY25 

Mr. James Finbarr Fitzgerald 50% A$400,000 48% 52% 

Mr. Patrick John Tallon 50% A$400,000 48% 52% 

Mr. Kevin James Deery 48% A$350,000 50% 50% 

Mr. Bojan Cica 50% A$250,000 65% 35% 
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13.  Remuneration report (audited)(continued) 

13.5 Executive remuneration outcomes for FY25 (including link to performance) 
 (continued) 

Short-Term Incentives (continued) 

KPI and weighting Weighting 
Performance 

outcomes Further details 

Turnover – Group FY revenue 
Group FY revenue vs budget 
revenue for FY set by board. 

30% Target 
 

The Company did not 
achieve its FY25 
turnover target due to 
changes in the 
external market and 
deferral of projects 
within the resources 
sector. 

Earnings Before Interest and 
Tax -  
Group FY EBIT vs budget EBIT 
for FY set by board. 

40% Target 

 
 

The Company did not 
achieve its FY25 
EBIT target due to 
changes in the 
external market and 
deferral of projects 
within the resources 
sector. 

Work in Hand [WIH] – Order 
Book 
Group has secured in excess of 
50% of contracts relating to its 
future year budget. 
 

20% Target 

 

The Company has 
exceeded the WIH 
target and has 
achieved the KPI. 

Total recordable injury 
frequency rate per 1 million 
hours worked [TRIFR*].  
Group safety performance for 
the year based on a TRIFR 
calculation is below 3.5. 
 

10% Target 

 

The company had a 
TRIFR of 3.49% for 
the year. 

Resulting KPI payout (corporate KPI component) 30% 
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13.  Remuneration report (audited)(continued) 

13.5 Executive remuneration outcomes for FY25 (including link to performance) 
 (continued) 

Long-Term Incentives 

Company performance and its link to short-term incentives 

The LTI outcomes for FY25 are directly tied to the company’s performance, measured through the 
achievement of predetermined absolute earnings per share (aEPS) targets. Vesting of 
performance rights occurs only when gateway hurdles—such as satisfactory personal 
performance reviews and continued employment—are met. Once these are satisfied, 100% of the 
LTI vesting is based on aEPS results over a three-year average annual result. 

 

LTI Hurdle (FY25) 
Performance outcomes Vesting 

outcome Further details 

Absolute EPS (100% 
weighting) 

 
 

68.90% Assessed in line with Plan 
rules, the vesting outcome 
reflects aEPS target 
number achievement for 
the period. The average 
aEPS % of target 
achieved is 97.6% 
 

Total vesting outcome 68.90%  

 
  

90% 110% 
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13.  Remuneration report (audited)(continued) 

13.6 Non-executive Director remuneration arrangements 

The remuneration of the Independent Directors is in the form of a fixed fee which is subject to 
shareholders’ approval at the AGM in accordance with any listing rules. Each member of the RC 
abstains from voting on any resolution, participating in any deliberation of the RC, and making any 
recommendation in respect of their own remuneration. 

The Executive Directors do not receive Director’s fees. 
 

Remuneration policy 

The Board seeks to set aggregate remuneration at a level that provides the Company with the 
ability to attract and retain directors of the highest calibre, whilst incurring a cost that is acceptable 
to shareholders. 

The amount of aggregate remuneration sought to be approved by shareholders and the fee 
structure is reviewed annually against fees paid to Non-Executive Directors of comparable ASX 
listed companies with similar market capitalisation of the Company, as well as similar sized industry 
comparators. The Board considers advice from external consultants when undertaking the annual 
review process.  

Civmec has adopted the following approach for the non-executive directors’ remuneration: 

 The non-executive directors are remunerated at a fixed fee for their time, commitment and 
responsibilities. 

 The non-executive directors are prohibited from involvement in the decision making of their individual 
remuneration. 

 The maximum aggregate amount of the non-executive director’ fees that the Company can pay to 
nonexecutive directors is subject to approval by shareholders at Annual General Meeting. 

 The remuneration for the non-executive directors is not linked to individual performance. 

 The non-executive directors are not part of any equity-based remuneration schemes. 

 The non-executive directors are not entitled to any retirement benefits.  

The Company’s constitution and the ASX listing rules specify that the NED fee pool shall be determined from 
time to time by a general meeting. The latest determination was at the 2024 AGM when shareholders 
approved an aggregate fee pool of SGD$400,000 per annum. 
 

Structure 

The remuneration of NEDs consists solely of Director fees. NEDs are not eligible for any additional fees for 
their role as a committee chair or member. All NEDs participate as a member of all committees. The Chair 
(Lead Independent Director) chairs two committees and the other NEDs chair one committee each. To 
ensure independence, NEDs do not participate in any incentive schemes.  

The table below summarises the NED fee policy (SGD) for FY24 and FY25. All fees are inclusive of any 
applicable superannuation. 

Non-Executive Directors Fees FY24 FY25 

Chair (Lead Independent Director) S$101,000 S$101,000 

Member (Independent Directors) S$89,000 S$89,000 
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13.  Remuneration report (audited)(continued) 

13.6 Non-executive Director remuneration arrangements (continued) 

NED statutory remuneration for FY25 

The remuneration of NEDs for FY25 and FY24 is detailed below.   

The figures presented in the table below reflect the remuneration paid to NEDs. All payments were made in 
Singapore Dollars (SGD), and the amounts shown are denominated in the payment currency. 

Non-Executive Directors  Year 

Director fees 
(including 

committee fees & 
superannuation) Total 

Mr. Chong Teck Sin FY25 S$33,667 S$33,667 

 FY24 S$101,000 S$101,000 

Mr. Wong Fook Choy Sunny FY25 S$29,667 S$29,667 

 FY24 S$89,000 S$89,000 

Mr. Douglas Owen Chester FY25 S$29,667 S$29,667 

 FY24 S$89,000 S$89,000 

Mr. Ambrose Law FY25 S$75,750 S$75,500 

 FY24 - - 

Mr. Gary Gray FY25 S$66,750 S$66,750 

 FY24 - - 

Ms. Ong Beng Hong FY25 S$66,750 S$66,750 

 FY24 - - 

Totals FY25 S$302,251 S$302,251 

 FY24 S$279,000 S$279,000 

Note: On 30 October 2024, Mr. Chong Teck Sin, Mr. Wong Fook Choy Sunny, and Mr. Douglas 
Owen Chester retired from the Board to ensure compliance with tenure requirements under the 
SGX Listing Rules. Prior to their departure, there was a transitional period during which newly 
appointed independent directors—Mr. Ambrose Law, Mr. Gary Gray, and Ms. Ong Beng Hong—
joined the Board. This overlap is reflected in the year-on-year increase in NED remuneration 
between FY24 and FY25, as shown in the table above. 
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13.  Remuneration report (audited)(continued) 

13.7 Statutory Executive KMP remuneration 

The following table sets out total remuneration for Executive KMP in FY2024 and FY2025, calculated in 
accordance with statutory accounting requirements. 
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13.  Remuneration report (audited)(continued) 

13.8 Additional disclosures relating to performance rights and shares 

There are no current, unexpired Civmec options awards. 
 

Table 1: Executive KMP Performance Rights 

Performance rights awarded, vested and lapsed during the year 

The following table sets out the Rights held by Executive KMP, including the movements in Rights held 
during FY25. 

Executive 
KMP 

Balance 
at start of 

period 

1 July 
2024 

Granted 
as 

remunera
tion 

Performa
nce rights 
exercised 

Performa
nce rights 

lapsed/ 
forfeited 

Balance 
at end of 
period 

30 June 
2025 

Number 
of 

perform-
ance 

rights not 
vested at 

30 June 
2025 

J Fitzgerald - - - - -  

P Tallon - - - - -  

K Deery 1,057,000 273,000 - (334,000) 996,000 996,000 

B Cica1 229,000 137,000 (34,000) - 332,000 332,000 

Total 1,286,000 410,000 (34,000) (334,000) 1,328,000 1,328,000 

Note: 
1. Mr. Bojan Cica commenced in the role of Chief Financial Officer (CFO) effective from 1 September 2024. 
 
Table 2: KMP shareholdings 
The following table sets out the Ordinary Shares held by KMP, including the movements in Shares held 
during FY25. 

 

Balance at 
start of period 

1 July 2024 

Shares allocated 
under 

remuneration 
framework1 

Net change 
Other 

Balance4 at 
end of period  

30 June 2025 

Non-Executive Directors 

Chong Teck Sin2 - - - - 

Wong Fook Choy Sunny2 - - - - 

Douglas Chester2 70,000 - - 70,000 

Ambrose Law - - - - 

Gary Gray - - 78,000 78,000 

Ong Beng Hong - - - - 

Executive KMP 

James Fitzgerald3 97,720,806 - - 97,720,806 

Patrick Tallon3 97,620,806 - - 97,620,806 

Kevin Deery 10,193,250 - - 10,193,250 

Bojan Cica 120,000 34,000 50,000 204,000 

Total 205,724,862 34,000 128,000 205,886,862 

Note: 
1. All shares were issued for nil consideration. 
2. The individuals listed resigned from their positions effective 30 October 2024. 
3. The Civmec Performance Rights Plan limits the number of any grant of performance rights under the plan to Controlling Share 

Holders (directly or indirectly holds 15% or more total number of issued shares) to 10% or less. Based on this rule, Civmec is 
limited to issuing performance rights to some of the Directors and the equivalent value of cash is paid.  

4. Includes Ordinary Shares held directly, indirectly and beneficially by KMP. 
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13.  Remuneration report (audited)(continued) 

13.9 Loans to key management personnel and their related parties 

During the financial year and to the date of this report, the Company made no loans to directors and other 
KMP and none were outstanding as of 30 June 2025 (2024: nil) 

 

13.10 Other transactions and balances with key management personnel and their related 
parties 

During the financial year, Newpark WA Pty Ltd (as Trustee for The Fitzgerald Newpark Family Trust) 
purchased steel and other materials at arm’s length from Civmec Construction & Engineering Pty Ltd on 13 
September 2024, valued at A$142,000 (excluding GST) (2024: nil). 

Since the end of the financial year ended 30 June 2025, and up to the date of this report, the Company has 
not made any other transactions with KMP. 

This directors’ report is signed in accordance with a resolution of directors made pursuant to s298(2) of the 
Corporations Act 2001. 

 

END OF REMUNERATION REPORT (AUDITED) 

 

14. Indemnification of and insurance of Officers and Auditors 

The Company has paid premiums to insure the directors against liabilities for costs and expenses incurred 
by them in defending any legal proceedings arising out of their conduct while acting in the capacity of director 
of the company, other than conduct involving a wilful breach of duty in relation to the Company. In 
accordance with a confidentiality clause under the insurance policy, the amount of the premium paid to 
insurers has not been disclosed.  

No other insurance premiums have been paid or indemnities given during or since the financial year, for any 
person who is or has been an officer or auditor of the consolidated entity. 

 

15. Proceedings on behalf of the Company 

No proceedings have been brought or intervened in on behalf of the Company with leave of the Court under 
section 237 of the Corporations Act 2001 during or since the end of the financial year ended 30 June 2025. 

 

16. Joint auditor’s independence declaration 

The independence declaration from both Moore Australian Audit (WA) and Moore Stephens LLP, as required 
under section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 (as amended), is included on page 29 of this report. 
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17. Non-audit services 

There were no non-audit services provided by the Group’s Joint Auditors during the years ended 30 June 
2025 and 2024. 

 

18. Rounding of amounts 

In accordance with ASIC Corporations (Rounding in Financial/Directors’ Reports) 2016/191, amounts in this 
Directors’ Report and the Financial Statement have been rounded to the nearest thousand dollars ($’000), 
unless a lower rounding amount is applicable. 

 

19. Significant events since balance date 

Acquisition of Luerssen Australia Pty Ltd 

On 1 July 2025, the Group has completed the acquisition of 100% of the shares in Luerssen Australia Pty 
Ltd from NVL Australia GmbH, for a cash consideration of A$20 million. The acquisition was funded from 
the Group’s existing cash reserves. It is the intent that, Luerssen Australia will be renamed to ‘Civmec 
Defence Industries Pty Ltd’.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

This Directors’ Report is made in accordance with a resolution of the Directors. 

 

 

 

 
James Finbarr Fitzgerald 
Executive Chairman  
Civmec Limited 
28 August 2025 
 

Patrick John Tallon 
Chief Executive Officer  
Civmec Limited 
28 August 2025 
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Auditor’s Independence Declaration  
Under Section 307c of the Corporations Act 2001  
To the directors of Civmec Limited  
 

I declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, during the year ended 30 June 2025, there have 
been: 

a) no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in 
relation to the audit, and 

b) no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit. 

 

 

 

Michelle Chong Moore Stephens LLP 
Partner Public Accountants and Chartered Accountants 
Moore Stephens LLP 
 
Singapore 28 August 2025 

 

 

 

 

Suan L Tan Moore Australia Audit (WA) 
Partner Chartered Accountants 
Moore Australia Audit (WA) 
 
Perth 28 August 2025 
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Introduction 

The Board of Directors (the ‘Board’) and the senior management of Civmec Limited (‘Civmec’ or the 
‘Company’) together with its subsidiaries (the ‘Group’), recognise the importance of good corporate 
governance in ensuring greater transparency and protecting the interests of shareholders, as well as 
strengthening investors’ confidence in its management and financial reporting and are, accordingly, 
committed to maintaining a high standard of corporate governance throughout the Group.  

This corporate governance report (‘Report’) describes the Company’s corporate governance framework and 
practices that were in place during the financial year ended 30 June 2025 (FY2025’) with specific reference 
to the Principles and Provisions of the Singapore Code of Corporate Governance 2018 (the ‘Code’) and the 
4th edition of the Australian Securities Exchange (‘ASX’) Corporate Governance Principles and 
Recommendations (‘ASX Principles and Recommendations’), which is also available on the Company’s 
corporate website.  

In line with the commitment of the Company to maintaining high standards of corporate governance, the 
Company continually reviews its corporate governance processes to strive to comply with the Code. To the 
extent the Company’s practices may vary from the provisions of the Code for FY2025, the Company has 
explained how its practices are consistent with the intent of the relevant principles of the Code.  

The Board is pleased to report compliance of the Company with the Code, the Listing Manual of the 
Singapore Exchange Securities Limited (the ‘SGX-ST’), and the Listing Rules of the ASX, where applicable, 
except where otherwise stated. 

 

Board Matters 

The Board’s Conduct of Affairs 

Principle 1: The company is headed by an effective Board which is collectively responsible and works with 
Management for the long-term success of the company. 

Provision 1.1 Directors are fiduciaries who act objectively in the best interests of the company and hold 
Management accountable for performance. The Board puts in place a code of conduct and ethics, sets 
appropriate tone-from-the-top and desired organisational culture, and ensures proper accountability within 
the company. Directors facing conflicts of interest recuse themselves from discussions and decisions 
involving the issues of conflict. 

Apart from its statutory duties and responsibilities, the Board’s functions include: 

 overseeing the management and affairs of the Group and approving the Group’s corporate strategy 
and directions; 

 implementing policies in relation to financial matters, which include risk management and internal 
control and compliance; 

 reviewing the financial performance of the Group, approving investment proposals and setting values 
and standards, including ethical standards for the Company and the Group; 

 ensuring that the Group has in place an appropriate risk management framework and setting the risk 
appetite within which the Board expects senior management to operate; 

 approving the appointment, and when necessary replacement, of the senior management personnel; 
and 

 developing and reviewing corporate governance principles and policies. 

All Directors are aware of their fiduciary duties and exercise due diligence and independent judgement in 
ensuring that their decisions are objective and in the best interests of the Company. Directors who face 
conflicts of interest disclose their interests and voluntarily recuse themselves from discussions and decisions 
involving the issues of conflict. 
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Board Matters (continued) 

The Board’s Conduct of Affairs (continued) 

Principle 1 (continued) 

Provision 1.2 Directors understand the company’s business as well as their directorship duties (including 
their roles as executive, non-executive and independent directors). Directors are provided with opportunities 
to develop and maintain their skills and knowledge at the company’s expense. The induction, training and 
development provided to new and existing directors are disclosed in the company’s annual report.  

The Company encourages the Directors to learn and develop their directorship skills. The Directors may 
attend training, conferences and seminars which may have a bearing on their duties and contribution to the 
Board, organised by professional bodies, regulatory institutions and corporations at the Company’s expense, 
to keep themselves updated on the latest developments concerning the Group and to keep abreast of the 
latest regulatory changes.  

Each quarter, the Board was briefed and/or updated on recent changes to the accounting standards and 
industry developments and business initiatives. These briefings were provided by the Company’s 
independent auditors. 

All the Board members are actively engaged and play an important role in ensuring good corporate 
governance within the Company. Visits to the Company’s business premises are arranged to acquaint the 
Non-Executive Directors with the Company’s operations and ensure that all the Directors are familiar with 
the Company’s business, policies and governance practices. 

Prior to their respective appointments to the Board, each Director was given an orientation and induction 
programme to familiarise themselves with the Company’s business activities, strategic directions, policies 
and key new projects and have undertaken all appropriate checks (including the person’s character, 
experience, education, criminal record and bankruptcy history). In addition, newly appointed senior 
management personnel are subject to the same orientation and induction programme including performing 
appropriate checks in accordance with the Company’s onboarding policies and procedures before the 
personnel are introduced to the senior management team. Upon appointment of each Director and key 
management personnel, (senior executive), the Company provides a Services Agreement to the Director 
and key management personnel (senior executive) setting out their duties and obligations. 

 

Provision 1.3 The Board decides on matters that require its approval and clearly communicates this to 
Management in writing. Matters requiring board approval are disclosed in the company’s annual report. 

The Board has delegated the day-to-day management of the Group to the senior management, headed by 
the Executive Chairman - Mr. James Finbarr Fitzgerald, the Chief Executive Officer - Mr. Patrick John Tallon 
and the Chief Operating Officer - Mr. Kevin James Deery. The Board has reviewed and adopted the 
delegation of authority (‘DOA’) during FY2025 regarding the signing authority and limits. The DOA sets out 
the authorisation levels required for specific transactions, including those requiring Board approval. 

Matters that are specifically reserved for the approval of the Board include, among others: 

 reviewing the adequacy and integrity of the Group’s internal controls, risk management systems, 
compliance and financial reporting systems;  

 approving the annual budgets and business plans; 

 approving major investment or expenditure; 

 approving material acquisitions and disposal of assets; 

 approving the Company’s periodic and full-year results announcements for release to the SGX-ST and 
ASX; 

 approving the annual report and audited financial statements; 

 monitoring senior management’s performance; 

 recommending share issuance, dividend payments and other returns to shareholders;  

 ensuring accurate, adequate and timely reporting to, and communication with shareholders; and 

 assuming responsibility for corporate governance. 
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Board Matters (continued) 

The Board’s Conduct of Affairs (continued) 

Provision 1.4 Board committees, including Executive Committees (if any), are formed with clear written terms 
of reference setting out their compositions, authorities and duties, including reporting back to the Board. The 
names of the committee members, the terms of reference, any delegation of the Board’s authority to make 
decisions, and a summary of each committee’s activities, are disclosed in the company’s annual report. 

To assist in the execution of its responsibilities, the Board has established several Board Committees 
namely; Audit Committee (‘AC’), Nominating Committee (‘NC’), Remuneration Committee (‘RC’) and Risks 
and Conflicts Committee (‘RCC’). These committees’ function within clearly defined terms of references and 
operating procedures, which are reviewed on a regular basis. The effectiveness of these committees is also 
regularly monitored and reviewed by the Board. The roles and responsibilities of these committees are 
described in the following sections of this report.   

 

Provision 1.5 Directors attend and actively participate in Board and board committee meetings. The number 
of such meetings and each individual director’s attendances at such meetings are disclosed in the company’s 
annual report. Directors with multiple board representations ensure that sufficient time and attention are 
given to the affairs of each company. 

The Board meets on a regular basis and when necessary, to address any specific significant matters that 
may arise. Board meetings are scheduled in advance. The Constitution of the Company provides for 
Directors to conduct meetings by teleconferencing or videoconferencing or other similar means of 
communication whereby all persons participating in the meeting are able to hear each other. The Board and 
Board Committees may also make decisions by way of circulating resolutions.  

The number of Board and Board Committee meetings held and attended by each Board member during the 
financial year ended 30 June 2025 is set out below: 

   Board committee 

 Extraordinary 
Board 

Meetings Board 
Audit 

committee 

Remunerati
on 

committee 
Nominating 
committee 

Risks and 
conflicts 

committee 

No. of meetings held 2 4 4 2 2 4 

No. of meeting attended 

James Fitzgerald 2 4 4* 2* 2* 4* 

Patrick Tallon 2 4 4* 2* 2* 4* 

Kevin Deery 2 4 4* 2* 2* 4* 

Chong Teck Sin1 N/A 2 2 1 1 2 

Wong Fook Choy 
Sunny1 

N/A 2 2 1 1 2 

Douglas Chester1 N/A 2 2 1 1 2 

Ambrose Law2 2 2 2 1 1 2 

Ong Beng Hong2 2 2 2 1 1 2 

Gary Gray2 2 2 2 1 1 2 
Note: 
*By invitation 
1. retired on 30 October 2024 
2. appointed on 30 October 2024 
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Board Matters (continued) 

The Board’s Conduct of Affairs (continued) 

Provision 1.6 Management provides directors with complete, adequate and timely information prior to 
meetings and on an on-going basis to enable them to make informed decisions and discharge their duties 
and responsibilities. 

The Board is informed of all material events and transactions as and when they occur. The senior 
management consults Board members as necessary and appropriate. Detailed Board papers, agenda and 
related material, background or explanatory information relating to matters to be discussed are sent out to 
the Directors, at least a week prior to each meeting, so all Directors may better understand the issues 
beforehand, allowing more time for discussions and deliberations.  

Directors are provided with a copy of documents containing a wide range of relevant information, including 
but not limited to quarterly and annual financial results, progress reports of the Group’s operations, corporate 
and business developments, management information, sector performance, budgets, forecast, capital 
expenditure and personnel statistics, reports from both external and internal auditors, significant project 
updates, business strategies, risk analysis and assessments and relevant regulatory updates. 

The senior management’s proposals to the Board for approval include background and explanatory 
information such as, resources needed, risk analysis and mitigation strategies, financial impact, regulatory 
implications, expected outcomes, conclusions and recommendations. Employees who can provide 
additional insight into matters to be discussed will be present at the relevant time during the Board and Board 
Committee meetings. To keep Directors abreast of the Group’s operations, the Directors are also updated 
on initiatives and developments on the Group’s business as soon as practicable and/or possible and on an 
ongoing basis.  

The Company Secretaries administer and are available to attend Board meetings and assist the Chairman 
in implementing appropriate Board procedures to facilitate compliance with the Company’s Constitution. The 
Company Secretaries also ensure that the requirements of the SGX-ST Listing Manual, ASX Listing Rules 
and other governance matters applicable to the Company are complied with. The Company Secretaries work 
together with the Company to ensure compliance with all relevant rules and regulations.  

All Directors are updated regularly on changes to the Company’s policies and are kept updated on relevant 
new laws and regulations including Directors’ duties and responsibilities, corporate governance and financial 
reporting standards. Newly appointed Directors are given briefings by the Management on the business 
activities of the Group.  

 

Provision 1.7 Directors have separate and independent access to Management, the company secretary, and 
external advisers (where necessary) at the company’s expense. The appointment and removal of the 
company secretary is a decision of the Board as a whole. 

The Board has separate and independent access to the senior management of the Company and the 
Company Secretaries at all times. Requests for information are dealt with promptly by senior management 
or the Company Secretaries.  

The Company Secretaries are appointed by the Board and are accountable to the Board, through the 
Chairman, on all matters to do with the proper functioning of the Board. The removal of the Company 
Secretaries are subject to the approval of the Board. The Company Secretaries work closely with the 
Chairman to manage the flow of information between the Board, its committees and senior management 
across the Company. 

The Board in fulfilling its responsibilities can, as a collective body or individually as Board members, when 
deemed fit, direct the Company and at the Company’s expense, appoint independent professionals to render 
advice. 
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Board Matters (continued) 

Board Composition and Guidance 

Principle 2: The Board has an appropriate level of independence and diversity of thought and background 
in its composition to enable it to make decisions in the best interests of the company. 

Provision 2.1 An ‘independent’ director is one who is independent in conduct, character and judgement, and 
has no relationship with the company, its related corporations, its substantial shareholders or its officers that 
could interfere, or be reasonably perceived to interfere, with the exercise of the director's independent 
business judgement in the best interests of the company 

The independence of each Director is reviewed annually by the NC in accordance with the Code’s definition 
of independence. Each independent director is required to declare their independence by duly completing 
and submitting a ‘Confirmation of Independence’ form. The declaration requires each Director to assess 
whether they consider themselves independent and not having any form of relationships identified in the 
Code. Each Director is required to declare any circumstances in which they may be considered non-
independent. The NC reviews the Confirmation of Independence to determine whether a Director is 
independent. The NC also considers the actions and conduct of the independent directors, including in formal 
Board meetings, to assess their independence. 

As at FY2024, Mr. Chong Teck Sin, Mr. Wong Fook Choy Sunny and Mr. Douglas Owen Chester had served 
on the Board for more than nine years. In accordance with SGX-ST Listing Rule 210(5)(d)(iv), which took 
effect from the Company’s AGM for the financial year ending on or after 31 December 2023, directors who 
have served more than nine years are no longer considered independent. 

On 30 October 2024, Mr. Chong Teck Sin, Mr. Wong Fook Choy Sunny and Mr. Douglas Owen Chester 
retired as Independent Directors. On the same date, Mr. Ambrose Law, Ms. Ong Beng Hong and Mr. Gary 
Gray were appointed as Independent Directors. The retirement of the outgoing directors and the appointment 
of the new directors ensures that the Company continues to comply with the SGX-ST Listing Rules regarding 
director independence. Accordingly, the Independent Directors are considered independent. 

 

Provision 2.2 Independent directors make up a majority of the Board where the Chairman is not independent 

As at the date of this Report, the Board comprises six (6) Directors, three (3) of whom are Executive Directors 
and the remaining three (3) Directors being Independent Directors who make up half of the Board. 
Accordingly no individual, or group of individuals, dominates the Board’s decision-making as half of the 
Board consist of Independent Directors.  

The majority of the Company’s Board are not Independent Directors, including the Chairman. The Board’s 
current composition offers a good balance of diversity and professional background of Directors. It brings a 
range of longer-term benefits to the Company in contrast to having a majority percentage of Independent 
Directors serving on the Board. 

Collectively, the Executive Directors and Independent Directors bring a wide range of experience and 
expertise as they all currently occupy or have occupied senior positions in industry and/or government, and 
as such, each contributes significantly to Board decisions.  

To strengthen the independence of the Board, the Company has appointed a Lead Independent Director, 
Mr. Ambrose Law, to co-ordinate and lead the Independent Directors, providing non-executive perspectives 
and a balanced viewpoint.  

The Lead Independent Director will represent the Independent Directors in responding to shareholders’ 
questions and comments that are directed to the Independent Directors as a group. 
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Board Matters (continued) 

Board Composition and Guidance (continued) 

Principle 2 (continued) 

Provision 2.3 Non-executive directors make up a majority of the Board 

As at the date of this Report, the Board comprises six (6) Directors, three (3) of whom are Executive Directors 
and the remaining three (3) Directors being Independent Directors who make up half of the Board.  

Whilst Non-Executive Directors do not make up a majority of the Board, the Board considers the 
management and oversight function with Executive Directors heavily involved in management activities while 
Non-Executive Directors exercise an oversight role which brings a range of longer term benefits to the 
Company. Diversity of thought and professional background of Directors allow decisions to be made in the 
best interest of the Company.   

The Non-Executive Directors provide constructive review and assist the Board to facilitate and develop 
proposals on strategy and monitor the performance of senior management in meeting agreed objectives. 
The Non-Executive Directors have full access to and co-operation from the Company’s senior management 
and officers. They have full discretion to have separate meetings without the presence of senior management 
and to invite any Director or officer to the meetings as and when warranted.  

 

Provision 2.4 The Board and board committees are of an appropriate size and comprise directors who as a 
group provide the appropriate balance and mix of skills, knowledge, experience, and other aspects of 
diversity such as gender and age, so as to avoid groupthink and foster constructive debate. The board 
diversity policy and progress made towards implementing the board diversity policy, including objectives, 
are disclosed in the company’s annual report 

The Board, in concurrence with the NC, is of the view that the current Board and the Board Committees 
comprise an appropriate balance and diversity of skills, experience and knowledge of the Company, which 
provides broad diversity of expertise such as accounting or finance, business or management experience, 
industry knowledge, strategic planning experience and customer-based experience and knowledge who, as 
a group, provide core competencies necessary to meet the Company’s requirements. Further details on the 
key information and the profile of the Directors including their academic and professional qualifications, and 
other directorships in other listed companies are set out on related pages of this annual report. 

The current Board composition provides a diversity of skill, experience, and knowledge to the Company as 
follows: 

Core Competencies 

Balance and Diversity of the Board 

Number of Directors Proportion of Board 

Business management 6 100% 

Accounting or finance 6 100% 

Legal or corporate governance 6 100% 

Strategic planning experience 6 100% 

Relevant industry knowledge or experience 5 83% 

   

Gender:   

Male 5 83% 

Female 1 17% 
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Board Matters (continued) 

Board Composition and Guidance (continued) 

Principle 2 (continued) 

Provision 2.4 (continued) 

The composition and renewal of the Board, including the need for progressive refreshing of the Board, is 
reviewed on an annual basis by the NC to ensure that the Board has the appropriate balance and mix of 
skills, knowledge, expertise, experience and other aspects of diversity such as gender and age, so as to 
avoid group think and foster constructive debate and possesses the necessary competencies for effective 
decision making. The Company’s Annual Sustainability Report clearly articulates it’s strategy, targets, 
performance, and future focus in relation to diversity of the Company as a whole.  If a vacancy arises under 
any circumstances, or where it is considered that the Board would benefit from the services of a new director, 
the NC, in consultation with the Board, will consider the range of diversity perspectives, including, but not 
limited to, those described in the Company’s Diversity Policy and select the appropriate candidate for the 
position. The selection of the Directors will be based on merit and potential contribution to the Board, and 
candidates will be considered against objective criteria that complements and expands the skills and 
experience of the Board as a whole, and having given due regard to the overall balance and effectiveness 
of a diverse Board.  The main objective is to continue to maintain the appropriate balance of perspectives, 
skills and experience on the Board to support the attainment of the Company's strategic objectives and its 
sustainable development. The NC has not set a specific target for board diversity as it may detract from the 
more fundamental principle that the candidate must be of the right fit and meet the relevant needs and vision 
of the Company. 

 

Provision 2.5 Non-executive directors and/or independent directors, led by the independent Chairman or 
other independent director as appropriate, meet regularly without the presence of Management. The 
chairman of such meetings provides feedback to the Board and/or Chairman as appropriate. 

To strengthen the independence of the Board, the Company has appointed a Lead Independent Director, 
Mr. Ambrose Law, to co-ordinate and lead the Independent Directors, providing a non-executive perspective 
and balanced viewpoint. 

The Independent Directors communicate regularly without the presence of the other Executive Directors and 
senior management, to discuss matters such as succession and leadership development planning, board 
processes and corporate governance matters. Feedback on the outcomes of these discussions is provided 
to the Executive Chairman.  

To facilitate an effective review of the senior management, the Non-Executive Directors meet as and when 
necessary at least once a year with Auditors without the presence of the senior management.  

The Board and senior management fully appreciate that the fundamentals of good corporate governance 
comprise of an effective and robust Board whose members engage in open and constructive debate and 
challenge senior management on its assumptions and proposals. 
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Board Matters (continued) 

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer 

Principle 3: There is a clear division of responsibilities between the leadership of the Board and Management, 
and no one individual has unfettered powers of decision-making. 

Provision 3.1 The Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer (‘CEO’) are separate persons to ensure an 
appropriate balance of power, increased accountability, and greater capacity of the Board for independent 
decision making. 

Mr. James Finbarr Fitzgerald is the Executive Chairman of the Company, while Mr. Patrick John Tallon is an 
Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer (‘CEO’). 

The Executive Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer are not related. 

 

Provision 3.2 The Board establishes and sets out in writing the division of responsibilities between the 
Chairman and the CEO 

Whilst the Board does not have an independent Chairman, the roles of the Executive Chairman and that of 
the CEO are clearly delineated. The Board believes that while the Chairman is not independent, the current 
composition of the Board with its combined skills and capability, and its mix of experience, best serve the 
interests of shareholders.  

The two roles are separated whereby the Executive Chairman bears responsibility for providing guidance on 
the corporate direction of the Group and leadership to the Board, and the CEO has executive responsibility 
for the Company’s day-to-day business. 

 

Provision 3.3 The Board has a lead independent director to provide leadership in situations where the 
Chairman is conflicted, and especially when the Chairman is not independent. The lead independent director 
is available to shareholders where they have concerns and for which contact through the normal channels 
of communication with the Chairman or Management are inappropriate or inadequate. 

The Company has appointed a Lead Independent Director, Mr. Ambrose Law. As well as representing the 
views of the Independent Directors, he is also available to shareholders and to facilitate a two-way flow of 
information between shareholders, the Executive Chairman and the Board. In addition, all the Board 
Committees are led and solely comprise Independent Directors. 
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Board Matters (continued) 

Board Membership 

Principle 4: The Board has a formal and transparent process for the appointment and re-appointment of 
directors, taking into account the need for progressive renewal of the Board. 

Provision 4.1 The Board establishes a Nominating Committee (‘NC’) to make recommendations to the Board 
on relevant matters relating to: 

(a) the review of succession plans for directors, in particular the appointment and/or replacement of the 
Chairman, the CEO and key management personnel; (b) the process and criteria for evaluation of the 
performance of the Board, its board committees and directors; (c) the review of training and professional 
development programmes for the Board and its directors; and (d) the appointment and re-appointment of 
directors (including alternate directors, if any). 

The Company had established an NC to make recommendations to the Board on all board appointments.  

The formal terms of reference of the NC are to: 

 nominate senior management personnel, Directors (including Independent Directors) taking into 
consideration their competencies, contribution, performance and ability to commit sufficient time and 
attention to the affairs of the Group and considering their respective commitments outside the Group;  

 review and recommend to the Board the composition of the Audit Committee, Remuneration 
Committee and Risks and Conflicts Committee; 

 re-nominate Directors for re-election in accordance with the Constitution at each AGM and having 
regard to the Director’s contribution and performance; 

 determine annually whether or not a Director of the Company is independent; 

 decide whether or not a Director is able to and has been adequately carrying out their duties as a 
Director; 

 assess the performance of the Board annually as a whole and the individual contribution of each 
Director and senior management personnel to the effectiveness of the Board; 

 review and recommend succession plans for Directors and senior management, in particular the 
Executive Chairman and the CEO; and 

 review and recommend training and professional development programmes for the Board and senior 
management personnel.  

The Company does not have a practice of appointing alternate Directors. 

During the reporting period of the year, the NC has: 

 reviewed the structure, size and composition of the Board and Board Committees; 

 reviewed the independence of Directors; 

 reviewed and undertaken the process for evaluating the Board, individual Directors, and senior 
management personnel performance; 

 reviewed results of performance evaluation and provided feedback to the Chairman and Board 
Committees; 

 reviewed the need for progressive refreshing of the Board and provided feedback to the Chairman 
and Board Committees; 

 reviewed succession planning for the Chairman, CEO and senior management personnel and notified 
the Board; and 

 discussed information required to be reported under the 2018 Code or Listing Manual. 
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Board Membership (continued) 

Principle 4 (continued) 

Provision 4.2 The NC comprises at least three directors, the majority of whom, including the NC Chairman, 
are independent. The lead independent director, if any, is a member of the NC 

The NC comprises three members, all of whom including the NC Chairman are Independent Non-Executive 
Directors: 

Name Position 

Mr. Douglas Owen Chester (retired on 30 October 2024) NC Chairman 

Mr. Gary Gray (appointed on 30 October 2024) NC Chairman 

Mr. Chong Teck Sin (retired on 30 October 2024) Member and Lead Independent Director 

Mr. Ambrose Law (appointed on 30 October 2024) Member and Lead Independent Director 

Mr. Wong Fook Choy Sunny (retired on 30 October 2024) Member 

Ms. Ong Beng Hong (appointed on 30 October 2024) Member 

 

Provision 4.3 The company discloses the process for the selection, appointment and re-appointment of 
directors to the Board, including the criteria used to identify and evaluate potential new directors and 
channels used in searching for appropriate candidates in the company’s annual report 

The process for the selection and appointment (or re-appointment) of Board members is as follows: 

 the NC evaluates the balance of skills, knowledge and experience of the Board and, in light of such 
evaluation and in consultation with the Board, prepares a description of the role and the essential 
and desirable competencies for a particular appointment (or re-appointment);  

 if required, the NC may engage consultants to undertake research on, or assess, candidates for new 
positions on the Board; 

 the NC meets with short-listed candidates to assess their suitability and ensure that the candidates 
are aware of the expectations; and 

 the NC makes recommendations to the Board for approval. 

Under Article 55 of the Company’s Constitution, a Director must submit for re-election if they have held office 
continuously for more than three years or beyond the third annual general meeting following their last election 
or re-election—whichever is longer. 

If no Director is otherwise due for election or re-election at an annual general meeting, but the SGX or ASX 
Listing Rules require that an election be held, the Director who has served the longest since their last election 
will retire. If multiple Directors were last elected on the same day, the retiring Director will be determined by 
mutual agreement or, failing that, by lot. 

After due review, the Board has accepted the recommendation of the NC and, accordingly, independent 
director, Mr Gary Gray will be offering himself up for re-election at the forthcoming AGM. 
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Board Matters (continued) 

Board Membership (continued) 

Principle 4 (continued) 

Provision 4.4 The NC determines annually, and as and when circumstances require, if a director is 
independent, having regard to the circumstances set forth in Provision 2.1. Directors disclose their 
relationships with the company, its related corporations, its substantial shareholders or its officers, if any, 
which may affect their independence, to the Board. If the Board, having taken into account the views of the 
NC, determines that such directors are independent notwithstanding the existence of such relationships, the 
company discloses the relationships and its reasons in its annual report. 

The independence of each Director is reviewed annually by the NC in accordance with the Code’s definition 
of independence. Each Independent Director is required to declare their independence by duly completing 
and submitting a ‘Confirmation of Independence’ form. The declaration requires each Director to assess 
whether they consider themselves independent and not having any of the relationships identified in the Code. 
Each Director is required to declare any circumstances in which they may be considered non-independent. 
The NC reviews the Confirmation of Independence to determine whether a Director is independent. The NC 
also considers the actions and conducts of the Independent Directors, including in formal Board meetings, 
to assess their independence. The NC has carefully reviewed and subsequently determined that the 
Independent Directors namely Mr. Ambrose Law, Mr. Gary Gray and Ms. Ong Beng Hong, are independent. 

 

Provision 4.5 The NC ensures that new directors are aware of their duties and obligations. The NC also 
decides if a director is able to and has been adequately carrying out his or her duties as a director of the 
company. The company discloses in its annual report the listed company directorships and principal 
commitments of each director, and where a director holds a significant number of such directorships and 
commitments, it provides the NC’s and Board’s reasoned assessment of the ability of the director to diligently 
discharge his or her duties 

The dates of Director’s initial appointment, last re-election and their directorships are set out below: 

Name of Director 
Date of initial 
appointment 

Date of last 
re-election 

Present directorships 
in listed companies 

Past directorships 
in listed 

companies1 

James Fitzgerald 27 Mar 2012 30 Oct 2024 - - 

Patrick Tallon 27 Mar 2012 30 Oct 2024 - - 

Kevin Deery 27 Mar 2012 30 Oct 2024 - - 

Ambrose Law 30 Oct 2024 - Global Testing 
Corporation2 

- 

Gary Gray 30 Oct 2024 - Amplitude Energy3 - 

Ong Beng Hong 30 Oct 2024 - Intraco Limited2 

Moneymax Financial 
Services Ltd2 

- 

Notes: 
1. reflects the past directorships held in listed companies in the last three (3) years. 
2. SGX listed 
3. ASX listed 

The NC has considered and taken the view that it would not be appropriate at this time to set a limit on the 
number of listed company directorships that a Director may hold. Directors have different capabilities, the 
nature of the organisations in which they hold appointments and the committees on which they serve are of 
different complexities, and accordingly, each Director would personally determine the demands of their 
competing directorships and obligations and assess the number of listed company directorships they could 
hold and serve effectively. Currently, none of the Directors hold more than two (2) directorships in other 
listed companies.  
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Board Membership (continued) 

Principle 4 (continued) 

Provision 4.5 (continued) 

In addition, the NC also determines annually whether a Director with multiple board representations is able 
to and has been adequately carrying out their duties as a Director of the Company. The NC takes into 
account the results of the assessment of the effectiveness of the individual Director and the respective 
Directors’ actual conduct on the Board. The NC is satisfied that for FY2025 sufficient time and attention have 
been devoted by the Directors to the affairs of the Company and the Group. As such, there is presently no 
need to implement internal guidelines to address their competing time commitments notwithstanding that 
some of the Directors have multiple board representations.  

The NC will, however, continue to review, from time to time, the Board representations and other principal 
commitments to ensure that Directors continue to meet the demands of the Group and are able to discharge 
their duties adequately. 

 

Board Performance  

Principle 5: The Board undertakes a formal annual assessment of its effectiveness as a whole, and that of 
each of its board committees and individual directors. 

Provision 5.1 The NC recommends for the Board’s approval the objective performance criteria and process 
for the evaluation of the effectiveness of the Board as a whole, and of each board committee separately, as 
well as the contribution by the Chairman and each individual director to the Board 

For the year under review, the NC held two (2) meetings and evaluated the Board’s performance as a whole 
and the contribution of each director to the effectiveness of the Board. The NC has adopted a formal process 
and criteria to assess the effectiveness of the Board and each of the Directors. The evaluation is carried out 
annually. 

 

Provision 5.2 The company discloses in its annual report how the assessments of the Board, its board 
committees and each director have been conducted, including the identity of any external facilitator and its 
connection, if any, with the company or any of its directors 

The NC undertakes an annual formal review and evaluation of both the Board’s performance as a whole, as 
well as individual Director’s performance, such as Board commitment, standard of conduct, competency, 
training & development and interaction with other Directors, senior management and stakeholders. 

All Directors complete an evaluation questionnaire designed to seek their view on the various aspects of 
their individual and Board performance so as to assess the overall effectiveness of the Board. 

The completed questionnaire is collated, and the results of the evaluation exercise are subsequently 
considered by the NC, before making recommendations to the Board. The Chairman of the Board may take 
actions as may be appropriate according to the results of the performance evaluation, which will be based 
on objective performance criteria proposed by the NC and approved by the Board. 

The performance of individual Directors is assessed based on factors which include their attendance, 
participation at the Board and Board committee meetings and contributions to the Board in long range 
planning and the business strategies as well as their industry and business knowledge. 

Each member of the NC abstains from voting on any resolutions and making any recommendations and/or 
participating in any deliberations of the NC in respect of the assessment of their performance and re-
nomination as a Director. 

The NC conducted a performance evaluation of the Board and Board Committees for FY2025 consistent 
with this process and determined that all Directors have demonstrated full commitment to their roles and 
contributed effectively in the discharge their duties. Both the NC and the Board are of the view that the Board 
has met its performance objectives for FY2025. 
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Procedures for Developing Remuneration Policies 

Principle 6: The Board has a formal and transparent procedure for developing policies on director and 
executive remuneration, and for fixing the remuneration packages of individual directors and key 
management personnel. No director is involved in deciding his or her own remuneration. 

Provision 6.1 The Board establishes a Remuneration Committee (‘RC’) to review and make 
recommendations to the Board on: 

(a) a framework of remuneration for the Board and key management personnel; and (b) the specific 
remuneration packages for each director as well as for the key management personnel. 

The Company has established a RC to make recommendations to the Board on remuneration packages of 
individual Directors and key senior management personnel. The Company has developed a remuneration 
policy for fixing the remuneration packages of Directors and senior executives. 

The formal terms of reference of the RC, are to: 

 recommend to the Board a framework of remuneration for the Directors and key senior management 
personnel;  

 determine specific remuneration packages for each Executive Director;   

 review annually the remuneration of employees related to the Directors and substantial shareholders 
to ensure that their remuneration packages are in line with the staff remuneration guidelines and 
commensurate with their respective job scopes and level of responsibilities; and   

 perform such other acts as may be required by the SGX-ST and the Code, or ASX, from time to time.  

The recommendations of the RC are submitted for endorsement by the entire Board. Each member of the 
RC abstains from voting on any resolutions in respect of their own remuneration package. Also, in the event 
that a member of the RC is related to the employee under review, they will abstain from participating in that 
review. Directors are not involved in the discussion and in deciding their own remuneration.  

 

Provision 6.2 The RC comprises at least three directors. All members of the RC are non-executive directors, 
the majority of whom, including the RC Chairman, are independent. 

The RC comprises three members, all of whom including the RC Chairman are Independent Non-Executive 
Directors:  

Name Position 

Mr. Wong Fook Choy Sunny (retired on 30 October 2024) RC Chairman 

Ms. Ong Beng Hong (appointed on 30 October 2024) RC Chairman 

Mr. Chong Teck Sin (retired on 30 October 2024) Member 

Mr. Ambrose Law (appointed on 30 October 2024) Member and Lead Independent Director 

Mr. Douglas Owen Chester (retired on 30 October 2024) Member 

Mr. Gary Gray (appointed on 30 October 2024) Member 
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Procedures for Developing Remuneration Policies (continued) 

Provision 6.3 The RC considers all aspects of remuneration, including termination terms, to ensure they are 
fair. 

The RC has established a framework of remuneration for the Board and key senior management personnel 
covering all aspects of remuneration but not limited to Directors’ fees, salaries, allowances, bonuses, 
incentive schemes and benefits-in-kind.  

The RC also oversees the administration of the Civmec Key Executives Performance Rights 2024 
established on 1 August 2024, with a 10-year tenure commencing on the establishment date.  

The Company has a policy that governs the Directors and senior management personnel dealing in 
securities trading. The securities trading policy reflects the Corporations Act 2001 prohibition on senior 
management personnel and their closely related parties from hedging the senior management personnel’s 
incentive remuneration. The senior management personnel, and their immediate family and controlled 
entities are prohibited from entering into any arrangement that would have the effect of limiting the senior 
management personnel’s exposure to risk relating to an element of the senior management personnel’s 
remuneration that is unvested or is vested but remains subject to a holding lock.  The securities trading policy 
sets out closed periods for trading in securities by KMP including for one month prior to and 48 hours after 
release of half yearly and annual financial results.  The policy also restricts KMP from engaging in short term 
trading of securities. 

The RC reviews the fairness and reasonableness of the termination clauses of the service agreements of 
Executive Directors to ensure that such contracts of service contain fair and reasonable termination clauses 
which are not overly generous, with an aim to be fair and avoid rewarding poor performance.  

The RC is of the view that it is currently not necessary to use contractual provisions to allow the Company 
to reclaim incentive components of remuneration from the Executive Directors and key senior management 
personnel in exceptional circumstances of misstatement of financial statements, or of misconduct resulting 
in financial loss to the Company and the Group. The Executive Directors owe a fiduciary duty to the Company 
and the Company should be able to avail itself to remedies against the Executive Directors and key senior 
management personnel in the event of such exceptional circumstances of breach of fiduciary duty. 

During the reporting period of the year, the RC has: 

 reviewed and approved remuneration for Executives which includes salary, Short Term and Long 
Term incentives; 

 reviewed benchmarking of fees for directors; 

 reviewed the remuneration packages of employees in the Group which includes salary adjustments 
and bonus; and 

 reviewed the remuneration package of the Executive Directors and CEO which includes salary, Short 
Term and Long Term incentives.  

 

Provision 6.4 The company discloses the engagement of any remuneration consultants and their 
independence in the company’s annual report. 

The RC has access to expert professional advice on human resource and remuneration matters whenever 
there is a need to consult externally.  

During the financial year, the fixed remuneration of executives was benchmarked against peers based on 
the industry salary surveys sourced from AON Mining, Infrastructure & Engineering Remuneration Report 
and other available data sources. 
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Level and Mix of Remuneration 

Principle 7: The level and structure of remuneration of the Board and key management personnel are 
appropriate and proportionate to the sustained performance and value creation of the company, taking into 
account the strategic objectives of the company. 

Provision 7.1: A significant and appropriate proportion of executive directors’ and key management 
personnel’s remuneration is structured so as to link rewards to corporate and individual performance. 
Performance-related remuneration is aligned with the interests of shareholders and other stakeholders and 
promotes the long-term success of the company 

Executive Directors and key senior management personnel remuneration comprises a fixed and a variable 
component, the latter of which is in the form of a bonus linked to the performance of the individual as well 
as the Group. In addition, short-term and long-term incentives, such as the 2024 Civmec Key Senior 
Executives Performance Rights Plan, are in place to strengthen the pay-for-performance framework by 
rewarding and recognising the key executives’ contributions to the growth of the Group. This is designed to 
align remuneration with the interests of shareholders and link rewards to corporate and individual 
performance to promote long-term sustainability of the Group.  

Details of Performance Rights granted to Executive Directors and key senior management personnel, along 
with further information on fixed and variable remuneration components, are outlined in the Remuneration 
Report. 

 

Provision 7.2 The remuneration of non-executive directors is appropriate to the level of contribution, taking 
into account factors such as effort, time spent, and responsibilities. 

The remuneration of the Independent Directors is in the form of a fixed fee which is subject to shareholders’ 
approval at the AGM. Each member of the RC abstains from voting on any resolution, participating in any 
deliberation of the RC, and making any recommendation in respect of their own remuneration. At the 2024 
AGM the shareholders approved an aggregate fee pool of SGD$400,000 per annum. 

The Independent Directors’ fees were derived using the fee structure as follows: 

Position Annual Fees (S$) 

Independent Director who is the Chairman of the Audit Committee 101,000 

Other Independent Director 89,000 

 

Provision 7.3 Remuneration is appropriate to attract, retain and motivate the directors to provide good 
stewardship of the company and key management personnel to successfully manage the company for the 
long term 

In making its recommendations to the Board on the level and mix of remuneration, the RC strives to be 
competitive, linking rewards with performance. It takes into consideration the essential factors to attract, 
retain and motivate the Directors and senior management needed to run the Company successfully, linking 
rewards to corporate and individual performance, and aligning their interest with those of the shareholders.  

The Company has renewed the service agreements with the Executive Directors, Mr. James Finbarr 
Fitzgerald, Mr. Patrick John Tallon and Mr. Kevin James Deery in August 2023. Each service agreement is 
valid for a period of three (3) years with effect from the date of expiry of the previous period. During the 
renewal period of three (3) years, either party may terminate the Service Agreement at any time by giving to 
the other party not less than six (6) months’ notice in writing, or in lieu of notice, payment of amount 
equivalent to six (6) months’ salary. The Executive Directors do not receive Director’s fees. 
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Level and Mix of Remuneration (continued) 

Principle 7 (continued)) 

Provision 7.3 (continued) 

Pursuant to Article 55 of the Company’s Constitution, a Director may not hold office for a continuous period 
in excess of three years or past the conclusion of the third annual general meeting following the Director's 
last election or re-election, whichever is the longer, without submitting for re-election by the Company. If no 
Director would otherwise be required to submit for election or re-election at an annual general meeting but 
the SGX or ASX  Listing Rules require that an election of Directors be held, the Director to retire at the annual 
general meeting is the Director who has been longest in office since last being elected. As between Directors 
who were last elected on the same day, the Director to retire is (in default of agreement between them) 
determined by lot .The remuneration packages of the Executive Directors and the key senior management 
personnel are based on service agreements and their remuneration is determined having due regard to the 
performance of the individuals, the Group as well as market trends. Further information relating to director 
remuneration is contained within the Remuneration Report. 

 

Disclosure on Remuneration 

Principle 8 The company is transparent on its remuneration policies, level and mix of remuneration, the 
procedure for setting remuneration, and the relationships between remuneration, performance and value 
creation. 

Provision 8.1 The company discloses in its annual report the policy and criteria for setting remuneration, as 
well as names, amounts and breakdown of remuneration of: 

(a) each individual director and the CEO; and (b) at least the top five key management personnel (who are 
not directors or the CEO) in bands no wider than S$250,000 and in aggregate the total remuneration paid to 
these key management personnel. 

Provision 8.1 of the Code states that the Company should disclose the names, amounts and breakdown of 
remuneration of at least the top five (5) Key Management Personnel (who are not directors or the CEO) in 
bands of S$250,000, and in aggregate the total remuneration paid to them. For FY25, the Company identified 
Mr. Bojan Cica as the only Key Management Personnel who is not a director or the CEO. Information on the 
remuneration of its Key Management Personnel (including the Executive Directors and Mr. Bojan Cica) is 
duly disclosed in the Remuneration Report of this Report. 

 

Provision 8.2 The company discloses the names and remuneration of employees who are substantial 
shareholders of the company, or are immediate family members of a director, the CEO or a substantial 
shareholder of the company, and whose remuneration exceeds S$100,000 during the year, in bands no 
wider than S$100,000, in its annual report. The disclosure states clearly the employee's relationship with the 
relevant director or the CEO or substantial shareholder. 

For the year ended 30 June 2025 

A$115,000 to A$210,000 

Name of employee Designation Relationship 

Thomas Tallon Supervisor Brother of CEO Patrick Tallon 

Sean Fitzgerald Developer Son of Executive Chairman 

The RC is of the view that the remuneration of these family members is in line with the Company’s 
remuneration guidelines and commensurate with their job scope and level of responsibilities. 
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Disclosure on Remuneration (continued) 

Provision 8.3 The company discloses in its annual report all forms of remuneration and other payments and 
benefits, paid by the company and its subsidiaries to directors and key management personnel of the 
company. It also discloses details of employee share schemes. 

More details in relation to this can be found in the Remuneration Report duly disclosed in this Report. 

Accountability and Audit 

Risk Management and Internal Controls 

Principle 9: The Board is responsible for the governance of risk and ensures that Management maintains a 
sound system of risk management and internal controls, to safeguard the interests of the company and its 
shareholders. 

Provision 9.1 The Board determines the nature and extent of the significant risks which the company is 
willing to take in achieving its strategic objectives and value creation. The Board sets up a Board Risk 
Committee to specifically address this, if appropriate. 

The Company has established the RCC to advise and make recommendations to the Board on risk and 
conflict matters. 

The RCC is guided by its Terms of Reference which highlights its primary responsibilities are to: 

 review and monitor the Group’s risk management framework and activities, including the Group’s 
levels of risk tolerance and risk policies; 

 report to the Board regarding the Group’s risk exposures, including the review risk assessment model 
used to monitor the risk exposures and senior management’s views on the acceptable and 
appropriate level of risk faced by the Group’s Business Units; 

 recommend and adopt appropriate measures to control and mitigate the business risks of the Group, 
as and when these may arise;  

 perform any other functions as may be agreed by the Board; 

 review the Risk Register and Risk Management Framework; and 

 requested revisions to the Risk Mitigation Plan presented by senior management to mitigate and 
monitor the risk exposure. 

During the reporting period of the year, the RCC has: 

 reviewed the Company’s overarching governance framework, risk management policies, and 
approaches to identifying and mitigating risk; 

 evaluated the Company’s risk governance structure, including strategies to embed a strong risk 
culture, define risk appetite, and implement effective processes and procedures; 

 assessed quarterly reports from management detailing the Company’s risk profile and major 
exposures (including key technology and cybersecurity risks) and the actions taken to monitor, 
control, and mitigate these risks; and 

 reviewed quarterly compliance reports from management regarding adherence to applicable laws, 
regulations, and listing requirements. 

The RCC reviews all significant control policies and procedures and highlights all significant risk matters to 
the Board for discussion and to take appropriate actions, if required. 
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Risk Management and Internal Controls (continued) 

Principle 9 (continued) 

Provision 9.1 (continued) 

The RCC comprises three members, all of whom, including the RCC Chairman are Independent Non-
Executive Directors: 

Name Position 

Mr. Chong Teck Sin (retired on 30 October 2024) RCC Chairman 

Mr. Ambrose Law (appointed on 30 October 2024) RCC Chairman and Lead Independent 
Director 

Mr. Wong Fook Choy Sunny (retired on 30 October 2024) Member 

Ms. Ong Beng Hong (appointed on 30 October 2024) Member 

Mr. Douglas Owen Chester (retired on 30 October 2024) Member 

Mr. Gary Gray (appointed on 30 October 2024) Member 

 

Provision 9.2 The Board requires and discloses in the company’s annual report that it has received 
assurance from: 

(a) the CEO and the Chief Financial Officer (‘CFO’) that the financial records have been properly maintained 
and the financial statements give a true and fair view of the company's operations and finances; and (b) the 
CEO and other key management personnel who are responsible, regarding the adequacy and effectiveness 
of the company's risk management and internal control systems. 

The Group’s internal controls and systems are designed to provide reasonable assurance on the integrity 
and reliability of the financial information and to safeguard and maintain accountability of its assets. 
Procedures are in place to identify major business risks and evaluate potential financial effects, as well as 
the authorisation of capital expenditure and investments.  

The external auditors carry out, in the course of their statutory audit, an annual review of the effectiveness 
of the Group’s key internal controls, including financial, operational, compliance, information technology 
controls as well as risk management systems to the extent of their scope as laid out in their audit plan. Any 
material weaknesses in internal controls, together with recommendations for improvement, are reported to 
the AC and RCC.  

The Company’s internal audit function prepares an annual internal audit plan, which takes account of the 
Company’s key risks and other assurance activities performed, enabling internal audit resources to be 
targeted to areas of greatest value across the Company’s operations, including group and subsidiary 
structures. Processes subject to internal audit include financial, administrative, operational and project 
specific activities and systems. The internal audit function provides advice on the effectiveness of risk 
management processes and material internal controls, recommends corrective actions and control 
improvements and follows up on the implementation of action plans designed by management to address 
any control deficiencies or improvement opportunities. Internal audit reports containing internal audit results, 
recommendations and agreed action plans are presented to the AC on a quarterly basis.  

The Company appoints internal auditors to carry out a review of the adequacy and effectiveness of the 
Group’s key internal controls, including financial, operational, compliance and information technology 
controls as well as risk management systems to the extent of their scope as laid out in their audit plan. 

 

 

 

 



 

48 CIVMEC FINANCIAL REPORT 2025 

 

Report on Corporate Governance 
30 June 2025 

Accountability and Audit (continued) 

Risk Management and Internal Controls (continued) 

Principle 9 (continued) 

Provision 9.2 (continued) 

In the absence of evidence to the contrary, the Board is satisfied the system of internal controls maintained 
by the Company and that was in place throughout the financial year and up to the date of this report provides 
reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against material financial misstatements or losses, and includes 
the safeguarding of assets, the maintenance of proper accounting records, the reliability of financial 
information, compliance with appropriate legislation, regulations and best practices, and the identification 
and containment of financial, operational and compliance risks. Based on the risk management and internal 
control systems established and implemented by the Group, and work conducted by the internal auditors, 
external auditors and our internal audit team, the Board, with the concurrence of the AC, is satisfied the 
Company’s system of internal controls and risk management procedures maintained by the Group are 
adequate and effective to meet the needs of the Company in addressing the financial, operational, 
compliance, information technology controls and risk management systems in the Group’s current business 
environment, with no material weaknesses identified.  

The Board has received assurances from the CEO and Chief Financial Officer that: 

(i) the financial records have been properly maintained (and the financial statements comply with the 
appropriate accounting standards) and the financial statements give a true and fair view of the 
Company’s operations and finances; and 

(ii) the Company’s risk management and internal control systems are adequate and effective. 

The Board notes that all internal control systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate risks and no 
system of internal controls could provide absolute assurance against the occurrence of material errors, poor 
judgment in decision-making, human error losses, fraud or other irregularities. 
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Audit Committee 

Principle 10: The Board has an Audit Committee (‘AC’) which discharges its duties objectively. 

Provision 10.1 The duties of the AC include: 
(a) reviewing the significant financial reporting issues and judgements so as to ensure the integrity of the 
financial statements of the company and any announcements relating to the company's financial 
performance; (b) reviewing at least annually the adequacy and effectiveness of the company's internal 
controls and risk management systems; (c) reviewing the assurance from the CEO and the CFO on the 
financial records and financial statements; (d) making recommendations to the Board on: (i) the proposals 
to the shareholders on the appointment and removal of external auditors; and (ii) the remuneration and terms 
of engagement of the external auditors; (e) reviewing the adequacy, effectiveness, independence, scope 
and results of the external audit and the company’s internal audit function; and (f) reviewing the policy and 
arrangements for concerns about possible improprieties in financial reporting or other matters to be safely 
raised, independently investigated and appropriately followed up on. The company publicly discloses, and 
clearly communicates to employees, the existence of a whistle-blowing policy and procedures for raising 
such concerns. 

The AC is governed by terms of reference with its primary responsibilities as follows: 

 to assist the Board in discharging its responsibility to safeguard the Group’s assets, maintain 
adequate accounting records, and develop and maintain effective systems of internal control with the 
overall objective of ensuring that our management creates and maintains an effective control 
environment in the Group; 

 to provide a channel of communication between the Board, the management team, the external 
auditors and internal auditors on matters relating to audit; 

 to monitor senior management’s commitment to the establishment and maintenance of a satisfactory 
control environment and an effective system of internal control (including any arrangements for 
internal audit); 

 to monitor and review the scope and results of external audit and its cost effectiveness and the 
independence and objectivity of the external auditors; and 

 to monitor and review the scope and results of internal audit and the cost effectiveness of the internal 
auditors.  

In addition, the functions of the AC are to: 

 review with the external auditors the audit plans, their evaluation of the system of internal controls, 
their management letter and the management’s response thereto; 

 review with the internal auditors the internal audit plans and their evaluation of the adequacy of the 
internal control and accounting system before submission of the results of such review to the Board 
for approval; 

 review the half-yearly and annual financial statements and any formal announcements relating to the 
Group’s financial performance before submission to the Board for approval, focusing in particular, on 
changes in accounting policies and practices, major risk areas, significant adjustments resulting from 
the audit, compliance with accounting standards and compliance with the SGX-ST Listing Manual, 
ASX Listing Rules and any other relevant and statutory or regulatory requirements; 

 review the internal control and procedures and ensure co-ordination between the external auditors 
and the management, review the assistance given by the management to the auditors, and discuss 
problems and concerns, if any, arising from the interim and final audits, and any matters which the 
auditors may wish to discuss (in the absence of our management where necessary);  

 review and consider the appointment or re-appointment of the external auditors and matters relating 
to resignation or dismissal of the auditors;  

 review and consider the appointment or re-appointment of the internal auditors and matters relating 
to resignation or dismissal of the auditors;  
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Accountability and Audit (continued) 

Audit Committee (continued) 

Principle 10 (continued) 

Provision 10.1 (continued) 

In addition, the functions of the AC are to: (continued) 

 review interested person transactions (if any);  

 review the Group’s hedging policies, procedures and activities (if any) and monitor the 
implementation of the hedging procedure/policies, including reviewing the instruments, processes 
and practices in accordance with any hedging polices approved by the Board;   

 review potential conflicts of interest, if any, and to set out a framework to resolve or mitigate such 
potential conflicts of interests;    

 undertake such other reviews and projects as may be requested by the Board and report to the Board 
its findings from time to time on matters arising and requiring the attention of the Audit Committee;  

 review and discuss with investigators, any suspected fraud, irregularity, or infringement of any 
relevant laws, rules or regulations, which has or is likely to have a material impact on the Group’s 
operating results or financial position, and the management’s response thereto;   

 generally to undertake such other functions and duties as may be required by statute or the SGX-ST 
Listing Manual and ASX Listing Rules, and by such amendments made thereto from time to time;   

 review the effectiveness and adequacy of the administrative, operating, internal accounting and 
financial control procedures; 

 review the findings of internal investigation into matters where there is any suspected fraud or 
irregularity, or failure of internal controls or infringement of any law, rule or regulation which has or is 
likely to have a material impact on the Group’s operating results and/or financial position; 

 review key financial risk areas, with a view to providing an independent oversight on the Group’s 
financial reporting, the outcome of such review to be disclosed in the annual reports or if the findings 
are material, to be immediately announced via SGXNET and ASX Online; and 

 review the Group’s compliance with such functions and duties as may be required under the relevant 
statutes or the SGX-ST Listing Manual and ASX Listing Rules, including such amendments made 
thereto from time to time. 

The AC has the power to conduct or authorise investigations into any matters within its scope of 
responsibility. The AC is authorised to obtain independent professional advice whenever deemed necessary 
to discharge of its responsibilities at the Company’s expenses.  

The AC has the co-operation of and complete access to the Company’s management. It has full discretion 
to invite any Director or Executive Officer to attend the meetings and has been given reasonable resources 
to enable the discharge of its functions. 

As at the reporting period of the year, the AC has: 

 reviewed the scope of work of the external auditors; 

 reviewed the scope of work of the internal auditors; 

 reviewed audit plans and discussed the results of the respective findings and their evaluation of the 
Company’s system of internal accounting controls; 

 reviewed interested person transactions of the Company; 

 met with the Company’s external auditors and internal auditors without the presence of the 
management; 

 reviewed the external auditors’ independence and objectivity;  
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Audit Committee (continued) 

Principle 10 (continued) 

Provision 10.1 (continued) 

As at the reporting period of the year, the AC has: (continued) 

 reviewed the Company’s procedures for detecting fraud and whistle-blowing matters and to ensure 
that arrangements are in place by which any employee, may in confidence, raise concerns about 
improprieties in matters of financial reporting, financial control, or any other matters. A report is 
presented to the AC on a quarterly basis whenever there is a whistle-blowing issue; and 

 reviewed and recommended the implementation of the tax internal controls testing plan and the 
results from the testing undertaken. 

The AC, having reviewed the external auditors’ non-audit services, is satisfied there were no non-audit 
services rendered that would affect the independence of the external auditors. The AC recognises the need 
to maintain a balance between the independence and objectivity of the external auditors and the work carried 
out by the external auditors based on monetary consideration. 

Following the change of domicile of the head company, Moore Australia Audit (WA) and Moore Stephens 
LLP have been appointed as joint auditors for the Group. The aggregate amount of agreed fees to be paid 
for FY2025 is A$313,000 which comprises the cost of performing a joint audit of A$248,000 and audit related 
fee of A$65,000. Further information can be found in Note 39 of this report. 

The AC is kept abreast by the external auditors of changes to accounting standards, SGX-ST Listing Manual 
and ASX Listing Rules, and other regulations which could have an impact on the Group’s business and 
financial statements. 

The Company has a whistle-blowing policy where people may, in confidence, raise concerns about possible 
improprieties in matters of financial reporting, fraudulent acts, bribery/corruption conduct, breach of code of 
conduct and other matters, and has ensured that arrangements are in place for independent investigations 
of such matters and for appropriate follow up actions. All whistle-blowing reports will be addressed to the AC 
Chairman, either directly or through STOPline, the independent third-party whistle-blowing service provider. 
The AC is directly notified of any whistle-blowing reports by the third-party service provider. Staff are regularly 
informed of the existence of the whistle-blowing mechanism and encouraged to report relevant matters. The 
identity of persons using this facility are kept confidential unless the person(s) indicate otherwise and the 
Company does not tolerate any victimisation of a whistleblower. 

There were no reports received through the whistle-blowing system during FY2025.  
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Audit Committee (continued) 

Principle 10 (continued) 

Provision 10.2 The AC comprises at least three directors, all of whom are non-executive and the majority of 
whom, including the AC Chairman, are independent. At least two members, including the AC Chairman, 
have recent and relevant accounting or related financial management expertise or experience. 

The Audit Committee comprises the following three members, all of whom, including the AC Chairman, are 
Non-Executive Independent Directors: 

Name Position 

Mr. Chong Teck Sin (retired on 30 October 2024) AC Chairman and Lead Independent 
Director 

Mr. Ambrose Law (appointed on 30 October 2024) AC Chairman and Lead Independent 
Director 

Mr. Wong Fook Choy Sunny (retired on 30 October 2024) Member 

Ms. Ong Beng Hong (appointed on 30 October 2024) Member 

Mr. Douglas Owen Chester (retired on 30 October 2024) Member 

Mr. Gary Gray (appointed on 30 October 2024) Member 

The Board ensures that the members of the AC are appropriately qualified to discharge their responsibilities 
and they possess the requisite accounting and/or financial management expertise and experience. 

 

Provision 10.3 The AC does not comprise former partners or directors of the company's existing auditing 
firm or auditing corporation:  

(a) within a period of two years commencing on the date of their ceasing to be a partner of the auditing firm 
or director of the auditing corporation; and in any case, (b) for as long as they have any financial interest in 
the auditing firm or auditing corporation. 

None of the AC members are previous partners or directors of the Group’s joint auditors, Moore Australia 
Audit (WA) / Moore Stephens LLP and none of the AC members hold any financial interest in, Moore 
Australia Audit (WA) or Moore Stephens LLP. 

 

Provision 10.4 The primary reporting line of the internal audit function is to the AC, which also decides on 
the appointment, termination and remuneration of the head of the internal audit function. The internal audit 
function has unfettered access to all the company's documents, records, properties and personnel, including 
the AC, and has appropriate standing within the company. 

The Board recognises the importance of maintaining an internal audit function, independent of the activities 
it audits, to maintain a sound system of internal control within the Company to safeguard shareholders’ 
investments and the Company’s assets.  

The Company’s internal audit function is outsourced to Deloitte, which is one of the Big Four multinational 
accounting organisations and it is independent of the Company’s business activities. The internal audit team 
provides expertise and industry insights to strengthen the Company’s governance and risk management on 
an annual basis and comprises a director, a senior manager and supported by other staff, which have more 
than 30 years of relevant experience combined. The internal auditors conduct the audit based on the 
standards set by internationally recognised professional bodies. The annual internal audit plan is submitted 
to the AC for approval prior to the commencement of the internal audit work. The internal auditors review 
the effectiveness of key internal controls in accordance with the internal audit plan.  
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Accountability and Audit (continued) 

Audit Committee (continued) 

Principle 10 (continued) 

Provision 10.4 (continued) 

Staffed by suitably qualified and experienced executives, the internal auditors have unrestricted direct 
access to the AC and unfettered access to all the Company’s documents, properties and personnel. The 
internal auditors have a direct and primary reporting line to the AC and assist the AC in overseeing and 
monitoring the implementation and improvements required on internal control weaknesses identified. The 
AC reviews the adequacy and effectiveness of the internal audit function quarterly. 

The role of the internal auditors is to support the AC in ensuring that the Group maintains a sound system 
of internal controls by monitoring and assessing the effectiveness of key controls and procedures, 
conducting in-depth audits of high-risk areas and undertaking investigations as directed by the AC. 

The AC regularly reviews the performance of the internal auditors and determines their reappointment and 
level of remuneration.  

The AC reviews the adequacy of the function of the internal audit annually and based on this review believes 
that the internal auditors have adequate resources to perform their function effectively and objectively and 
has unfettered access to the Company's documents, records, properties and personnel. 

The AC is satisfied with the effectiveness of the existing internal control systems put in place by senior 
management to meet the needs of the Group in its current business environment. 

The Company’s external auditors also conduct annual reviews of the effectiveness of the Group’s material 
internal controls for financial reporting in accordance with the scope as laid out in their audit plans.  

Shareholder Rights and Engagement 

Shareholder Rights and Conduct of General Meetings 

Principle 11 The company treats all shareholders fairly and equitably in order to enable them to exercise 
shareholders' rights and have the opportunity to communicate their views on matters affecting the company. 
The company gives shareholders a balanced and understandable assessment of its performance, position 
and prospects. 

Provision 11.1 The company provides shareholders with the opportunity to participate effectively in and vote 
at general meetings of shareholders and informs them of the rules governing general meetings of 
shareholders. 

The AGM and other shareholders’ meetings will always be held at a reasonable place and time. The 
Company ensures that shareholders have the opportunity to participate effectively and to vote at 
shareholders’ meetings. In this regard, shareholders are informed of shareholders’ meetings through notices 
contained in annual reports or a circular sent to all shareholders. These notices are also published in the 
Business Times newspaper (Singapore) and posted on SGXNET and ASX Online. Shareholders are able to 
send and receive communications electronically with the Company through its respective share registries 
platform in Singapore and Australia, details for doing so are available on the corporate website at 
www.civmec.com.au. 

At AGM and other shareholders’ meetings, the Executive Chairman ensures constructive dialogue between 
the Board and shareholders and upholds high standards of corporate governance.  Shareholders are invited 
and given the opportunity to voice their views, put forth any questions and seek clarification on questions 
they may have regarding the Company. Shareholders are also informed of the rules and voting procedures 
governing such meetings under the relevant notice of meeting.  

For greater transparency, the Company has adopted the voting of all its resolutions by poll at the general 
meetings and an announcement of the detailed results of the number of votes cast for and against each 
resolution and the respective percentages are announced at the meeting and via announcements on 
SGXNET and ASX Online made on the same day. 
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Shareholder Rights and Engagement (continued) 

Shareholder Rights and Conduct of General Meetings (continued) 

Principle 11 (continued) 

Provision 11.2 The company tables separate resolutions at general meetings of shareholders on each 
substantially separate issue unless the issues are interdependent and linked so as to form one significant 
proposal. Where the resolutions are ‘bundled’, the company explains the reasons and material implications 
in the notice of meeting. 

Resolutions are, as far as possible, structured separately and may be voted on independently.  
 

Provision 11.3 All directors attend general meetings of shareholders, and the external auditors are also 
present to address shareholders’ queries about the conduct of audit and the preparation and content of the 
auditors’ report. Directors’ attendance at such meetings held during the financial year is disclosed in the 
company’s annual report. 

The Directors and the external auditors are available at the AGM to answer shareholders’ queries. In 
FY2024, all Directors and the external auditor attended the AGM. 

 

Provision 11.4 The company’s Constitution (or other constitutive documents) allow for absentia voting at 
general meetings of shareholders. 

The Group fully supports the Code’s principle to encourage shareholders’ participation in and vote at all the 
general meetings. The Company's Constitution allows the appointment of a proxy by a shareholder to attend 
and vote at the AGM on his/her behalf. Shareholders who hold shares through nominees are allowed, upon 
prior request through their nominees, to attend the general meetings as proxies without being constrained 
by the two-proxy requirement.  

The Company constitution allows the board to implemented measures to allow shareholders who are unable 
to vote in person at the Company’s AGM the option to vote in absentia, such as via mail, electronic mail or 
facsimile transactions. The board will exercise these measures when it is satisfied that the authentication of 
shareholder identity information and other related security issues are addressed. The Company will inform 
shareholders of voting options as part of the relevant notice of meeting.  

Where an amendment to its Constitution is required to align the relevant provisions with the requirements of 
the SGX-ST Listing Manual and the ASX Listing Rules, shareholders’ approval will be obtained.   

 

Provision 11.5 The company publishes minutes of general meetings of shareholders on its corporate website 
as soon as practicable. The minutes record substantial and relevant comments or queries from shareholders 
relating to the agenda of the general meeting, and responses from the Board and Management. 

The Company Secretaries prepares minutes of general meetings that include substantial and relevant 
comments or queries from shareholders relating to the agenda of the meetings and responses from the 
Board and the senior management, and makes these minutes available to shareholders at the registered 
office of the Company at 9 Raffles Place, #26-01 Republic Plaza, Singapore 048619 during normal business 
hours upon written request. 

Minutes of general meetings will be published on the Company’s corporate website within 30 days of the 
date of the meeting. 
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Shareholder Rights and Conduct of General Meetings (continued) 

Principle 11 (continued) 

Provision 11.6 The company has a dividend policy and communicates it to shareholders 

Civmec Limited is committed to providing excellent returns to its shareholders through a combination of 
longer-term capital growth and regular dividend payments. The Board considers a range of factors in 
determining the dividend payable in any year, including the business environment, balance sheet, working 
capital requirements of the business and potential investment opportunities. The form, frequency and 
amount of dividends declared each year will take into consideration the Group’s profit growth, cash position, 
positive cash flow generated from operations, projected capital requirements for business growth and other 
factors as the Board may deem appropriate. Any payouts are clearly communicated to shareholders in public 
announcements and via announcements on SGXNET and ASX Online when the Company discloses its 
financial results.  

The Company’s dividend policy is published on the Company’s corporate website at www.civmec.com.au. 

The Company has proposed a tax exempt (foreign source) Final Dividend of A$0.035 per ordinary share for 
the financial year ended 30 June 2025. This dividend is fully franked for Australian tax resident shareholders. 

 

Engagement with Shareholders 

Principle 12 The company communicates regularly with its shareholders and facilitates the participation of 
shareholders during general meetings and other dialogues to allow shareholders to communicate their views 
on various matters affecting the company 

Provision 12.1 The company provides avenues for communication between the Board and all shareholders 
and discloses in its annual report the steps taken to solicit and understand the views of shareholders. 

The Board is mindful of its obligations to furnish timely information to its shareholders, the public and 
regulators and to ensure full disclosure of material information to its shareholders in compliance with the 
statutory requirements and the SGX-ST Listing Manual and ASX Listing Rules. 

In this respect the Board is responsible for the release of half yearly and full year results, price sensitive 
information, the annual report and other material corporate developments in a timely manner and within the 
legally prescribed period. The Company does not practise selective disclosure. In line with continuous 
disclosure obligations of the Company pursuant to the SGX-ST Listing Manual, the Australian Corporations 
Act 2001 (Cth) and the ASX Listing Rules, it is the Company’s policy that all the shareholders should be 
equally informed, on a timely basis via SGXNET and ASX Online, of all major developments that will or 
expect to have an impact on the Company or the Group. The Board will also receive copies of all material 
market announcements promptly after they have been made by the Company. The Company also updates 
shareholders of its corporate developments and Continuous Disclosure Policy through its corporate website 
at www.civmec.com.au. 

In addition, all price sensitive information was publicly released either before the Company met with any of 
the Company’s investors or analysts or simultaneously with such meetings. Financial results and other 
corporate announcements of the Company are disseminated through announcements via SGXNET and 
ASX Online. 

 

Provision 12.2 The company has in place an investor relations policy which allows for an ongoing exchange 
of views so as to actively engage and promote regular, effective and fair communication with shareholders. 

The Company has in place an Investor Relations Policy which sets out the principles and practices that the 
Company applies in order to provide shareholders and prospective investors with information necessary to 
make well informed investment decisions and to ensure a level playing field. 

In addition, the Group has in-house professionals that support the Company to promote relations with, and 
act as liaison for, institutional investors and public shareholders. 
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Shareholder Rights and Engagement (continued) 

Engagement with Shareholders (continued) 

Principle 12 (continued) 

Provision 12.3 The company’s investor relations policy sets out the mechanism through which shareholders 
may contact the company with questions and through which the company may respond to such questions. 

Relevant contact information through which shareholders may contact the Company are published on its 
corporate website at https://www.civmec.com.au/investors/shareholder-services/. 

Managing stakeholders relationships 

Engagement with Stakeholders 

Principle 13 The Board adopts an inclusive approach by considering and balancing the needs and interests 
of material stakeholders, as part of its overall responsibility to ensure that the best interests of the company 
are served 

Provision 13.1 The company has arrangements in place to identify and engage with its material stakeholder 
groups and to manage its relationships with such groups. 

Provision 13.2 The company discloses in its annual report its strategy and key areas of focus in relation to 
the management of stakeholder relationships during the reporting period. 

Provision 13.3 The company maintains a current corporate website to communicate and engage with 
stakeholders. 

The Company engages its stakeholders through different channels to establish, address and monitor the 
material environmental, social and governance (ESG) factors of the Company’s operations and its impact 
on the various stakeholders. Such stakeholders include employees, community, government, regulators, 
shareholders and investors.  

The Company engages stakeholders through the various channels that are already in place, understanding 
its stakeholders’ concerns better, and addressing any issues that they may face. In addition, engagement 
channels and frequencies are reviewed periodically to ensure that they are sufficient to deal with current 
identified stakeholders’ ESG-related issues. 

The Company is committed to enhance and improve the current engagement initiatives, while staying 
abreast of new trends or developments that may affect the sustainability standing of the Company, and 
eventually devise corresponding measures to resolve the new ESG issues.  

The Company’s website can be found at www.civmec.com.au. and includes a tab labelled ‘Investors’ which 
provides investors with all the information they may require. 

Other Governance Practices 

Material Contracts  

There were no material contracts of the Company and its subsidiaries, including loans, involving the interests 
of any Director, the CEO or the controlling shareholders during FY2025. 

 

Interested Person Transactions  

The Company has established procedures to ensure that all transactions with interested persons are 
reported in a timely manner to the AC and these interested persons’ transactions are conducted on an arm’s 
length basis and are not prejudicial to the interests of the shareholders. Other than those disclosed in Note 
31, there were no other material interested person transactions for FY2025. 
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Note 

2025 
A$’000 

2024 
A$’000 

Revenue 5(a) 810,586 1,033,473 
Cost of sales 7 (717,646) (914,442) 
Gross profit  92,940 119,031 
    
Other income 6 3,552 5,330 
Administrative expenses 7 (30,033) (27,310) 
Other credits 7 - 495 
Finance costs 9 (5,884) (6,055) 
Profit before income tax  60,575 91,491 
Income tax expense 10 (18,039) (27,082) 
Profit for the year  42,536 64,409 
    
Other comprehensive income/(loss):    
Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss    
Gain on revaluation of freehold land & buildings  42,501 44,270 
Income tax relating to this item  (12,586) (13,628) 
Total comprehensive income for the year  72,451 95,051 
    
    
Profit attributable to:    
Owners of the Company  42,536 64,409 
Non-controlling interest  - - 
  42,536 64,409 
    
Total comprehensive income attributable to:    
Owners of the Company  72,451 95,051 
Non-controlling interest  - - 
  72,451 95,051 
    
Earnings per share attributable to equity holders of the 
Company (cents per share): 

 
  

- Basic 11 8.37 12.70 
- Diluted 11 8.27 12.57 

 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements. 
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Note 

2025 
A$’000 

2024 
A$’000 

ASSETS 
Current assets 

  

Cash and cash equivalents 14 102,940 88,457 
Trade and other receivables 12 52,328 94,602 
Contract assets 5(b) 154,969 173,588 
Other current assets 13 4,001 1,393 
Income tax receivable  8,697 - 
  322,935 358,040 
Non-current assets    
Property, plant and equipment 15 568,170 532,840 
Investment properties 16 19,706 18,459 
Intangible assets 17 10 10 
Deferred tax assets 10 1,078 968 
  588,964 552,277 
TOTAL ASSETS  911,899 910,317 
    
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 
Current liabilities 

 
  

Trade and other payables 20 86,835 153,149 
Contract liabilities 5(b) 71,447 49,292 
Lease liabilities 23 5,442 5,944 
Borrowings 21 - 8,000 
Income tax payable  - 7,462 
Provisions 22 13,659 18,455 
  177,383 242,302 
Non-current liabilities    
Lease liabilities 23 55,069 51,353 
Borrowings 21 60,000 56,000 
Provisions 22 379 493 
Deferred tax liabilities 10 88,556 71,951 
  204,004 179,797 
TOTAL LIABILITIES  381,387 422,099 
    
Capital and Reserves    
Share capital 24(a) 32,812 32,358* 
Treasury shares 24(b) - (10) 
Asset revaluation reserve 27 190,134 160,219 
Other reserves 28 9,071 9,422* 
Retained earnings  298,756 286,490 
Total equity attributable to the  

Owners of the Company 
 

530,773 488,479 

Non-controlling interest  (261) (261) 
TOTAL EQUITY  530,512 488,218 
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY  911,899 910,317 
* Reclassification of previously vested equity-settled employee benefits relating to prior financial years. 

 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.  
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Consolidated Statement of Cash 
Flows 
For the year ended 30 June 2025 

  
Note 

2025 
A$’000 

2024 
A$’000 

Cash Flows from Operating Activities    
Profit before income tax  60,575 91,491 
Adjustments for:    
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment and 

investment properties – leasehold land 

 
15,16 21,433 19,676 

Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment 6 (9) (64) 
Fair value gain on investment property at fair value 

through profit or loss 16 (1,150) (730) 
Reversal of revaluation loss on freehold land and 

buildings 

 
7 - (495) 

Finance cost 7,9 9,681 9,583 
Interest income 6 (1,725) (3,325) 
Equity-settled share based payments  354 365 
Foreign exchange differences  108 43 
Operating cash flow before working capital changes  89,267 116,544 

 

   
Changes in working capital:    
Decrease in trade and other receivables  42,274 13,641 
Decrease/(increase) in contract assets  18,619 (73,495) 
(Increase)/decrease in other current assets  (2,608) 881 
(Decrease)/increase in trade and other payables  (66,983) 34,353 
Increase in contract liabilities  22,155 4,586 
(Decrease)/increase in provisions  (4,910) 362 
Cash generated from operations  97,814 96,872 
Interest received  1,725 3,325 
Finance cost paid  (8,338) (8,078) 
Income tax refund  347 2,681 
Income tax paid  (30,636) (23,446) 
Net cash generated from operating activities  60,912 71,354 
 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements. 
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Consolidated Statement of Cash 
Flows 
For the year ended 30 June 2025 

(continued) 
  

Note 
2025 

A$’000 
2024 

A$’000 
Cash Flows from Investing Activities    
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and  

equipment 
 

79 112 
Purchase of property, plant and equipment 15 (4,815) (25,210) 
Net cash used in investing activities  (4,736) (25,098) 

 

   
Cash Flows from Financing Activities    
Proceeds from borrowings  37,800 21,500 
Repayment of borrowings  (41,800) (14,000) 
Repayment of principal lease liabilities  (7,182) (7,873) 
Proceeds from issuance of ordinary shares  - 111 
Dividends paid 25 (30,511) (27,918) 
Net cash used in financing activities  (41,693) (28,180) 

 

   
 

   
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents  14,483 18,076 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year  88,457 70,381 
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 14 102,940 88,457 

 

The reconciliation of movements of liabilities to cash flows arising from financing activities is 
presented below: 

 

Opening  
A$’000 

Cash flows Non-cash changes 

Closing 
A$’000 

Proceeds  
A$’000 

Repayment  
A$’000 

Addition  
A$’000 

Others  
A$’000 

2025       
Borrowings 64,000 37,800 (41,800) - - 60,000 
Lease liabilities 57,297 - (7,182) 6,652 3,744 60,511 
       
2024       

Borrowings 56,500 21,500 (14,000) - - 64,000 

Lease liabilities 57,335 - (7,873) 4,741 3,094 57,297 

 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements. 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
30 June 2025 

These notes form an integral part of and should be read in conjunction with the accompanying financial 
statements. 

1. Organisational restructure 

On 27 October 2023, Civmec Singapore Limited (formerly known as Civmec Limited) entered into an 
implementation agreement with Civmec Limited (formerly known as Civmec Australia Limited) with the 
intention to change the domicile of the head company of the Civmec Group from Singapore to Australia. The 
change of domicile (the ‘Restructure’) was achieved by way of a scheme of arrangement in accordance with 
Section 210 of the Companies Act 1967 of Singapore. The Shareholders’ scheme became effective on 4 
September 2024. 

The Restructure was accounted for as a reverse acquisition in the Civmec Group consolidated financial 
statements as at 30 June 2025, with Civmec Singapore Limited identified as the acquirer in accordance with 
AASB 3 Business Combinations and SFRS(I) 3 Business Combinations. Accordingly, these consolidated 
financial statements reflect a continuation of the Civmec Group. Refer to Supplementary Information section 
for additional details. 

 

2. General information 

These are the consolidated financial statements for Civmec Limited (the Company) and its controlled entities 
for year ended 30 June 2025. The Company is a publicly listed company incorporated and domiciled in 
Australia. The Company has been listed on the Australian Securities Exchange (‘ASX’) and the Singapore 
Exchange Limited (‘SGX’). The registered office of the Company and its principal place of business is at 16 
Nautical Drive, Henderson, WA 6166 Australia. 

The principal activity of the Company is that of an investment holding company. The principal activities of its 
subsidiaries, joint ventures, associate, and joint operations are set out in Notes 18 and 19 respectively. 

The financial statements for the financial year ended 30 June 2025 were approved and authorised for issue 
on the date of the statement by the board of directors in accordance with a resolution of the directors on the 
date of the Directors’ Declaration. 

 

3. Material accounting policies 

(a) Basis of preparation 

These general-purpose financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting 
Standards, other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board, the 
Corporations Act 2001 as applicable for for-profit entities. They also comply with Singapore Financial 
Reporting Standards (International) (‘SFRS(I)’).   

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except for 
the revaluation on freehold land and buildings and investment properties.  They are presented in Australian 
Dollar (A$), which is the functional and presentation currency of the Group. All amounts are rounded to the 
nearest thousand Australian Dollar (A$’000) unless otherwise specified. 

The Group have rounded values to the nearest thousand dollars (A$’000), unless otherwise stated, as 
allowed under the ASIC Corporations (Rounding in Financial/Directors’ Report) Instrument 2016/191. 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
30 June 2025 

3. Material accounting policies (continued) 

(b) Basis of consolidation 

(i) Subsidiaries 

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over which the Group has control. The Group 
controls an entity when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with 
the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity. Subsidiaries are fully 
consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated from the 
date that control ceases. 

The Company reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that 
there are changes to one or more of the three elements of control listed above. 

When the Company has less than a majority of the voting rights of an investee, it has power over the investee 
when the voting rights are sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee 
unilaterally. The Company considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether or not the 
Company’s voting rights in an investee are sufficient to give power, including: 

 the size of the Company’s holding of voting rights relative to the size and dispersion of holdings of 
the other vote holders; 

 potential voting rights held by the Company, other vote holders or other parties; 

 rights arising from other contractual agreements; and 

 any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that the Company has, or does not have, the 
current ability to direct the relevant activities at the time that decisions need to be made, including 
voting patterns at previous shareholders’ meetings. 

The Group applies the acquisition method to account for business combinations. The consideration 
transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair values of the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred 
to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group. The consideration 
transferred includes the fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent consideration 
arrangement. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business 
combination are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. The Group recognises any non- 
controlling interest in the acquiree on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis, either at fair value or at the non- 
controlling interest’s proportionate share of the recognised amounts of acquiree’s identifiable net assets. 

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred. 

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date carrying value of the acquirer’s 
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is re-measured to fair value at the acquisition date; any gains 
or losses arising from such re-measurement are recognised in profit or loss. Any contingent consideration 
to be transferred by the Group is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Subsequent changes to the 
fair value of the contingent consideration that is deemed to be an asset or liability are recognised in 
accordance with AASB 9/SFRS(I) 9 either in profit or loss or as a change to other comprehensive income. 
Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not re-measured, and its subsequent settlement is 
accounted for within equity. 

The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and 
the acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree over the fair value of the 
identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If the total of consideration transferred, non- 
controlling interest recognised and previously held interest measured is less than the fair value of the net 
assets of the subsidiary acquired in the case of a bargain purchase, the difference is recognised directly in 
profit or loss. 

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between Group companies have 
been eliminated. Unrealised losses have also been eliminated. When necessary, amounts reported by 
subsidiaries have been adjusted to conform with the Group’s accounting policies. 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
30 June 2025 

3. Material accounting policies (continued) 

(b) Basis of consolidation (continued) 

(i) Subsidiaries (continued) 

Change in ownership interests in subsidiaries without change of control 

Transactions with non-controlling interests that do not result in loss of control are accounted for as equity 
transactions – that is, as transactions with the owners in their capacity as owners. The difference between 
fair value of any consideration paid and the relevant share acquired of the carrying value of net assets of the 
subsidiary is recorded in equity. Gains or losses on disposals to non-controlling interests are also recorded 
in equity. 

Disposal of subsidiaries 

When the Group ceases to have control any retained interest in the entity is re-measured to its fair value at 
the date when control is lost, with the change in carrying amount recognised in profit or loss. The fair value 
is the initial carrying amount for the purposes of subsequently accounting for the retained interest as an 
associate, joint venture or financial asset. In addition, any amounts previously recognised in other 
comprehensive income in respect of that entity are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of 
the related assets or liabilities. This may mean that amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive 
income are reclassified to profit or loss. 

(ii) Joint arrangements 

A joint arrangement is a contractual arrangement whereby two or more parties have joint control. Joint control 
is the contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the 
relevant activities require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing control. 

A joint arrangement is classified either as joint operation or joint venture, based on the rights and obligations 
of the parties to the arrangement. 

To the extent the joint arrangement provides the Group with rights to the net assets of the arrangement, the 
arrangement is a joint venture. 

The Group reassesses whether the type of joint arrangement in which it is involved has changed when facts 
and circumstances change. 

Joint venture 

The Group recognises its interest in a joint venture as an investment and accounts for the investment using 
the equity method. 

Under the equity method, the investment is initially recognised at cost, and the carrying amount is increased 
or decreased to recognise the investor’s share of the profit or loss of the investee after the date of acquisition. 

Joint operations 

The Group’s joint operations are joint arrangements whereby the parties (the joint operators) that have joint 
control of the arrangement have rights to the assets, and obligations to the liabilities, relating to the 
arrangement. 

The Group recognises, in relation to its interest in the joint operation: 

 its assets, including its share of any assets held jointly; 

 its liabilities, including its share of any liabilities incurred jointly; 

 its revenue from the sale of its share of the output arising from the joint operation; 

 its share of the revenue from the sale of the output by the joint operation; and 

 its expenses, including its share of any expenses incurred jointly. 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
30 June 2025 

3. Material accounting policies (continued) 

(b) Basis of consolidation (continued) 

(ii) Joint arrangements (continued) 

Joint operations (continued) 

When the Group sells or contributes assets to a joint operation, the Group recognises gains or losses on the 
sale or contribution of assets that are attributable to the interest of the other joint operations. The Group 
recognises the full amount of any loss when the sale or contribution of assets provides evidence of a 
reduction in the net realisable value, or an impairment loss, of those assets. 

When the Group purchases assets from a joint operation, it does not recognise its share of the gains and 
losses until it resells the assets to an independent party. However, a loss on the transaction is recognised 
immediately if the loss provides evidence of a reduction in the net realisable value of the assets to be 
purchased or and impairment loss. 

The accounting policies of the assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses relating to the Group’s interest in a 
joint operation have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the accounting policies 
adopted by the Group. 

 

(c) Investment in subsidiary companies 

Investments in subsidiary companies are carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses in the 
statement of financial position of the Company. 

On disposal of investments in subsidiaries, the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the 
carrying amount of the investments are recognised in profit or loss. 

 

(d) Investment in associate 

The Group recognises its interest in an associate as an investment and accounts for the investment using 
the equity method. 

Under the equity method, the investment is initially recognised at cost, and the carrying amount is increased 
or decreased to recognise the investor’s share of the profit or loss of the investee after the date of acquisition. 

If the Group’s share of losses of an associate equals or exceeds its interest in the associate, the Group 
discontinues recognising its share of further losses. If the associate subsequently reports profits, the Group 
resumes recognising its share of those profits only after its share of the profits equals the share of losses 
not recognised. 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
30 June 2025 

3. Material accounting policies (continued) 

(e) Revenue recognition 

Revenue is measured based on the consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for 
transferring promised goods or services to a customer, excluding amounts collected on behalf of third parties. 

Revenue is recognised when the Group satisfies a performance obligation by transferring a promised good 
or service to the customer, which is when the customer obtains control of the good or service. A performance 
obligation may be satisfied at a point in time or over time. The amount of revenue recognised is the amount 
allocated to the satisfied performance obligation. 

Construction contract revenue 

The Group provides engineering and construction services to customers through contracts. Contract 
revenue is recognised when the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset that the customer 
controls as the asset is created or enhanced. 

For these contracts, revenue is recognised over time by reference to the Group’s progress towards the 
completion of the contract. The measure of progress is determined based on the proportion of contract costs 
incurred to date to the estimated total contract costs (‘input method’). Costs incurred that are not related to 
the contract or that do not contribute towards satisfying a performance obligation (‘PO’) are excluded from 
the measurement of progress and instead are expensed as incurred. 

In some circumstances, such as in the early stages of a contract where the Group may not be able to 
reasonably measure its progress but expects to recover the contract costs incurred, contract revenue is 
recognised only to the extent of the contract costs incurred until such time when the Group can reasonably 
measure its progress. 

Contract modifications that do not add distinct goods or services are accounted for as a continuation of the 
original contract and the change is recognised as a cumulative adjustment to revenue at the date of 
modification. 

The amount of revenue recognised is based on the estimated transaction price, which comprises the 
contractual price, adjusted for expected returns. Estimates of revenues, costs or extent of progress toward 
completion are revised if circumstances change. Any resulting increases or decreases in estimated revenues 
or costs are reflected in the profit or loss in the period in which the circumstances that give rise to the revision 
become known by management and included in the transaction only to the extent that is highly probable that 
a significant reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not occur. 

Estimates of revenues, costs or the extent of progress toward completion are revised if circumstances 
change. Any resulting increases or decreases in estimated revenues or costs are reflected in profit or loss 
in the period in which the circumstances that give rise to the revision become known by management. 

At the end of each reporting date, the Group updates its assessment of the estimated transaction price, 
including its assessment of whether an estimate of variable consideration is constrained. The corresponding 
amounts are adjusted against revenue in the period in which the transaction price changes. 

The period between the transfer of the promised services and customer payment may exceed one year. For 
such contracts, there is no significant financing component present as the payment terms are an industry 
practice to protect the customers from the performing entity’s failure to adequately complete some or all of 
its obligations under the contract. As a consequence, the Group does not adjust any of the transaction prices 
for the time value of money. 

The customer is invoiced on a milestone payment schedule. If the value of the goods transferred by the 
Group exceeds the payments, a contract asset is recognised. If the payments exceed the value of the goods 
transferred, a contract liability is recognised. 

For costs incurred in fulfilling the contract which is within the scope of another AASB/SFRS(I) (e.g. 
Inventories), these have been accounted for in accordance with those other AASB/SFRS(I). If these are not 
within the scope of another AASB/SFRS(I), the Group will capitalise these as contract cost assets only if (a) 
these costs relate directly to a contract or an anticipated contract which the Group can specifically identify; 
(b) these costs generate or enhance resources of the Group that will be used in satisfying (or in continuing 
to satisfy) performance obligations in the future; and (c) these costs are expected to be recovered. 
Otherwise, such costs are recognised as an expense immediately. 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
30 June 2025 

3. Material accounting policies (continued) 

(e) Revenue recognition (continued) 

Sale of goods and services 

Revenue from the sale of goods and services in the ordinary course of business are recognised when the 
Group satisfies a PO by transferring control of a promised good or service to the customer. The amount of 
revenue recognised is the amount of the transaction price allocated to the satisfied PO. 

The transaction price is allocated to each PO in the contract on the basis of the relative stand-alone selling 
prices of the promised goods or services. The individual standalone selling price of a good or service that 
has not previously been sold on a stand-alone basis, or has a highly variable selling price, is determined 
based on the residual portion of the transaction price after allocating the transaction price to goods and/or 
services with observable stand-alone selling prices. A discount or variable consideration is allocated to one 
or more, but not all, of the performance obligations if it relates specifically to those performance obligations. 

The transaction price is the amount of consideration in the contract to which the Group expects to be entitled 
in exchange for transferring the promised goods or services. The transaction price may be fixed or variable 
and is adjusted for the time value of money if the contract includes a significant financing component. The 
consideration payable to a customer is deducted from the transaction price if the Group does not receive a 
separate identifiable benefit from the customer. When consideration is variable, the estimated amount is 
included in the transaction price to the extent that it is highly probable that a significant reversal of the 
cumulative revenue will not occur when the uncertainty associated with the variable consideration is 
subsequently resolved. 

Revenue may be recognised at a point in time or over time following the timing of satisfaction of the PO. If a 
PO is satisfied over time, revenue is recognised based on the percentage of completion reflecting the 
progress towards complete satisfaction of that PO. 

The Group considers certain services to be a distinct service as it is both regularly supplied by the Group to 
other customers on a stand-alone basis and is available for customers from other providers in the market. A 
portion of the transaction price is therefore allocated to the maintenance services based on the stand-alone 
selling price of those services. Discounts are not considered as they are only given in rare circumstances 
and are never material. Revenue from the maintenance services is recognised over time. The transaction 
price allocated to these services is recognised as a contract liability at the time of the initial sales transaction 
and is released on a straight-line basis over the period of service. 
 

Rental income 

Rent revenue from investment properties is recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Lease 
incentives granted are recognised as part of the rental revenue. Contingent rentals are recognised as income 
in the period when earned. 

 

(f) Government grants 

Government grants are recognised when there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and 
all attached conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates to R&D expenditure already incurred it 
is recognised in the income statement in the period it became receivable. 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
30 June 2025 

3. Material accounting policies (continued) 

(g) Contract assets and contract liabilities 

A contract asset is recognised when the Group recognises revenue as set out in Note 3(e) before being 
unconditionally entitled to the consideration under the payment terms set out in the contract. Contract assets 
are assessed for expected credit losses (‘ECLs’) in accordance with the policy set out in Note 3(j) and are 
reclassified to receivables when the right to the consideration has become unconditional. 

A contract liability is recognised when the customer pays consideration before the Group recognises the 
related revenue as set out in Note 3(e). A contract liability would also be recognised if the Group has an 
unconditional right to receive consideration before the Group recognises the related revenue. In such cases, 
a corresponding receivable would also be recognised. 

For a single contract with the customer, either a net contract asset or a net contract liability is presented. For 
multiple contracts, contract assets and contract liabilities of unrelated contracts are not presented on a net 
basis. 

 

(h) Income tax 

Income tax expense represents the sum of current tax expense and deferred tax expense. 

Current income tax is recognised at the amount expected to be paid to or recovered from the tax authorities, 
using the tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date. 

Deferred income tax is recognised for all temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and 
liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements except when the deferred income tax arises 
from the initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination 
and affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss at the time of the transaction. 

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised on all temporary differences except for taxable temporary differences 
associated with investments in subsidiaries and joint venture, where the Group is able to control the timing 
of the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in 
the foreseeable future. 

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, carry forward of unused tax 
credits and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available 
against which the deductible temporary differences, and the carry forward of unused tax credits and unused 
tax losses can be utilised except where the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference 
arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination 
and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss. In respect 
of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and interest in joint venture, 
deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that the temporary differences will 
reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against which the temporary differences 
can be utilised. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured: 

at the tax rates that are expected to apply when the related deferred tax asset is realised or the deferred 
income tax liability is settled, based on tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively 
enacted by the balance sheet date; and 

based on the tax consequence that would follow from the manner in which the Group expects, at the balance 
sheet date, to recover or settle the carrying amounts of its assets and liabilities. 

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced to 
the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the 
deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at the end of each 
reporting period and are recognised to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable profit will 
allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered. 

 

 



 

69 CIVMEC FINANCIAL REPORT 2025 

 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
30 June 2025 

3. Material accounting policies (continued) 

(h) Income tax (continued) 

Current income taxes are recognised in profit and loss except to the extent that the tax relates to items 
recognised outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. Management 
periodically evaluates positions taken in the tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax 
regulations are subject to interpretation and establishes provisions where appropriate. 

Deferred tax relating to items recognised outside profit and loss is recognised outside profit and loss. 
Deferred tax items are recognised in correlation to the underlying transaction either in other comprehensive 
income or directly in equity and deferred tax arising from a business combination is adjusted against goodwill 
on acquisition. 

Sales tax 

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of sales tax except: 

 Where the sales tax incurred on a purchase of assets or services is not recoverable from the taxation 
authority, in which case the sale tax is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as 
part of the expense item as applicable; and 

 Receivables and payables that are stated with the amount of sales tax included. 

The net amount of sales tax recoverable from or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of 
receivables or payables in the statements of financial position. 

Relevance of tax consolidation to the Group 

From 1 July 2014 to 3 September 2024, Civmec Singapore Limited (the former parent entity) and its wholly- 
owned Australian tax resident entities formed a tax consolidated group under Australian Taxation Law, with 
Civmec Singapore Limited as head entity of the tax consolidated group. 

From 4 September 2024, the Company and its wholly-owned Australian tax resident entities, including 
Civmec Singapore Limited, continued the tax consolidated group under Australian Taxation Law with the 
Company replacing Civmec Singapore Limited as the new head entity of the tax consolidated group. 

The member of the tax consolidated group are identified in Note 18. 

Under tax consolidation, the Company and its wholly-owned Australian tax resident entity are taxed as a 
single entity. 

Tax expense or benefit, deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets arising from temporary differences of 
the members of the tax consolidated group are recognised in the separate financial statements of the 
members of the tax consolidated group using the ‘stand-alone taxpayer’ approach by reference to the 
carrying amounts in the separate financial statements of each entity and the tax values applying under tax 
consolidation. Current tax liabilities and assets and deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses and 
tax credits of the members of the tax consolidated group are recognised by the Company (as head entity in 
the tax consolidated group). Due to the existence of a tax funding agreement between the entities in the tax 
consolidated group, amounts are recognised as payable to, or receivable by, the Company and each 
member of the Group in relation to the tax contribution amounts paid or payable between the parent entity 
and the other members of the tax consolidated group in accordance with the agreement. 

Nature of Tax Funding Arrangements and Tax Sharing Agreements 

Entities within the tax consolidated group have entered into a tax funding agreement and a tax sharing 
agreement with the head entity (previously with Civmec Singapore Limited and now with the Company). 
Under the terms of the tax funding agreement, the Company and each of the entities in the tax consolidated 
group have agreed to pay a tax equivalent payment to or from the head entity, based on the current tax 
liability or current tax asset of the entity. The tax sharing agreement entered into between members of the 
tax consolidated group provides for the determination of the allocation of income tax liabilities between the 
entities should the head entity default on its tax payment obligations or if an entity should leave the tax 
consolidated group. 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
30 June 2025 

3. Material accounting policies (continued) 

(i) Foreign currency translation 

Functional and presentation currency 

The financial statements of each entity in the Group are measured using the currency that best reflects the 
economic substance of the underlying events and circumstances relevant to each entity (the ‘functional 
currency’). The financial statements are presented in Australian Dollars (‘A$’), which is the functional 
currency of the Company. 

Transactions and balances 

In preparing the financial statements of the individual entities, transactions in currencies other than the 
entity’s functional currency (‘foreign currencies’) are recognised at the rates of exchange prevailing at the 
dates of the transactions. At the end of each reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign 
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. 

Currency translation differences resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation 
of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the closing rates at the balance sheet 
date are recognised in profit or loss, unless they arise from borrowings in foreign currencies and other 
currency instruments designated and qualifying as net investment hedges and net investment in foreign 
operations. Those currency translation differences are recognised in the currency translation reserve in the 
consolidated financial statements and transferred to profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on disposal of 
the foreign operation. 

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated. 

Group companies 

The consolidated results and financial position of foreign operations whose functional currency is different 
from the Group’s presentation currency are translated into the presentation currency as follows: 

 Assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position presented are translated at the closing 
rate at the date of that statement; 

 Income or expense for each statements presenting profit or loss and other comprehensive income 
(i.e. including comparatives) are translated at exchange rates at the dates of the transactions; and 

 All resulting currency translation differences are recognised in other comprehensive income and 
accumulated in the currency translation reserve. 

Exchange differences arising on translation of foreign operations are transferred directly to the Group’s 
foreign currency translation reserve in the statement of financial position. These differences are recognised 
in other comprehensive income in the period in which they are incurred.  

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or 
a disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation or loss of joint control 
over a jointly controlled entity that includes a foreign operation), all of the accumulated exchange differences 
in respect of that operation attributable to the Group are reclassified to profit or loss. Any exchange 
differences that have previously been attributed to non-controlling interests are derecognised, but they are 
not reclassified to profit or loss. 
  



 

71 CIVMEC FINANCIAL REPORT 2025 

 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
30 June 2025 

3. Material accounting policies (continued) 

(j) Financial assets 

Classification and measurement 

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following measurement categories: 

 Amortised cost; 

 Fair value through other comprehensive income (‘FVOCI’); and 

 Fair value through profit or loss (‘FVPL’). 

The classification depends on the Group’s business model for managing the financial assets as well as the 
contractual terms of the cash flows of the financial asset. 

Financial assets with embedded derivatives, if any, are considered in their entirety when determining 
whether their cash flows are solely payment of principal and interest. 

The Group reclassifies debt instruments when and only when its business model for managing those assets 
changes. 

Initial recognition 

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial 
asset not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition 
of the financial asset. Transaction costs of financial assets carried at fair value through profit or loss are 
expensed in profit or loss. 

Subsequent measurement 

Debt instruments mainly comprise cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables and contract 
assets. 

There are three subsequent measurement categories, depending on the Group’s business model for 
managing the asset and the cash flow characteristics of the asset: 

 Amortised cost: Debt instruments that are held for collection of contractual cash flows where those 
cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest are measured at amortised cost. A 
gain or loss on a debt instrument that is subsequently measured at amortised cost and is not part of 
a hedging relationship is recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised or impaired. 
Interest income from these financial assets is included in interest income using the effective interest 
rate method. 

 FVOCI: Debt instruments that are held for collection of contractual cash flows and for sale, and where 
the assets’ cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest, are classified as FVOCI. 
Movements in fair values are recognised in Other Comprehensive Income (‘OCI’) and accumulated 
in fair value reserve, except for the recognition of impairment gains or losses, interest income and 
foreign exchange gains and losses, which are recognised in profit and loss. When the financial asset 
is derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in OCI is reclassified from equity 
to profit or loss and presented in ‘other income / other expenses’. Interest income from these financial 
assets is recognised using the effective interest rate method and presented in ‘interest income’, if 
any. 

 FVPL: Debt instruments that are held for trading as well as those that do not meet the criteria for 
classification as amortised cost or FVOCI are classified as FVPL. Movement in fair values and interest 
income is recognised in profit or loss in the period in which it arises and presented in ‘other income / 
other expenses’, if any. 
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3. Material accounting policies (continued) 

(j) Financial assets (continued) 

Recognition and derecognition 

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on trade date - the date on which the 
Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. 

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets have 
expired or have been transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of 
ownership. 

On disposal of a debt instrument, the difference between the carrying amount and the sale proceeds is 
recognised in profit or loss. Any amount previously recognised in other comprehensive income relating to 
that asset is reclassified to profit or loss. 

Impairment 

The Group assesses on a forward-looking basis the expected credit loss (‘ECL’) associated with its debt 
financial assets carried at amortised cost and FVOCI. The impairment methodology applied depends on 
whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk. ECL are probability-weighted estimates of credit 
losses. Credit losses are measured at the present value of all cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the 
cash flows due to the entity in accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to 
receive). ECL are discounted at the effective interest rate of the financial asset. 

For trade receivables and contract assets, the Group applies the simplified approach permitted by AASB 
9/SFRS(I) 9, which requires expected lifetime losses to be recognised from initial recognition of the 
receivables. 

For other receivables, the Group applies the general approach. For the purpose of impairment assessment 
for other receivables, the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to 12-month ECL, which reflects 
the low credit risk of the exposures. 
Credit-impaired financial assets 

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated 
future cash flows of the financial asset have occurred. At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether 
financial assets carried at amortised cost are credit-impaired. 

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the observable data about the following events: 

 Significant financial difficulty of the borrower or issuer; 

 A breach of contract such as a default or past due; 

 The lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s financial 
difficulty, having granted to the borrower or a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not other 
consider (e.g. the restructuring of a loan or advance by the Group on terms that the Group would not 
consider otherwise); 

 It is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or 

 The disappearance of an active market for a security because of financial difficulties. 

Write-off policy 

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information indicating that the counterparty is in severe 
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery. Financial assets written off may still be 
subject to recovery efforts under the Group’s recovery procedures. Any recoveries made are recognised in 
profit or loss. 
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3. Material accounting policies (continued) 

(k) Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits held at call with banks, other short-term highly 
liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less, and bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are 
shown within short-term borrowings in current liabilities on the statement of financial position. 
 

(l) Property, plant and equipment 

(i) Recognition and measurement 

Freehold land and buildings 

The Group is using the revaluation model for this class of property. Under the revaluation model, freehold 
land and buildings are initially recognised at cost. Such costs, including the construction costs and borrowing 
costs that are eligible for capitalisation, are subsequently carried at their revalued amount, being the fair 
value at the date of revaluation, less any subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent 
accumulated impairment losses. 

Revaluations are performed with sufficient regularity such that the carrying amount do not differ materially 
from those that would be determined using fair values at the end of the reporting period. 

Freehold land and buildings are revalued by independent professional valuers on triennial basis and 
whenever their carrying amounts are likely to differ materially from their revalued amounts. When an asset 
is revalued, any accumulated depreciation at the date of revaluation is eliminated against the gross carrying 
amount of the asset. The net amount is then restated to the revalued amount of the asset. 

Increases in carrying amounts arising from revaluation are recognised in other comprehensive income, 
unless they offset previous decreases in the carrying amounts of the same asset, in which case, they are 
recognised in profit or loss. Decreases in carrying amounts that offset previous increases of the same asset 
are recognised in other comprehensive income. All other decreases in carrying amounts are recognised in 
profit or loss. 
 

Other property, plant and equipment 

All other items of property are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment 
losses. In the event the carrying amount of plant and equipment is greater than its estimated recoverable 
amount, the carrying amount is written down immediately to its estimated recoverable amount and 
impairment losses recognized either in profit or loss or as a revaluation decrease if the impairment losses 
relate to a revalued asset. A formal assessment of recoverable amount is made when impairment indicators 
are present (refer to Note 4 for details of critical judgements of impairment of property, plant and equipment). 

The cost of fixed assets constructed within the Group includes the cost of materials, direct labour, borrowing 
costs and an appropriate proportion of fixed and variable overheads. 

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as 
appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the 
Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to 
profit or loss during the financial period in which they are incurred. 
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3. Material accounting policies (continued) 

(l) Property, plant and equipment (continued) 

(ii) Depreciation 

The depreciable amount of all fixed assets including buildings and capitalised leased assets, but excluding 
freehold land, is depreciated on a straight-line basis over the asset’s useful life from the time the asset is 
held ready for use. Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the shorter of either the unexpired period 
of the lease or the estimated useful lives of the improvements. Assets under construction are not depreciated 
as they are not yet ready for their intended use as at the end of the reporting period. 

The depreciation rates used for each class of depreciable assets are: 

Class of Fixed Assets Depreciation Rate 

Buildings 2% - 33% 

Plant and equipment 3% - 33% 

Leasehold land 1% - 2% 

Leased assets 5% - 33% 

Small tools 5% - 33% 

Motor vehicles 5% - 20% 

Office and IT equipment 5% - 33% 

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each 
reporting period. 

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying 
amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount. 

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with the carrying amount. These 
gains or losses are included in profit or loss. 

 

(m) Investment properties 

Investment properties, which are properties held to earn rental income and/or for capital appreciation 
(including property under construction for such purposes and land under operating leases that is held for 
long-term capital appreciation or for a current indeterminate use), are measured initially at its cost, including 
transaction costs. 

Buildings 

Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are measured at fair value, determined annually by 
independent professional valuers on the highest-and-best use basis. Gains and losses arising from changes 
in the fair value of investment properties are included in profit or loss in the period in which they arise. 

Leasehold land 

Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are accounted for in accordance with the cost model 
that is cost less accumulated depreciation and less accumulated impairment losses. The depreciation is 
calculated on a straight-line basis over its lease term. 

Investment properties are subject to renovations or improvements at regular intervals. The cost of major 
renovations and improvements are capitalised and the carrying amounts of the replaced components are 
recognised in profit or loss. The cost of maintenance, repairs and minor improvements are recognised in 
profit or loss when incurred. 
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3. Material accounting policies (continued) 

(m) Investment properties (continued) 

Investment properties are derecognised when either they have been disposed of or when the investment 
property is permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefit is expected from its disposal. 
Any gain or loss on the retirement or disposal of an investment property (calculated as the difference 
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is recognised in profit or loss in 
the year of retirement or disposal. 

Transfers are made to or from investment property only when there is a change in use. For a transfer from 
investment property to owner occupied property, the deemed cost for subsequent accounting is the fair value 
at the date of change in use. 

When the use of a property changes from owner-occupied to investment property, the property is 
remeasured to fair value and reclassified accordingly. Any gain arising on remeasurement is recognised in 
profit or loss to the extent that it reverses a previous impairment loss on the specific property, with any 
remaining gain recognised in other comprehensive income and presented in the revaluation reserve in 
equity. Any loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss. 

When the property is sold, the related amount in the revaluation reserve is transferred to retained earnings. 

 

(n) Impairment of non-financial assets 

Non-financial assets are tested for impairment whenever there is any indication that these assets may be 
impaired. 

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its non-financial assets to 
determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such 
indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the 
impairment loss (if any), on an individual asset. 

Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the 
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. Where a reasonable and 
consistent basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also allocated to individual cash- 
generating units, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units for which a 
reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified. 

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, 
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that 
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which 
the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted. 

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying 
amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. 
The difference between the carrying amount and recoverable amount is recognised as an impairment loss 
in profit or loss. 

An assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication that previously 
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. 

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) 
is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount 
does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been 
recognised for the asset (or cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is 
recognised immediately in profit or loss. 
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3. Material accounting policies (continued) 

(o) Provisions 

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, 
for which it is more likely than not that an outflow of economic benefits will result and that outflow can be 
reliably measured. 

Provisions are measured using the best estimate of the amounts required to settle the obligation at the end 
of the reporting period. If it is no longer probable that an outflow of economic resources will be required to 
settle the obligation, the provision is reversed. If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions 
are discounted using a current pre-tax rate that reflects, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. 
When discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as a finance 
cost. 

 

(p) Financial liability and equity instruments issued by the Group 

Classification as debt or equity 

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the 
substance of the contractual arrangement. 

Financial liabilities 

An entity shall recognise a financial liability on its statement of financial position when, and only when, the 
entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. 

Financial liability is recognised initially at fair value plus, in the case of a financial liability not at fair value 
through profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue. 

After initial recognition, financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest rate method. Gains and losses are recognised in profit and loss when the liabilities are derecognised, 
and through amortisation process. 

Borrowings 

Borrowings are initially measured at fair value, net of transaction costs and are subsequently measured at 
amortised cost using the effective interest method, with interest expense recognised on an effective yield 
basis. 

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability and of 
allocating interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly 
discounts estimated future cash payments through the expected life of the financial liability, or, where 
appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying amount on initial recognition. 

Borrowings are presented as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer 
settlement for at least 12 months after the reporting date. 

Derecognition of financial liabilities 

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, 
cancelled or expired. 

 

(q) Borrowing costs 

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of assets that necessarily 
take a substantial period of time to prepare for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of these 
assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale. All other borrowing 
costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred. 
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3. Material accounting policies (continued) 

(r) Leases 

The Group as Lessee 

At the inception of the contract, the Group assesses if the contract contains a lease. A contract contains a 
lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange 
for consideration. Reassessment is only required when the terms and conditions of the contract are changed. 

The Group recognises right-of-use assets and lease liabilities at the date which the underlying assets 
become available for use. Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, which comprises the initial 
measurement of lease liabilities adjusted for any lease payments made at or before the commencement 
dates, plus any initial direct costs incurred, less any lease incentives received. Any initial direct costs that 
would not have been incurred if the lease had not been obtained are added to the carrying amount of the 
right-of-use assets. 

Right-of-use assets are subsequently depreciated using the straight-line method from the commencement 
dates to the earlier of the end of the useful lives of the right-of-use assets or the end of the lease terms. The 
estimated useful lives of right-of-use assets are determined on the same basis as those of property, plant 
and equipment. In addition, the right-of-use assets are periodically reduced by impairment losses, if any, 
and adjusted for certain remeasurements of the corresponding lease liabilities. The Group presents its right- 
of-use assets in ‘Property, plant and equipment’ and lease liabilities in ‘Lease liabilities’ in the statements of 
financial position. 

The initial measurement of lease liabilities is measured at the present value of the lease payments 
discounted using the implicit rate in the lease, if the rate can be readily determined. If that rate cannot be 
readily determined, the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate. 

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise the following: 

 Fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives receivables; 

 Variable lease payments that are based on an index or rate, initially measured using the index or rate 
as at the commencement date; 

 Amounts expected to be payable under residual value guarantees; 

 The exercise price of a purchase option if it is reasonably certain to exercise the option; and 

 Payment of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the Group exercising that 
option. 

For contracts that contain both lease and non-lease components, the Group allocates the consideration to 
each lease component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of the lease and non-lease components. 
The Group has elected not to separate lease and non-lease components for property leases; instead, these 
are accounted for as one single lease component. 

Lease liabilities are measured at amortised cost, and are remeasured when: 

 There is a change in future lease payments arising from changes in an index or rate; 

 There is a change in the Group’s assessment of whether it will exercise lease extension and 
termination options; 

 There is a change in the Group’s estimate of the amount expected to be payable under a residual 
value guarantee; or 

 There is a modification to the lease term. 

When lease liabilities are remeasured, corresponding adjustments are made against the right-of-use assets. 
If the carrying amounts of the right-of-use assets have been reduced to zero, the adjustments are recorded 
in profit or loss. The Group has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for short- 
term leases that have lease terms of 12 months or less, as well as leases of low value assets. 

Variable lease payments that are based on an index or a rate are included in the measurement of the 
corresponding right-of-use assets and lease liabilities. Other variable lease payments are recognised in profit 
or loss when incurred. 

 



 

78 CIVMEC FINANCIAL REPORT 2025 

 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
30 June 2025 

3. Material accounting policies (continued) 

(r) Leases (continued) 

The Group as Lessor 

Leases of investment properties where the Group retains substantially all risks and rewards incidental to 
ownership are classified as operating leases. Rental income from operating leases (net of any incentives 
given to the lessees) is recognized in income on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

 

(s) Employee benefits 

Defined contribution plans 

The Group participates in the national pension schemes as defined by the laws of the countries in which it 
has operations. Contributions to defined contribution pension schemes are recognised as an expense in the 
period in which the related service is performed. The Group has no further payment obligations once the 
contributions have been paid. 

Provision for employee benefits 

Provisions are made for the Group’s liability for employee benefits arising from services rendered by 
employees to the end of the reporting period. Employee benefits that are expected to be settled within one 
year have been measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liability is settled. Employee benefits 
payable later than one year have been measured at the present value of the estimated future cash outflows 
to be made for those benefits. In determining the liability, consideration is given to employee wage increases 
and the probability that the employee may not satisfy vesting requirements. Those cash flows are discounted 
using the market yields on high quality corporate bonds with terms to maturity that match the expected timing 
of cash flows. 

Share-based payments 
(a) Equity-settled share-based payments 

The grant date fair value of equity-settled share-based payments is recognised as an expense over the 
period when the associated service is rendered (the vesting period), with a corresponding increase in equity. 
Vesting conditions, other than market conditions are used to determine the number of awards that are 
expected to vest, the estimate being adjusted at each period as necessary. If these conditions are not met, 
the cumulative expense recognised in relation to these awards will be nil. At each balance sheet date, the 
Group revises its estimates of the number of shares under rights that are expected to become exercisable 
on the vesting date and recognises the impact of the revision of the estimates in profit or loss, with a 
corresponding adjustment to the Equity-settled employee benefits reserve over the remaining vesting period. 

When an award is cancelled the remaining amount of the grant date fair value that has not already been 
recognised, will be recognised immediately as an expense in the income statement. 
 

(b) Cash-settled share-based payments 

For the cash-settled share-based payments, a liability for the fair value of services received is recognised 
and remeasured at each reporting dated over the vesting period and right up to the date of settlement, with 
changes recognised in profit or loss. At settlement, the value is based on the five-day weighted average 
share price of ASX following the release of audited financial statements. 

No expense is recognised for rights that do not ultimately vest, except for rights where vesting is conditional 
upon a market condition, which are treated as vested irrespective of whether or not the market condition is 
satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or service conditions are satisfied.  

In situations where equity instruments are issued and some or all of the goods or services received by the 
entity as consideration cannot be specifically identified, the unidentified goods or services received (or to be 
received) are measured as the difference between the fair value of the share-based payment and the fair 
value of any identifiable goods or services received at the grant date. This is then capitalised or expensed 
as appropriate. 
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(t) Segment reporting 

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the executive 
committee whose members are responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance of the 
operating segments. 
 

(u) Share capital 

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issuance of new 
ordinary shares are deducted against the share capital account. 

Treasury shares 

When any entity within the Group purchases the Company’s ordinary shares (‘treasury shares’), the 
consideration paid including any directly attributable incremental cost is presented as a component within 
equity attributable to the Company’s equity holders, until they are cancelled, sold or re-issued. 

When treasury shares are subsequently cancelled, the cost of treasury shares are deducted against the 
share capital account if the shares are purchased out of capital of the Company, or against the retained 
earnings of the Company if the shares are purchased out of the earnings of the Company. 

When treasury shares are subsequently sold or re-issued pursuant to the employee share option scheme, 
the cost of treasury shares is reversed from the treasury share account and the realised gain or loss on sale 
or re-issue, net of any directly attributable incremental transaction costs and related income tax, is 
recognised in the capital reserve. 
 

(v) Related parties 

A related party is defined as follows: 

A related party is a person or entity that is related to the entity that is preparing its financial statements 
(referred to as the ‘reporting entity’). 

a. A person or a close member of that person’s family is related to a reporting entity if that person: 

 has control or joint control over the reporting entity; 

 has significant influence over the reporting entity; or 

 is a member of the key management personnel of the reporting entity or of a parent of the 
reporting entity. 

b. An entity is related to a reporting entity if any of the following conditions applies: 

 the entity and the reporting entity are members of the same group (which means that each 
parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the others); 

 one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or joint venture 
of a member of a group of which the other entity is a member); 

 both entities are joint ventures of the same third party; 

 one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the third 
entity; 

 the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either the reporting 
entity or an entity related to the reporting entity. If the reporting entity is itself such a plan, the 
sponsoring employers are also related to the reporting entity; 

 the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a); 

 a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member of the key 
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity); or 

 the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part, provides key management personnel 
services to the reporting entity or to the parent of the reporting entity. 
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4. Critical accounting estimates and judgments 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is required to make judgments, estimates 
and assumptions about the carrying amount of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other 
sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors 
that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates. 

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting 
estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period 
or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods. 

(a) Critical judgments in applying the Group’s accounting policies 

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, the application of judgements that are expected 
to have a significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements are discussed as follows. 

(i) Impairment of trade and other receivables and contract assets 

As at 30 June 2025, the Group’s trade and other receivables and contract assets amounted to A$52,328,000 
(2024: A$94,602,000) and A$154,969,000 (2024: A$173,588,000) respectively, net of allowance for 
impairment, if any, arising from the Group’s different revenue segments as disclosed in Note 32 to the 
financial statements. 

The Group applies the simplified approach to provide for the ECL (‘Expected Credit Losses’) for all trade 
receivables and contract assets at an amount equal to the lifetime ECL. ECLs are a probability weighted 
estimate (based on the Group’s historical experience) measured as the present value of all cash shortfalls 
on default financial assets considering both quantitative and qualitative information and analysis. Factors 
considered in individual assessment are geographical regions in Australia for each segment, payment 
history, past due status and term. No allowance of impairment for trade and other receivables were 
recognised as at 30 June 2025 (2024: Nil). No allowance for impairment of contract assets were recognised 
as at 30 June 2025 (2024: Nil). 

Notwithstanding the above, the Group evaluates the expected credit loss on customers in financial difficulties 
separately. So far as management is aware, there is no major customer in financial difficulties during the 
financial year except for those customers with impairment loss being recognised. 

The Group’s and the Company’s credit risk exposure for trade receivables by different revenue segment are 
set out in Note 33(a). 

(ii) Judgement and method used in estimating construction contract revenue 

As discussed in Note 3(e) to the financial statements, construction contract revenue is recognised over time 
by reference to the Group’s progress towards completion of the contract. The measure of progress is 
determined based on the proportion of contract costs incurred to date to the estimated total contract costs 
(‘input method’). Costs incurred that are not related to the contract or that do not contribute towards satisfying 
a performance obligation (‘PO’) are excluded from the measure of progress and instead are expensed as 
incurred. 

Construction contract revenue comprises the initial amount of revenue agreed in the contract and variations 
in contract work to the extent that is highly probable that a significant reversal in the amount of the cumulative 
revenue will not occur. 

In estimating the variable consideration for contract revenue, the Group uses the expected value amount 
method to estimate the transaction price. The expected value is the sum of probability-weighted amounts in 
a range of possible consideration amounts. Management has relied on historical experience and the work 
of experts, analysed by customers and nature of scope of work, from prior years. 

Management has exercised judgement in applying the constraint on the estimated variable consideration 
that can be included in the transaction price. For variations claims, management has determined that a 
portion of the estimated variable consideration is subject to the constraint as, based on past experience with 
the customers, it is highly probable that a significant reversal in the cumulative amount of revenue recognised 
will occur, and therefore will not be recognised as revenue. 
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4. Critical accounting estimates and judgments (continued) 

(a) Critical judgments in applying the Group’s accounting policies (continued) 

(iii) Legal proceedings 

The Group is exposed to the risk of claims and litigation which can arise for various reasons, including 
changes in scope of work, delay and disputes etc. Given the nature of the business, variation orders, 
additional works and prolongation costs are common. As some of these items could be subjective and hence 
contentious in nature, the Group may from time to time be involved in adjudication or legal processes. 

In making its judgment as to whether it is probable that any such adjudication decisions or litigation will result 
in a liability and whether any such liability can be measured reliably, management relies on past experience 
and the opinion of legal advisors and technical experts. 

In making that overall judgment, management has included in its consideration the likely outcome of the 
claims. Although an adverse outcome of those claims could have a material adverse impact on the financial 
position of the Group, management have taken the view that such a material adverse outcome is very 
unlikely. 
 

(iv) Impairment of property, plant and equipment and investment properties 

The Group assesses impairment of property, plant and equipment and investment properties at each year 
end by evaluating conditions specific to the Group that may lead to impairment of assets. Adjustments are 
made when considered necessary. 

Impairment assessment of property, plant and equipment and investment properties includes considering 
certain indications such as significant changes in asset usage, significant decline in assets’ market value, 
obsolescence or physical damage of an asset, significant under performance relative to the expected 
historical or future operating results and significant negative industry or economic trends. 

No impairment loss on property, plant and equipment and investment properties was recorded for the 
financial years ended 30 June 2025 and 2024. The carrying amount of property, plant and equipment and 
investment properties at 30 June 2025 is A$568,170,000 (2024: A$532,840,000) and A$19,706,000 (2024: 
A$18,459,000) respectively. 

 

(v) Determination of the lease term 

In determining the lease term, management considers all facts and circumstances that create an economic 
incentive to exercise an extension option, or not to exercise a termination option. Extension options (or 
periods after termination options) are only included in the lease term if the lease term is reasonably certain 
to be extended (or not terminated). The lease term is reassessed if an option is actually exercised (or not 
exercised) or the Group becomes obliged to exercise (or not exercise) it. The assessment of reasonable 
certainty is only revised if a significant event or a significant change in circumstances occurs, which affects 
the assessment, and that is within the control of the lessee. For leases of the leasehold land and buildings, 
the following factors are normally the most relevant: 

 If there are significant penalties to terminate (or not extend), the Group is typically reasonably certain 
to extend (or not terminate). 

 If any leasehold improvements are expected to have a significant remaining value, the Group is 
typically reasonably certain to extend (or not terminate). 

 Otherwise, the Group considers other factors including historical lease durations and the costs and 
business disruption required to replace the leased asset. 
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4. Critical accounting estimates and judgments (continued) 

(a) Critical judgments in applying the Group’s accounting policies (continued) 

(vi) Valuation of freehold land and buildings and investment properties 

The Group carries its freehold land and buildings and investment properties at fair values which are 
determined by an independent real estate valuation expert using the highest-and-best use approach which 
is generally the sales comparison approach (i.e. the basis of market value). In arriving at the valuation figure, 
the valuer has taken into consideration the prevailing market conditions and differences between the freehold 
land and building and investment properties and the comparables in terms of location, tenure, size, shape, 
design and layout, age and condition of the buildings, dates of transactions and other factors affecting their 
values. The most significant inputs in this valuation approach are the selling price per square meter and the 
usage of the properties. The estimates are based on local market conditions existing at the reporting date. 

Fair values of buildings with no available market information are determined by the independent real estate 
valuation expert using the depreciated replacement cost method, which involves estimating the current 
replacement cost of the buildings and from which deductions are made to allow for depreciation due to age, 
condition and functional obsolescence. The replacement cost is then added to the land value to derive the 
fair value. The land value is determined based on the direct comparison method with transactions of 
comparable plots of land within the vicinity and elsewhere. In arriving at the valuation figure, the valuation 
expert has taken into consideration the prevailing market condition and differences between the freehold 
land and buildings and the comparable in terms of location, tenure, size, shape, design and layout, age and 
condition, dates of transactions and other factors affecting their values. The most significant inputs into this 
valuation approach are the estimated construction costs, depreciation rates and developer profit margin. 

The carrying amount of the freehold land and buildings and investment properties at the reporting date is 
disclosed in Note 15 and Note 16. If the selling prices and price per unit measurement of the freehold land 
and buildings determined by valuation experts had been 5% higher/lower, the carrying amount of the freehold 
land and buildings and investment properties would have been A$23,899,000 (2024: A$21,840,000) 
higher/lower. 
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4. Critical accounting estimates and judgments (continued) 

(b) Key sources of estimation uncertainty 

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty 
at the end of the reporting period that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year. 
 

(i) Estimation of total contract costs for contracts 

The Group has significant ongoing construction contracts as at 30 June 2025 that are non-cancellable. For 
these contracts, revenue is recognised over time by reference to the Group’s progress towards completion 
of the contract. The measure of progress is determined based on the proportion of contract costs incurred 
to date to the estimated total contract costs (‘input method’). 

Management has to estimate the total contract costs to complete, which are used in the input method to 
determine the Group’s recognition of construction revenue. When it is probable that the total contract costs 
will exceed the total construction revenue, a provision for onerous contracts is recognised immediately. 

Significant assumptions are used to estimate the total contract sum and the total contract costs which affect 
the accuracy of revenue recognition based on the percentage-of-completion and completeness of provision 
for onerous contracts recognised. In making these estimates, management has relied on past experience 
and the work of specialists. 

The Group includes incremental costs of fulfilling the contracts which are the cost of materials and labour 
required to construct the projects. In estimating the forecast costs, the management exercised judgement in 
considering costs that relate directly to the contracts. 

If the estimated total contract sum decreases by 1% from management’s estimates, the Group’s profit before 
income tax will decrease by approximately A$8,106,000 (2024: A$10,335,000). 

If the remaining estimated contract costs increase by 1% from management’s estimates, the Group’s profit 
before income tax will decrease by approximately A$7,176,000 (2024: A$9,144,000). 
 

(ii) Estimation of useful lives of property, plant and equipment and investment properties – 
leasehold land 

The useful lives of assets have been based on historical experience, lease terms and best available 
information for similar items in the industry. These estimations will affect the depreciation expense 
recognised in the financial year. There is no change in the estimated useful lives of plant and equipment and 
investment properties – leasehold land during the current financial year. 

The carrying amount of the Group’s property, plant and equipment and investment properties – leasehold 
land as at 30 June 2025 was A$568,170,000 (2024: A$532,840,000) and A$2,566,000 (2024: A$2,469,000) 
respectively. A 10% difference in the expected useful lives of these assets from management’s estimate 
would result in an approximately A$2,143,000 (2024: A$1,968,000) variance in the Group’s profit before tax. 
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4. Critical accounting estimates and judgments (continued) 

(b) Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued) 

(iii) Income taxes 

The Group has exposure to income taxes of which a portion of these taxes arose from certain transactions 
and computations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of 
business. The Group recognises receivables or liabilities on expected tax issues based on their best 
estimates of the likely taxes recoverable or due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different 
from the amounts that were initially recognised, such differences will impact the income tax and deferred tax 
positions in the period in which such determination is made. The carrying amounts of the Group’s current 
income tax positions as at 30 June 2025 were income tax receivable of A$8,697,000 (2024: A$7,462,000 
payable). The carrying amounts of the Group’s deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities as at 30 June 
2025 are disclosed in Note 10 to the financial statements. 

 

(iv) Employee performance rights 

The Group measures the cost of equity-settled transactions with employees with reference to the fair value 
of the equity instruments at the date at which they are granted. Estimating fair value for share-based payment 
transactions requires determining the most appropriate valuation model, which is dependent on the terms 
and conditions of the grant. 

This estimate also requires determining the most appropriate inputs to the valuation model including the 
expected life of the performance rights, volatility and dividend yield and making assumptions about them. 
 

5. Revenue from contracts with customers 

(a) Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers 

The Group derives revenue from the transfer of goods and services over time and at a point in time as 
follows: 
 2025 

A$’000 
2024 

A$’000 
Over time:   
Revenue from construction contracts 710,883 926,742 
Revenue from the rendering of services 96,560 102,834 

 807,443 1,029,576 

At a point in time: 
  

Revenue from the rendering of services 1,718 2,097 
Revenue from sale of goods 1,425 1,800 

 3,143 3,897 
   
 810,586 1,033,473 

Revenue from the rendering of services 

Contracts where payment is made for the provision of labour and materials without any risk or penalty for 
performance is classified as revenue from the rendering of services. 

Segment analysis 

The segment analysis of the Group is disclosed in Note 32 to the financial statements. 
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5. Revenue from contracts with customers (continued) 

(b) Contract assets and liabilities 

 2025 
A$’000 

2024 
A$’000 

Contract assets 154,969 173,588 
Contract liabilities (71,447) (49,292) 

Contract assets primarily relate to the Group’s right to consideration for work completed but not yet billed at 
the reporting date on construction contracts. The contract assets are transferred to trade receivables when 
the rights become unconditional, which usually occurs when the customer certifies the progress claims. 

Contract liabilities primarily relate to the Group’s obligation to transfer goods or services to customers for 
which the Group has received advances from customers for construction contracts and progress billings 
issued in excess of the Group’s rights to the consideration in respect of construction contract revenue. 

 

(i) Significant changes in contract balances 
  2025 

A$’000 
2024 

A$’000 
Contract assets:   
Contract assets reclassified to trade receivables (103,474) (30,067) 
Changes in measurement of progress 84,855 103,562 
   
Contract liabilities:   
Revenue recognised in the current year that was 

included in the contract liability balance at the 
beginning of the year 40,199 35,931 

Increase due to cash received, excluding amounts 
recognised as revenue during the year (62,354) (40,517) 

In accordance with Note 3(e) to the financial statements, contract assets adjustments relating to 
changes in the estimated transaction price were made following receipt of revised independent 
legal and expert advice on completed contracts. 

 

(ii) Unsatisfied performance obligations 
  2025 

A$’000 
2024 

A$’000 
Aggregate amount of the transaction price allocated 

to contracts that are partially or fully unsatisfied as 
at 30 June 621,673 853,416 

The Group expects that the aggregate amount of the transaction price allocated to unsatisfied performance 
obligations as of 30 June 2025 will be recognised as revenue as the Group continues to perform to complete 
the obligations, which is expected to occur over the next few years up to 2029. The amount disclosed above 
does not include variable consideration which is subject to constraint. 

As permitted under the AASB 15/SFRS(I) 15, the aggregated transaction price allocated to unsatisfied 
contracts of periods of one year or less, or are billed based on time incurred, is not disclosed. 
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6. Other income 
  2025 

A$’000 
2024 

A$’000 
Insurance recoveries 12 383 
Fuel tax rebate 584 785 
Interest income:   

- Bank balances 1,702 3,252 
- Tax authorities 23 73 

 1,725 3,325 
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment 9 64 
Fair value gain on investment property at fair value 

through profit or loss 1,150 730 
Subsidies and incentives 40 32 
Miscellaneous income 32 11 
 3,552 5,330 

Subsidies and incentives 

The Group received Wage Subsidy and Jobs and Skills WA Employer Incentives from the Government for 
hiring eligible participants. 
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7. Profit before income tax 

The following items have been included in arriving at profit before income tax: 

  2025 
A$’000 

2024 
A$’000 

Included in cost of sales:   
Direct materials 89,146 130,174 
Employee benefits (Note 8) 421,675 485,349 
Subcontract works 82,784 155,796 
Workshop and other overheads 98,906 120,015 
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment and 

investment properties – leasehold land (Note 15, 16) 21,338 19,580 
Finance costs on lease liabilities (Note 9) 3,797 3,528 
 717,646 914,442 

 
Included in administrative expenses:   
Audit and review fees:   

- Auditors of the Company1 313 126 
- Other auditors (network firm) - 137 

Non-audit fees: other auditors 155 185 
Business development 609 89 
Communications 3,086 3,080 
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (Note 

15) 95 96 
Non-executive Directors’ fees 354 313 
Employee benefits (Note 8) 17,651 18,545 
Occupancy expenses 563 541 
Company and office costs 2,122 1,185 
Other administrative expenses 663 524 
Tax and other professional fees 4,314 2,446 
Net foreign exchange loss 108 43 
 30,033 27,310 

 
Included in other reversal:   
Reversal of revaluation loss on freehold land and 

buildings2 - (495) 
Note: 
1. Moore Stephens LLP and Moore Australia Audit (WA) (previously as network firm) are engaged as the independent joint auditors to 

review the consolidated financial statements of Civmec Limited and its subsidiaries for the financial year ended 30 June 2025. 

2. The fair value of freehold land and buildings at 2-8 Stuart Drive, Henderson increased as a result of a revaluation carried out 
at 30 June 2024. The net revaluation increase reverses its net revaluation loss previously recognised in prior financial years. 
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8. Employee benefits Expenses 
  2025 

A$’000 
2024 

A$’000 
Included in cost of sales (Note 7):   
Wages and salaries 397,412 456,460 
Contributions to defined contribution plans 21,825 26,252 
Other employee benefits 2,438 2,637 
 421,675 485,349 

 
Included in administrative expenses (Note 7):   
Wages and salaries 14,416 15,348 
Contributions to defined contribution plans 1,446 1,576 
Other employee benefits 336 408 
Share based payment 1,453 1,213 
 17,651 18,545 

 

9. Finance costs 
  2025 

A$’000 
2024 

A$’000 
Corporate market loan and line fees 4,633 4,824 
Lease liabilities 805 801 
Other finance costs 446 430 
 5,884 6,055 
   
Included in cost of sales:   
Lease liabilities (Note 7) 3,797 3,528 
   
Total finance costs 9,681 9,583 

 

10. Income tax expense 
  2025 

A$’000 
2024 

A$’000 
Current income tax 14,126 28,063 
Deferred income tax 4,391 (580) 
 18,517 27,483 
Under/(over) provision in prior years   

- Current income tax 4 71 
- Deferred income tax (482) (472) 

 (478) (401) 
 18,039 27,082 
   
Deferred income tax expense on revaluation of 

freehold land and buildings recognised in other 
comprehensive income 12,586 13,628 
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10. Income tax expense (continued) 

The Group’s tax on profit before income tax differs from the amount that would arise using the 
Australian standard rate of income tax as follows: 
  2025 

A$’000 
2024 

A$’000 
Profit before income tax 60,575 91,491 
   
Income tax at 30% 18,173 27,447 
Add/(deduct) the tax effects of:   
Under provision of current tax expense in prior years 4 71 
Over provision of deferred tax expense in prior years (482) (472) 
Non-deductible expenses 344 36 
 18,039 27,082 
Weighted average effective tax rates 29.8% 29.6% 

As at 30 June 2025, the Group has capital tax losses of approximately A$2,080,000 (2024: A$2,080,000) 
that are available for offset against future capital gains of the companies in which the losses arose, for which 
no deferred tax asset is recognised due to uncertainty of its recoverability. The use of these capital tax losses 
is subject to the agreement of tax authorities and compliance with certain provisions of the tax legislation of 
the respective countries in which the companies operate. The deferred tax assets arising from these capital 
losses amounted to A$624,000 (2024: A$624,000) and are not recognised as there is no reasonable 
certainty that future capital gains will be available to utilise the capital tax losses.  

The tax rate used for the 2025 and 2024 reconciliations above is the corporate tax rate of 30% payable by 
corporate entities in Australia on taxable profits under the tax law in that jurisdiction. The Group’s operations 
are primarily located in Australia. 

Deferred taxes 
  

Opening 
A$’000 

Charged to 
profit & loss 

A$’000 

Charged to 
OCI* 

A$’000 
Closing 
A$’000 

2025 
Property, plant and equipment (82,931) (1,298) (12,586) (96,815) 
Receivables (210) 13 - (197) 
Trade and other payables 2,305 (691) - 1,614 
Provisions 6,908 (2,343) - 4,565 
Leases liabilities 2,606 132 - 2,738 
Others 339 278 - 617 
 (70,983) (3,909) (12,586) (87,478) 
 
2024 
Property, plant and equipment (68,743) (560) (13,628) (82,931) 
Receivables - (210) - (210) 
Trade and other payables 1,452 853 - 2,305 
Provisions 6,578 330 - 6,908 
Leases liabilities 2,402 204 - 2,606 
Others (96) 435 - 339 
 (58,407) 1,052 (13,628) (70,983) 

*Other Comprehensive Income 
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11. Earnings per share 
 
  2025 2024 

Profit attributable to the owners of the Company 
(A$’000) 42,536 64,409 

Share capital (A$’000) 32,812 32,358 
   
Weighted average number of ordinary share issued   

- Basic 508,273,630 507,189,973 
- Diluted 512,079,630 512,478,973 

   
Earnings per ordinary share (A$ cents)   

- Basic 8.37 12.70 
- Diluted 8.27 12.57 

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the consolidated profit after tax attributable to the equity 
holders of the Company, by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial 
year. 

Diluted earnings per share amounts are calculated by adjusting basic earnings per share by the weighted 
average number of shares that would be issued on the conversion of all the dilutive potential ordinary shares 
into ordinary shares. 

As at 30 June 2025, the diluted earnings per share includes the effect of 6,089,000 unissued ordinary shares 
granted under 2024 Civmec Performance Rights Plan due to the performance targets are likely to be met 
(Note 26). The effect of the inclusion is dilutive. (2024: 5,289,000, dilutive). 

 

12. Trade and other receivables 
  2025 

A$’000 
2024 

A$’000 
Current:   
Trade receivables   

- Third parties 51,609 94,076 
- Retention sum receivables 12 12 

 51,621 94,088 
   
Other receivables 707 514 
 52,328 94,602 

 

No impairment loss of trade and other receivables were provided as at 30 June 2025 (2024: Nil). 

The Group’s internal credit evaluation practices and basis for recognition and measurement for expected 
credit losses are disclosed in Note 33(a) to the financial statements. 
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13. Other current assets 
  2025 

A$’000 
2024 

A$’000 
Prepayments 3,343 692 
Consumables inventory 658 701 
 4,001 1,393 

 

14. Cash and cash equivalents 
  2025 

A$’000 
2024 

A$’000 
Cash at bank and on hand 102,940 88,457 

Cash at bank earn interest at floating rates ranging from 0.01% to 4.00% (2024: 0.01% to 4.45%) per annum. 

A floating charge over cash and cash equivalents has been provided for certain debt. 
  



 

92 CIVMEC FINANCIAL REPORT 2025 

 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
30 June 2025 

15. Property, plant and equipment 
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15. Property, plant and equipment (continued) 
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15. Property, plant and equipment (continued) 

Depreciation expenses are classified as follows: 
  2025 

A$’000 
2024 

A$’000 
Included in cost sales 21,277 19,534 
Included in administrative expenses 95 96 
 21,372 19,630 

At the balance sheet date, the details of the Group’s freehold land and buildings are as follows: 

Location Description / Existing use Tenure 

2-8 Stuart Drive, Henderson, 
Western Australia 

Land and buildings / 
Operational readiness and 
logistics support facility 

Freehold 

16 Nautical Drive, Henderson, 
Western Australia 

Buildings on leasehold land / 
Undercover waterfront, 
manufacturing, modularisation 
and maintenance facility 

Leasehold land leases: 

(a) 34-year lease from August 
2010, with further 35 years 
option 

(b) 30-year lease from March 
2014, with further 35 years 
option 

(c) 28-year lease from 
December 2016, with further 
45 years option 

35-39 Old Punt Road, Tomago, 
New South Wales 

Land and buildings / 
Manufacturing facility and 
modular assembly laydown 
area 

Freehold 

Lot 324 Hematite Drive & Lot 325 
Furnace Road, Wedgefield, 
Port Hedland Western Australia 

Land and buildings / 
Manufacturing workshop and 
office facility 

Freehold 

10 Eucla Close, South Hedland, 
Western Australia 

Land and buildings / 
Accommodation support 

Freehold 

45 Bensted Road, Callemondah, 
Gladstone, Queensland 

Land / New facility to be 
constructed 

Freehold 

2 George Mamalis, Callemondah, 
Gladstone, Queensland 

Land and building / Workshop 
and office facility 

Freehold 

Freehold land and buildings carried at fair value 

At 30 June 2025, an independent valuation was carried out by Asset Valuation Advisory on all the freehold 
land and buildings of the Group. The fair value is determined by the valuer on the highest and best use 
approach of each asset. Such valuation was determined using the Sales Comparison approach (to market- 
type properties), Hypothetical Development approach, Income Capitalisation approach and Depreciated 
Replacement Cost (‘DRC’) approach (to non-market-type properties). The fair value has been derived 
through a mix of Level 2 inputs where applicable and Level 3 inputs where the Valuer has deemed Level 2 
inputs to be not applicable. 
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15. Property, plant and equipment (continued) 

Freehold land and buildings carried at fair value (continued) 

Details of the Group’s freehold land and buildings and information about the fair value hierarchy as at 30 
June 2025 and 30 June 2024 are as follows: 

  

Level 1 
A$’000 

Level 2 
A$’000 

Level 3 
A$’000 

Fair value  
as at  

30 June 2025 
A$’000 

Freehold land - 34,735 - 34,735 
Buildings - 11,945 413,963 425,908 

 
  

Level 1 
A$’000 

Level 2 
A$’000 

Level 3 
A$’000 

Fair value  
as at  

30 June 2024 
A$’000 

Freehold land - 29,485 - 29,485 
Buildings - 6,545 384,786 391,331 

Level 2 fair value of the Group’s freehold land and building have been derived using the market data 
approach. Sales prices of comparable properties in close proximity are adjusted for differences in key 
attributes as disclosed in Note 4(a)(vi) to the financial statements. The most significant input in this valuation 
approach is the selling price per square meter and the usage of the property. 

 

Valuation techniques used to derive Level 3 fair values 

The following table shows the information about fair value measurements using significant unobservable 
inputs (Level 3) as at 30 June 2025 and 2024: 

 
 
 

 
Description 

Fair value  
as at 
30 June 
2025 
A$’000 

 
 

 
Valuation 
technique 

 
 

 
Unobservable 
inputs 

 
 

 
Range of inputs 

 

 
Relationship of 
unobservable inputs to fair 
value 

Buildings 413,963 Depreciated 
Replacement 
Cost (DRC) 

Depreciation 
rates 

2% to 33% The higher the 
depreciation rates, the 
lower the fair value 

Estimated 
construction 
costs per 
square metre 

A$1,365 to 
A$7,071 

The higher the 
construction costs, the 
higher the fair value. 

Developer profit 
margin 

5% to 10% The higher the profit 
margin, the higher the fair 
value. 
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15. Property, plant and equipment (continued) 

Freehold land and buildings carried at fair value (continued) 

Valuation techniques used to derive Level 3 fair values (continued)  

The following table shows the information about fair value measurements using significant unobservable 
inputs (Level 3) as at 30 June 2025 and 2024 (continued): 

 
 
 

 
Description 

Fair value as 
at 
30 June 
2024 
A$’000 

 
 

 
Valuation 
technique 

 
 

 
Unobservable 
inputs 

 
 

 
Range of inputs 

 

 
Relationship of 
unobservable inputs to fair 
value 

Buildings 384,786 Depreciated 
Replacement 
Cost (DRC) 

Depreciation 
rates 

2% to 33% The higher the depreciation 
rates, the lower the fair value 

Estimated 
construction 
costs per square 
metre 

A$1,286 to 
A$6,393 

The higher the construction 
costs, the higher the fair 
value. 

Developer profit 
margin 

5% to 10% The higher the profit margin, 
the higher the fair value. 

The following table represents the changes in level 3 items for the financial years ended 30 June 2025 and 
30 June 2024: 

  2025 
A$’000 

2024 
A$’000 

At the beginning of the year 384,786 335,315 
Acquisition 1,050 16,893 
Depreciation (9,840) (8,463) 
Gain on revaluation of buildings 37,967 41,041 
Closing balance 413,963 384,786 

There were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 during the year. 

If the freehold land and building were stated on the historical cost basis, the carrying amount would be as 
follows: 

  2025 
A$’000 

2024 
A$’000 

Freehold land* 22,648 20,042 
Buildings 231,887 225,934 
Accumulated depreciation (48,763) (41,484) 
Net book value 205,772 204,492 
*exclude freehold land under Asset under construction 
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15. Property, plant and equipment (continued) 

Right-of-use assets 

Right-of-use assets acquired under leasing arrangements are presented together with the owned assets of 
the same class. Details of such leased assets are also disclosed in Note 23. 

As at the balance sheet date, the net book value of property, plant and equipment that were under lease 
liabilities was A$72,306,000 (2024: A$67,847,000) (Note 23). 

The carrying amount of property, plant and equipment that are pledged for security are as follows: 

  2025 
A$’000 

2024 
A$’000 

Description Borrowings   
Lease plant and equipment Lease liabilities 38,393 36,167 
Remaining property, plant and 

equipment 
Corporate market loan,  

multi-option 529,777 496,673 
  568,170 532,840 

The details of the borrowings are disclosed in Note 21. 

 

16. Investment properties 
   Buildings 

A$’000 
Leasehold land 

A$’000 
Total 

A$’000 
2025 
Cost or valuation 

 
  

At 1 July 2024 15,990 2,597 18,587 
Addition – ROU - 158 158 
Revaluation increase – recognise 

in profit or loss 1,150 - 1,150 
At 30 June 2025 17,140 2,755 19,895 
    
Accumulated depreciation    
At 1 July 2024 - (128) (128) 
Depreciation for the year - (61) (61) 
At 30 June 2025 - (189) (189) 
    
Net carrying amount    
At 30 June 2025 17,140 2,566 19,706 
 
2024 
Cost or valuation 

 

  
At 1 July 2023 15,260 2,006 17,266 
Addition – ROU - 591 591 
Revaluation increase – recognise 

in profit or loss 730 - 730 
At 30 June 2024 15,990 2,597 18,587 
    
Accumulated depreciation    
At 1 July 2023 - (82) (82) 
Depreciation for the year - (46) (46) 
At 30 June 2024 - (128) (128) 
    
Net carrying amount    
At 30 June 2024 15,990 2,469 18,459 
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16. Investment properties (continued) 

Buildings carried at fair value 

At 30 June 2025, an independent valuation was carried out by Asset Valuation Advisory on the investment 
properties of the Group. The fair value is determined based on significant unobservable inputs and is 
categorised under Level 3 of the fair value measurement hierarchy due to its specialised nature which is not 
readily traded in the marketplace. At the balance sheet date, the investment properties held by the Group is 
as follows: 

Location Description / Existing use Tenure 

1 Welding Pass, Henderson, 
Western Australia 

Buildings on leasehold land / 
Submarine rescue facility 

Leasehold land leases: 
28-year lease from April 2020, with 
further 22 years option 

Leasehold land sub-lease: 
26-year and 4 months lease from 
July 2021, with 2 options to renew 
for a further 3 years each 

The fair value measurement for the investment properties of A$17,140,000 (2024: A$15,990,000) has been 
categorized as a level 3 fair value based on the inputs to the valuation technique used. 

 

Valuation techniques used to derive Level 3 fair values 

The following table shows the information about fair value measurements using significant unobservable 
inputs (Level 3): 

Description 

Fair value 
as at 30 
June 2025 
A$’000 

Valuation 
technique 

 
Unobservable inputs 

 

 
Range of 
inputs 

 
Relationship of unobservable 
inputs to fair value 

Buildings 17,140 Depreciated 
Replacement 
Cost (DRC) 

Depreciation rates 2% The higher the depreciation 
rates, the lower the fair value 

Estimated 
construction costs 
per square metre 

A$1,636 The higher the construction 
costs, the higher the fair 
value. 

Developer profit 
margin 

5% to 8% The higher the profit margin, 
the higher the fair value. 

      

Description 

Fair value 
as at 30 
June 2024 
A$’000 

Valuation 
technique Unobservable inputs 

Range of 
inputs 

Relationship of unobservable 
inputs to fair value 

Buildings 15,990 Depreciated 
Replacement 
Cost (DRC) 

Depreciation rates 2% The higher the depreciation 
rates, the lower the fair value. 

  Estimated 
construction costs per 
square metre 

A$1,491 The higher the construction 
costs, the higher the fair value. 

   Developer profit 
margin 

5% to 8% The higher the profit margin, the 
higher the fair value. 
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16. Investment properties (continued) 
 
Leasehold land carried at cost 

The asset is depreciated on a straight-line basis over its lease term. The depreciation rate used is 2.1%. 

(a) Investment properties is leased to non-related parties under operating leases. 

Amounts recognised in profit or loss for investment properties 
  2025 

A$’000 
2024 

A$’000 
Rental income 351 351 
Direct operating expenses from investment property 

that generate rental income (419) (348) 

 

(b) The carrying amount of investment properties that are pledged for security is as follows: 

  2025 
A$’000 

2024 
A$’000 

Description Borrowings   
Investment properties Corporate market loan,  

multi-option 19,706 18,459 

 

17. Intangible assets 
  2025 

A$’000 
2024 

A$’000 
Goodwill  10 10 

Goodwill has been allocated to the cash-generating unit, Metals and Minerals division. 

Management is of the opinion that the recoverable amount will exceed the carrying amount on the basis that 
this cash generating unit has been generating profit since acquisition and management forecasts the results 
of this subsidiary to be in a net profit position for the financial year ended 30 June 2025. In arriving at this 
assessment, management has determined the recoverable amount using a two (2024: two) years 
forecasting process based on the current order book, projected orders and a consumer price index on direct 
costs and overhead costs. 
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18. Investment in subsidiaries 

The Group’s material subsidiaries are listed below. The ownership interests reflect the Group’s direct interest 
in the ordinary shares of the entity. The proportion of ownership interests held also equals the voting rights 
held by the Group. The country of incorporation is also the principal place of business unless noted 
otherwise. 

   
Equity held by the 

Group 

Name of entity Principal activities 
Country of 
incorporation 

2025 
% 

2024 
% 

Held by the Company     
Civmec Singapore Limited(1)(2) Asset holding company Singapore 100 - 

     
Held by Civmec Singapore Limited 
Civmec Construction &  

Engineering Pty Ltd(1) 
Engineering and 

construction services 
Australia 

100 100 

     
Held by Civmec Construction & Engineering Pty Ltd 
Civmec Holdings Pty Ltd(1) Asset holding company Australia 100 100 
Multidiscipline Solutions Pty Ltd(1) Labour supply Australia 100 100 
Civmec Pipe Products Pty Ltd Asset holding company Australia 83.5 83.5 
Civmec Electrical and 

Instrumentation Pty Ltd(1) Electrical services Australia 100 100 
Forgacs Marine and Defence  

Pty Ltd(1) 
Marine and defence 

services Australia 100 100 
Civmec Construction &  

Engineering Africa Ltd(3) Asset holding company Mauritius - 100 
Note: 
(1) Included in Australia tax consolidated group. 
(2) Previously named Civmec Limited. 
(3) The company was deregistered during the current financial year. 

 

19. Joint operations 

The Group has interests in the following joint operation which is proportionately consolidated: 

Name of entity Principal activities 
Country of 
incorporation 

Ownership interest 
held by the Group 

2025 
% 

2024 
% 

Held by Civmec Construction & Engineering Pty Ltd 
Black & Veatch Civmec JV  

(‘BCJV’)1 
Engineering and 
construction services Australia 50 50 

Civmec Construction & 
Engineering Pty Ltd and  
Seymour Whyte Constructions  
Pty Ltd and WSP Australia Pty  
Ltd (‘Causeway Link Alliance’)2 

Engineering and 
construction services Australia 53.78 53.78 

Notes: 
1. BCJV project is for the design and construction of a wastewater treatment plant upgrade. 
2. Causeway Link Alliance is for the design and construction of the Causeway Pedestrian and Cyclist Bridges in the Perth 

metropolitan area. 
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20. Trade and other payables 
  2025 

A$’000 
2024 

A$’000 
Trade creditors 35,228 58,040 
Sundry payables and accruals 46,244 84,189 
Goods and services tax payable 1,263 5,277 
Other taxes payable 4,100 5,643 
 86,835 153,149 

Trade and other payables are usually paid within 45 days. 

 

21. Borrowings 
  2025 

A$’000 
2024 

A$’000 
Current:   
Corporate market loan – secured [Note 21(a)] - 8,000 
   
Non-current:   
Corporate market loan – secured [Note 21(a)] 60,000 56,000 
 60,000 64,000 

(a) Corporate market loan 

The Group is required by the banks to maintain certain financial ratios such as leverage ratio, tangible net 
worth and debt service cover ratio. As at 30 June 2025, the Group met all of these financial covenants. 

As at 30 June 2025, the Group has a commercial bank facility amounting to A$86 million (2024: A$64 million) 
which was 69.8% utilised (2024: fully utilised). The facility limit reduces by A$2 million per quarter with 
borrowings within A$8 million of the facility limit becoming a current liability. At the balance sheet date, the 
Group does not require any repayments within the next 12 months. Interest rates are variable and ranged 
between 4.98% to 5.55% (2024: 5.02% to 5.47%) per annum during the current financial year. 

 

(b) Multi-option facility 

The Group has a multi-option facility of A$70 million (2024: A$70 million) which was 4.6% utilised as at 30 
June 2025 (2024: not utilised). It can be used for revolving commercial loan, bank guarantees and letter of 
credit. Interest rates are fixed at the time of drawing, except for (1) revolving commercial loan with variable 
interest rates and (2) bank guarantees on which incur with issuance fee and service fee instead of interest. 

General security deed 

Both the commercial bank and multi-option facilities are secured by certain property, plant and equipment 
and investment properties as disclosed in Note 15 and Note 16 to the financial statements. 
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22. Provisions for employee benefits 
  2025 

A$’000 
2024 

A$’000 
Current:   
Provision for short-term employee benefits 13,659 18,455 
   
Non-current:   
Provision for long-term employee benefits 379 493 
 14,038 18,948 

The movements in provisions are as follows: 

  2025 
A$’000 

2024 
A$’000 

Current:   
At the beginning of the year 18,455 17,849 
Provisions made during the year   

- Included in employee benefits 25,948 26,568 
Provisions utilised during the year (31,165) (27,003) 
Reclassified from non-current  421 1,041 
At the end of the year 13,659 18,455 
   
Non-current:   
At the beginning of the year 493 737 
Provisions made during the year   

- Included in employee benefits 91 440 
Adjustment due to change in probability % 340 1,738 
Provisions utilised/reversed during the year (124) (1,381) 
Reclassified to current (421) (1,041) 
At the end of the year 379 493 

Short-term benefits 

The provisions pertain to employee benefits for annual leave, rostered days off and non-vesting personal 
leave that are expected to be settled within 12 months of the reporting date. The liability of long service leave 
that is payable to employees who have completed at least 7 years of continuous employment is also 
classified as current. They are measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liability is settled. 

 

Long-term benefits 

The provisions mainly pertain to employee benefits relating to long service leave. The liability is measured 
as the present value of the expected future payments to be made. The probability of long service leave being 
taken is based upon historical data and the discount rate used ranges from 3.59% to 3.95% (2024: 5.04% 
to 5.53%). 
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23. Leases 

(a) The Group as lessee 

Nature of the Group’s leasing activities 

The Group has entered into leases of land and buildings in respect of its offices, facilities and workshops. 
The Group has the following leases: 

 The Henderson land lease at Lot 804 (16) Nautical Drive, Henderson, Western Australia is for a 34- 
year period from August 2010 with an option to renew for a further 35 years (reasonably certain to be 
exercised). Rent increases as per the CPI Index. 

 The Henderson land lease on extended area at Lot 804 (16) Nautical Drive, Henderson, Western 
Australia is for a 28-year period from December 2016 with an option to renew for a further 45 years 
(reasonably certain to be exercised). Rent increases as per the CPI Index. 

 The Henderson land lease at Lot 101 (1) Welding Pass, Henderson, Western Australia is 28-year 
lease from November 2019 with further 22 years option (reasonably certain to be exercised). Rent 
increases as per the CPI Index. 

 A workshop lease at 4/379 Spearwood Avenue, Bibra Lake, Western Australia is for 3-year lease 
from July 2022 with a first further 2 years option and a second further 3 years option (reasonably 
certain to be exercised). Rent increases 2.5% on each anniversary of the start date on the initial lease 
term and subsequently increases as per CPI index. 

The Group also leases motor vehicles, workshop equipment and office fitout from non-related parties under 
lease liabilities. The Group will obtain the ownership of the leased assets from the lessor at no extra cost at 
the end of the lease term. The average lease term is between 4 and 5 years. 

The present values of lease liabilities are analysed as follows: 

   
Minimum lease 

payments 
A$’000 

Future finance 
charges 
A$’000 

Net present value 
of minimum lease 

payments 
A$’000 

2025 
Current: 

 
  

Within one year 9,939 (4,497) 5,442 
    
Non-current:    
Between two and five years 27,386 (16,022) 11,364 
Later than five years 199,573 (155,868) 43,705 
 226,959 (171,890) 55,069 
 236,898 (176,387) 60,511 
 
2024 
Current: 

 

  
Within one year 10,159 (4,215) 5,944 
    
Non-current:    
Between two and five years 25,327 (14,875) 10,452 
Later than five years 189,888 (148,987) 40,901 
 215,215 (163,862) 51,353 
 225,374 (168,077) 57,297 
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23. Leases (continued) 

(a) The Group as lessee (continued) 

Nature of the Group’s leasing activities (continued) 

Lease liabilities are presented in the statement of financial position as follows: 

  2025 
A$’000 

2024 
A$’000 

Present value of lease liabilities   
Current:   
Within one year 5,442 5,944 
   
Non-current:   
Between two and five years 11,364 10,452 
Later than five years 43,705 40,901 
 55,069 51,353 
 60,511 57,297 

The effective interest rates range from 2.14% to 8.60% (2024: 2.14% to 8.60%) per annum. 

 

Carrying amount of right-of-use assets within Property, Plant and Equipment 
  2025 

A$’000 
2024 

A$’000 
Leasehold land & buildings 33,982 31,679 
Small tools 579 681 
Plant and equipment 31,840 31,501 
Motor vehicles 5,063 3,986 
Office & IT equipment 222 - 
Asset under construction 620 - 
 72,306 67,847 

 

Carrying amount of right-of-use assets within Investment Properties 
  2025 

A$’000 
2024 

A$’000 
Leasehold land & buildings 2,566 2,469 

There was an addition of A$9,614,000 to right-of-use assets during the current financial year (Note 15 and 
Note 16). 
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23. Leases (continued) 

(a) The Group as lessee (continued) 

Amounts recognised in profit or loss 
  2025 

A$’000 
2024 

A$’000 
Depreciation charged for the year:   

- Small tools 101 101 
- Plant and equipment 2,917 2,746 
- Motor vehicles 977 704 
- Leasehold land & building 1,040 981 

   
Interest on lease liabilities (Note 9) 4,602 4,329 
Expenses relating to short-term leases 304 302 
 

(b) The Group as lessor 

The Group sub-leased its investment property under an operating lease which also included pay to build and 
occupy conditions. A net amount of A$9,236,000 was received in advance during the year ended 30 June 
2021 from the sub-lessee as part of the pay to build conditions. Revenue from the advance is being 
recognised over the tenure of the land. The sub-lessee does not have an option to purchase the property at 
the expiry of the lease period. This lease is classified as an operating lease because the risk and rewards 
incidental to ownership of the assets are not substantially transferred. 

Rental income from investment properties is disclosed in Note 16. 

Future minimum rental receivables under non-cancellable operating leases as at the end of the reporting 
period are as follows: 

  2025 
A$’000 

2024 
A$’000 

Present value of rental receivables   
Within one year 346 351 
Between one year and two years 346 343 
Between two years and three years 336 330 
Between three years and four years 336 330 
Between four years and five years 336 330 
Later than five years 4,112 3,584 
 5,813 5,268* 
*Adjusted with revised annual trimmed mean CPI for quarter ended 30 June 2024.  

The present value of rental receivables changes due to the change in CPI. When the CPI rises, indicating 
higher inflation, the present value decreases. Conversely, a drop in CPI indicating lower inflation, which 
increases the present value. The annual trimmed mean CPI was 2.7% to the quarter ended 30 June 2025 
(2024: 4.0%). 
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24. Share capital 

(a) Fully paid ordinary shares 

  30 June 2025 30 June 2024 
  No. of shares A$’000 No. of shares A$’000 
      

At the beginning of the year 507,606,000 32,358* 505,132,000 31,350* 
Share issued during the year    

- Conversion of performance 
rights 937,000 464 2,324,000 897 

- Conversion of share options - - 150,000 111 
Cancellation of treasury shares (15,000) (10) - - 
At the end of the year 508,528,000 32,812 507,606,000 32,358 

* Reclassification of previously vested equity-settled employee benefits relating to prior financial years. 

During the current financial year, all shares held in Civmec Singapore Limited (formerly named Civmec 
Limited) were acquired by Civmec Limited (formerly named Civmec Australia Limited) in exchange for shares 
in Civmec Limited on a 1:1 basis. This transaction was completed under a scheme of arrangement as part 
of the Restructure. 

The ordinary shares of the Company have no par value. All issued ordinary shares are fully paid. The holders 
of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote 
per share without restrictions at meetings of the Company. All shares rank equally with regard to the 
Company’s residual assets. 

During the current financial year, 937,000 shares were issued pursuant to vesting and conversion of 
performance rights held by key management personnel (‘KMP’) and other management. 

 

(b) Treasury shares 

During the current financial year, all the 15,000 treasury shares were cancelled in Civmec Singapore Limited. 

As at 30 June 2025, there were no treasury shares held by the Company (2024: 15,000). 
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25. Dividends 

Dividends are recognised as a liability at the time the Directors resolve to pay or declare the dividend. 

(a) Dividends recognised during the year 

 

Franked / 
unfranked 

Dividend 
per share 
(Australia 

cents) 
Total 

A$’000 
2025  
2024 Final ordinary dividend: paid on 25 Oct 2024 Franked 3.5 17,798 
2025 Interim ordinary dividend: paid on 11 Apr 2025 Franked 2.5 12,713 
   30,511 
    
2024    
2023 Final ordinary dividend – paid on 14 Dec 2023 Franked 3.0 15,228 
2024 Interim ordinary dividend: paid on 15 Apr 2024 Franked 2.5 12,690 
   27,918 

(b) Unrecognised amounts 

  2025 
A$’000 

2024 
A$’000 

Final franked dividends of 3.5 Australia cents per 
ordinary share for the financial year ended 30 
June 2025 (30 June 2024: 3.5 Australia cents) 17,798 17,766 

 

(c) Franking credit balance 

  2025 
A$’000 

2024 
A$’000 

Franking credits available for subsequent reporting 
periods based on a tax rate of 30% (2024: 30%) 69,668 52,465 

Impact on the franking account of dividends 
declared by the Board (7,628) (7,614) 

 62,040 44,851 

Tax rates 

The tax rate at which paid dividends have been franked is 30% (2024: 30%). Dividends payable will be 
franked at the rate of 30% (2024: 30%). 

 

Recognition and measurement 

A provision for dividends is not recognised as a liability unless the dividends are declared on or before the 
reporting date. 
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26. Share-based payments 

Performance rights plan 

Following the Restructure, the 5,289,000 existing performance rights issued under Civmec Singapore 
Limited (formerly named Civmec Limited) were cancelled and replaced with new performance rights issued 
under Civmec Limited (formerly named Civmec Australia Limited). These were issue equal in number to, 
and on the same terms and conditions as the existing performance rights, with the exception that the new 
performance rights, on conversion, convert into shares. The new performance rights are subject to the same 
vesting criteria. 

The new Performance Rights Plan (‘PRP’) for key senior executives of the Group was approved and adopted 
at the Extraordinary General Meeting (‘EGM’) held on 1 August 2024. The PRP is called the ‘2024 Civmec 
Key Senior Executives Performance Rights Plan’. 

A Performance Right refers to a right to one issued ordinary share of the Company granted under the scheme 
for no consideration. To the extent the gateway hurdles are satisfied, 100% of the vesting will be based on 
the absolute earnings per share (aEPS) outcome. aEPS is based on the achievement of certain 
predetermined performance targets determined by the Committee. The Committee has the discretion to 
determine whether the performance targets have been met. 

The balances of outstanding Performance Rights are as follows: 

 

Issued Vested 

Forfeited/ 
Lapsed/ 
Expired Balance 

Fair value  
per right 
(AUD)1 

Tranche 5:  
Performance period 1 July 2021 
to 30 June 2024  
(Granted in FY2022) 1,773,000 (937,000) (836,000) - $0.50 

Tranche 6: 
Performance period 1 July 2022 
to 30 June 2025 
(Granted in FY2023) 2,134,000 - (84,000) 2,050,000 $0.51 

Tranche 7: 
Performance period 1 July 2023 
to 30 June 2026 
(Granted in FY2024) 1,817,000 - (61,000) 1,756,000 $0.63 

Tranche 8: 
Performance period 1 July 2024 
to 30 June 2027 
(Granted in FY2025) 2,283,000 - - 2,283,000 $0.69 

Balance as at 30 June 2025    6,089,000  
Note: 
1. The fair value per right at grant for all tranches is determined using the Black-Scholes Model. This takes into account the 

share price at the grant date, the term of the right, the exercise price, expected price volatility, exercise probability, the risk-
free interest rate over the term of the right, and the expected dividend yield. 

For the financial year ended 30 June 2025, the Group has recognised A$354,000 of equity-settled share- 
based payment expense (2024: A$365,000). 
  



 

109 CIVMEC FINANCIAL REPORT 2025 

 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
30 June 2025 

27. Asset revaluation reserve 
  2025 

A$’000 
2024 

A$’000 
At the beginning of the year 160,219 129,577 
Gain on revaluation of freehold land and buildings 42,501 44,270 
Deferred tax liability arising on revaluation (Note 10) (12,586) (13,628) 
At the end of the year 190,134 160,219 
 

28. Other reserves 
  2025 

A$’000 
2024 

A$’000 
Merger reserve 7,578 7,578 
Waiver of loan payable to a related party 277 277 
Equity-settled employee benefits reserve 1,216 1,567* 
 9,071 9,422 
* Reclassification of previously vested equity-settled employee benefits relating to prior financial years. 

(a) Merger reserve 

Pursuant to the completion of the previous Restructuring Exercise in financial year 2012, the share capital 
of Civmec Construction & Engineering Pty Ltd and Controlled Entities was adjusted to merger reserve based 
on the ‘pooling of interest method’. 

 

(b) Equity-settled employee benefits 

The equity-settled employee benefits reserve relates to share options granted to employees under the 
employee share option plan and performance rights. Following the expiry of employee share option plan, 
the associated reserve balance was transferred to retained earnings, reflecting the lapse of the related equity 
instruments. 

 

29. Capital expenditure commitments 

The Group has contracted capital expenditure commitments at the reporting date but not recognised in the 
financial statement as follows: 
  2025 

A$’000 
2024 

A$’000 
Plant and equipment purchases 254 3,316 
Capital projects 39 1,335 
 293 4,651 
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30. Contingent liabilities 

The Group is, in the normal course of business, required to provide guarantees in respect of their contractual 
performance related obligations. These guarantees and indemnities only give rise to a liability in the event 
that it is unable to perform its contractual obligations. 

As at 30 June 2025, the Group has given the following: 

  2025 
A$’000 

2024 
A$’000 

Bank guarantees 2,442 2,442 
Surety bond facility 183,608 137,266 
 186,050 139,708 

The surety bond facility is provided for the provision of performance bonds to customers of the Group. It has 
a limit of A$400 million (2024: A$403 million) as at 30 June 2025. 

There were no contingent assets recognised as at 30 June 2025 or 30 June 2024. 

 

31. Related party transactions 

The Group’s main related parties are as follows: 

Entities exercising control over the Group 

The largest shareholders are James Finbarr Fitzgerald and Olive Theresa Fitzgerald (acting as trustees for 
the JF & OT Fitzgerald Family Trust) (19.22%) and Goldfirm Pty Ltd (acting as trustee for the Kariong 
Investment Trust) (19.18%). Patrick John Tallon is a beneficiary of the Kariong Investment Trust. 

 

Key management personnel 

Any person having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the 
entity, directly or indirectly, including any director (whether executive or otherwise) of that entity is considered 
key management personnel. Disclosures relating to Key Management Personnel is included in the 
Remuneration Report that is audited and forms part of the Directors’ report. 

The aggregate remuneration provided, excluding statutory cost, to key management personnel is as follows: 

  2025 
A$’000 

2024 
A$’000 

Short-term employee benefits 3,609 3,236 
Long term benefits (68)1 (42)1 
Post-employment benefits 117 82 
Share-based payments 1,092 1,329 
Non-executive Directors’ fees 354 313 
 5,104 4,918* 
Note: 
*Figures have been updated to align with the criteria used in the current financial year. 
1. Negative amount represents leave taken value greater than leave accrued during the year. 
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31. Related party transactions (continued) 

Directors’ interest in employee share benefit plans 

At the end of the reporting date, the total number of outstanding share options and performance rights that 
were issued/allocated to the directors and key management personnel under existing employee benefit 
schemes is given below: 
  2025 

No. 
2024 
No. 

Performance rights   
Directors 996,000 1,057,000 
Key management personnel 332,000 -* 
* Figures have been updated to align with the criteria used in the current financial year. 

Other related parties 

Other related parties include immediate family members of key management personnel and entities that are 
controlled or significantly influenced by those key management personnel, individually or collectively with 
their immediate family members. 

 

Transactions with related parties 

Transactions between related parties are on normal commercial terms and conditions no more favourable 
than those available to other parties unless otherwise stated. 

Newpark WA Pty Ltd (as Trustee for The Fitzgerald Newpark Family Trust) purchased steel and other 
materials at arm’s length from Civmec Construction & Engineering Pty Ltd on 13 September 2024, valued 
at A$142,000 (excluding GST) (2024: Nil). 

 

32. Financial information by segments 

Management has determined the operating segments based on the internal reports which are regularly 
reviewed by the Operations Management that are used to make strategic decisions. 

The Operations Management comprises of the Executive Chairman, Chief Executive Officer, Chief 
Operating Officer, Chief Financial Officer and the department heads of each operating segment. 

The business is managed primarily on the basis of different products and services as the diversification of 
the Group’s operations inherently have notably different risk profiles and performance assessment criteria. 

Reportable segments disclosed are based on aggregating operating segments where the segments are 
considered to have similar economic characteristics and are also similar with respect to the following: 

 the products sold and/or services provided by the segment; 

 the manufacturing process; 

 the type or class of customer for the products or services; 

 the distribution method; and 

 any external regulatory requirements. 
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32. Financial information by segments (continued) 

The Group is organised into the following main business segments: 

 Energy 

 Resources 

 Infrastructure, Marine & Defence 

The business activities include heavy engineering, shipbuilding, modularisation, SMP (structural, 
mechanical, piping), EIC (electrical, instrumentation and control), precast concrete, site civil works, industrial 
insulation, maintenance, surface treatment, refractory and access solutions. 

Although the Operations Management receives separate reports for each project in the Energy, Resources, 
and Infrastructure, Marine & Defence businesses, these have been aggregated into the respective reportable 
segments as they have similar long-term average gross margins. 

 

Basis of accounting for purpose of reporting by operating segments 

(i) Accounting policies adopted 

Unless stated otherwise, all amounts reported to the Board of Directors, being the chief decision makers 
with respect to operating segments, are determined in accordance with accounting policies that are 
consistent to those adopted in the consolidated financial statements of the Group. 

 

(ii) Inter-segment transactions 

An internally determined transfer price is set for all inter-segment sales. This price is reviewed quarterly and 
is based on what would be realised in the event the sale was made to an external party at arm’s length. All 
such transactions are eliminated on consolidation of the Group’s financial statements. 

Inter-segment loans payable and receivable are initially recognised at the consideration received/to be 
received net of transaction costs. 

 

(iii) Segment assets and liabilities 

The Group does not identify nor segregate its assets and liabilities in operating segments as these are 
managed on a ‘group basis’. 

Geographical segments (secondary reporting) 

Revenue is based on the location of customers regardless of where the services are rendered. Non-current 
assets are based on the location of those assets: 

  
Revenue Non-current assets 

 2025 
A$’000 

2024 
A$’000 

2025 
A$’000 

2024 
A$’000 

Australia 810,586 1,033,473 588,964 552,277 

Major customers 

The Group has a number of customers to whom it provides both products and services. For the year ended 
30 June 2025, the Group supplies to three (2024: two, Resources) major external customers in the 
Resources segment. The major customers account for approximately 51.4% (2024: 53.5%) of external 
revenue. 
  



 

113 CIVMEC FINANCIAL REPORT 2025 

 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
30 June 2025 

32. Financial information by segments (continued) 
 
 2025 2024 

 

 
Energy 
A$’000 

 

 
Resources 

A$’000 

Infra- 

structure, 

Marine and 

Defence 
A$’000 

 

 
Total 

A$’000 

 

 
Energy 
A$’000 

 

 
Resources 

A$’000 

Infra- 

structure, 

Marine and 

Defence 
A$’000 

 

 
Total 

A$’000 

Revenue 65,188 641,231 104,167 810,586 31,039 876,478 125,956 1,033,473 
Cost of sales (excluding 
depreciation) (55,710) (574,602) (65,996) (696,308) (26,232) (762,530) (106,100) (894,862) 

Depreciation expenses (1,403) (17,693) (2,242) (21,338) (475) (17,177) (1,928) (19,580) 

Segment results 8,075 48,936 35,929 92,940 4,332 96,771 17,928 119,031 

Other income    3,552    5,330 

Unallocated costs 

Administrative expenses*    (29,938)    (27,214) 
Depreciation in admin 

expenses*    (95)    (96) 

Reversal of: 
- revaluation loss on 

freehold land and 
buildings    -    495 

Finance costs    (5,884)    (6,055) 

Profit before income tax    60,575    91,491 

Income tax expense    (18,039)    (27,082) 

Profit for the year    42,536    64,409 

 
 As at 30 June 2025 As at 30 June 2024 

 

 
Energy 
A$’000 

 

 
Resources 

A$’000 

Infra- 

structure, 

Marine and 

Defence 
A$’000 

 

 
Total 

A$’000 

 

 
Energy 
A$’000 

 

 
Resources 

A$’000 

Infra- 

structure, 

Marine and 

Defence 
A$’000 

 

 
Total 

A$’000 

Segment assets: 

Intangible assets - 10 - 10 - 10 - 10 

Unallocated assets: 

Assets    906,810    907,946 

Other current assets    4,001    1,393 

Deferred tax assets    1,078    968 

Total assets    911,899    910,317 

Segment liabilities: 

Unallocated liabilities: 

Liabilities    307,349    339,151 

Borrowings    60,000    64,000 

Provisions    14,038    18,948 

Total liabilities    381,387    422,099 

Other segment 
information 
Capital expenditure during 

the year    4,815    25,210 

* Administrative expenses above exclude depreciation which is disclosed separately above. 
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33. Financial risk management objectives and policies 

The Group and the Company financial risk management policies set out the Group’s and the Company’s 
overall business strategies and its risk management philosophy. The Group and the Company are exposed 
to financial risks arising from its operations and the use of financial instruments. The key financial risks 
include credit risk, interest rate risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s and the Company’s overall risk 
management programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise adverse 
effects from the unpredictability of financial markets on the Group’s and the Company’s financial 
performance. 

The Board of Directors reviews and agrees policies and procedures for the management of these risks. The 
Audit Committee provides independent oversight to the effectiveness of the risk management process. 

The Group and the Company do not hold or issue derivative financial instruments for speculative purposes. 

As at 30 June 2025, the Group’s and the Company’s financial instruments mainly consisted of cash and 
cash equivalents, trade and other receivables, contract assets, trade and other payables, contract liabilities, 
lease liabilities and borrowings. 

There has been no change to the Group’s and the Company’s exposures to these financial risks or the 
manner in which it manages and measures the risk. Market risk exposures are measured using sensitivity 
analysis indicated below. 

(a) Credit risk 

Credit risk refers to the risk that counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial 
loss to the Group. The Group’s exposure to credit risk arises primarily from trade and other receivables, 
contract assets and cash and cash equivalents. The Group adopts the policy of dealing only with: 

 Customers of appropriate credit standing and history, and obtaining sufficient collateral or buying 
credit insurance where appropriate to mitigate credit risk; and 

 High credit quality counterparties of at least an ‘A’ rating by external credit rating companies. 

Financial assets that are potentially subject to concentration of credit risk consist are principally bank 
deposits and receivables. The Group places its deposits with financial institutions and other creditworthy 
issuers and limits the amount of credit exposure to any one party. As at 30 June 2025, the Group has a 
concentration of credit risk on two debtors (2024: two debtors) that individually represents 43.7% and 14.3% 
(2024: 32.06% and 21.13%) of total trade and other receivables and contract assets. 

As the Group and the Company do not hold any collateral, the maximum exposure to credit risk for each 
class of financial instruments is the carrying amount of that class of financial instruments presented on the 
consolidated statement of financial position, except for financial guarantees as disclosed in Note 30 to the 
financial statements. 

The following sets out the Group’s internal credit evaluation practices and basis for recognition and 
measurement for expected credit losses (‘ECL’): 

Internal rating grades Definition 
Basis for recognition and 
measurement of ECL 

i. Performing The counterparty has a low risk of default and 
does not have any past-due amounts. 

12-month ECL 

ii. Under-performing There has been a significant increase in credit risk 
since initial recognition (>60 days past due). 

Lifetime ECL (not credit- 
impaired) 

iii. Non-performing There is evidence indicating that the asset is 
credit-impaired (>90 days past due). 

Lifetime ECL (credit-impaired) 

iv. Write-off There is evidence indicating that there is no 
reasonable expectation of recovery as the debtor 
is in severe financial difficulty. 

Asset is written off 
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33. Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued) 

(a) Credit risk (continued) 

Trade receivables and contract assets 

The Group’s objective is to seek continual revenue growth while minimising losses incurred due to increased 
credit risk exposure. The Group has adopted the policy of dealing with customers with an appropriate credit 
history as a means of mitigating the credit risk exposures. Credit evaluation which takes into account 
qualitative and quantitative profile of each customer is performed and approved by management before 
credit is being granted. The Group also closely monitors customers’ payment pattern and credit exposures 
on an on-going basis. 

The Group applies the simplified approach to provide for the ECL for all trade receivables and contract 
assets. The simplified approach requires the loss allowance to be measured at an amount equal to the 
lifetime ECL. 

The Group uses a provision matrix to measure the lifetime ECL allowance for trade receivables and contract 
assets. In measuring the ECL, trade receivables and contract assets are grouped based on shared credit 
risk characteristics and days past due. The contract assets relate mainly to unbilled work in progress, which 
have substantially the same risk characteristics as the trade receivables for the same type of contracts. 

The Group has therefore concluded that the expected loss rates for trade receivables are a reasonable 
approximation of the loss rates for the contract assets. 

In calculating the ECL rates, the Group considers historical loss rates for each category of customers, and 
adjusts for forward-looking macroeconomic data. The Group has identified the gross domestic product 
(‘GDP’) growth of the countries in which it sells goods and services to be the most relevant factor, and 
accordingly adjust the historical loss rates based on expected changes in this factor. 

The Group considers a financial asset as in default when the counterparty fail to make contractual payments 
for a prolonged period of time when they fall due, and the Group may also consider internal and external 
information, such as significant adverse changes in business, financial or economic conditions that are 
expected to cause a significant change to the debtor’s ability to meet its obligation. Financial assets are 
written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual cash flow, such as a debtor 
failing to engage in a repayment plan with the Group and it is becoming probable that the debtor will enter 
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation. Where receivables have been written off, the Group continues 
to engage in enforcement activity to attempt to recover the receivables due. Where recoveries are made, 
these are recognised in profit or loss. 

Management has assessed and concluded that the ECL rate for trade receivables past due less than 1 year 
approximates Nil and is immaterial, while the ECL rate for trade receivables past due more than 1 year 
approximates 50% to 100%, except for specific cases where management has assessed the amount is still 
fully recoverable. 

The Group’s credit risk exposure in relation to trade receivables under AASB/SFRS(I) 9 as at 30 June 2025 
and 2024 are set out in the provision matrix as follows: 

  

Current 
A$’000 

Past due 

Total 
A$’000 

  Within 60 
days 

A$’000 
61 to 90 days 

A$’000 

More than 90 
days 

A$’000 
2025  
Trade receivables 49,726 1,895 - - 51,621 
      
2024      
Trade receivables 66,454 27,634 - - 94,088 
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33. Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued) 

(a) Credit risk (continued) 

Trade receivables and contract assets (continued) 

There is no ageing analysis for contract assets as these mainly relate to variable considerations which have 
yet to be invoiced. 

The Group has assessed and concluded that trade receivables are subject to immaterial credit loss. There 
has been no change in the estimation techniques or significant assumptions made during the current 
reporting year. 

 

Other receivables 

The Group applies the general approach to provide for the ECL for other receivables. Under the general 
approach, the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to the 12-month ECL at initial recognition. 

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit risk of a financial instrument has increased 
significantly since initial recognition. When credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition, loss 
allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECL. 

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly since initial 
recognition and when estimating ECLs, the Group considers reasonable and supportable information that is 
relevant and available without undue cost or effort. This includes both quantitative and qualitative information 
and analysis, based on the Group’s historical experience and informed credit assessment and includes 
forward-looking information. 

If credit risk has not increased significantly since initial recognition or if the credit quality of the financial 
instruments improves such that there is no longer a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, 
loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to 12-month ECL. 

Impairment of these balances have been measured on the 12-month ECL basis which reflects the low credit 
risk of exposures. These amounts are subject to immaterial credit loss. 

 

Cash and cash equivalents 

The cash and bank balances are entered into with bank and financial institution counterparties, which are 
rated at least AA, based on international credit rating agencies. 

For the purpose of impairment, cash and cash equivalents has been measured on the 12-month expected 
loss basis and reflects the short maturities of the exposures. The Group considers that its cash and cash 
equivalents have low credit risk based on the external credit ratings of the counterparties. 
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33. Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued) 

(b) Interest rate risk 

Exposure to interest rate risk arises on financial assets and financial liabilities recognised at the end of the 
reporting period whereby a future change in interest rates will affect future cash flows or the fair value of 
fixed rate financial instruments. The Group is also exposed to earnings volatility on floating rate instruments. 

Interest rate risk is managed using a mix of fixed and floating rate debt. At 30 June 2025, approximately 
21.7% (2024: 17.7%) of the Group’s debt is fixed. The Group’s borrowings at variable rates are denominated 
mainly in A$. If the A$ interest rates increase/decrease by 1% (2024: 1%) with all other variables remain 
constant, the Group’s profit before tax will be approximately lower/higher by A$600,000 (2024: A$640,000) 
as a result of higher/lower interest expenses on these borrowings. 

The Group has cash balances placed with reputable banks and financial institutions. Such balances are 
placed on varying maturities and generate interest income for the Group and the Company. 

The Group obtains additional financing through bank borrowings and leasing arrangements. Information 
relating to the Group’s interest rate exposure is also disclosed in the notes on the Group’s borrowings and 
leasing obligations. They are both fixed and floating rates of interest. The policy is to retain flexibility in 
selecting borrowings at both fixed and floating rates interest. 

 Variable rates Fixed rates Non-
interest 
bearing 
A$’000 

Total 
A$’000 

 Within 1 
year 

A$’000 

Between 2 
to 5 years 

A$’000 

Within 1 
year 

A$’000 

Between 2 
to 5 years 

A$’000 
2025 
Financial assets 
Cash and cash equivalents 102,940 - - - - 102,940 
Trade and other receivables - - - - 52,328 52,328 
 102,940 - - - 52,328 155,268 
 
Financial liabilities 
Trade and other payables - - - - 86,835 86,835 
Lease liabilities - - 5,442 55,069 - 60,511 
Borrowings - 60,000 - - - 60,000 
 - 60,000 5,442 55,069 86,835 207,346 

 
 Variable rates Fixed rates Non-

interest 
bearing 
A$’000 

Total 
A$’000 

 Within 1 
year 

A$’000 

Between 2 
to 5 years 

A$’000 

Within 1 
year 

A$’000 

Between 2 
to 5 years 

A$’000 
2024 
Financial assets 
Cash and cash equivalents 88,457 - - - - 88,457 
Trade and other receivables - - - - 94,602 94,602 
 88,457 - - - 94,602 183,059 
 
Financial liabilities 
Trade and other payables - - - - 153,149 153,149 
Lease liabilities - - 5,944 51,353 - 57,297 
Borrowings 8,000 56,000 - - - 64,000 
 8,000 56,000 5,944 51,353 153,149 274,446 
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33. Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued) 

(c) Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group and the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting its commitments 
concerning its financial liabilities. The Group and the Company manages this risk through the following 
mechanism: 

Preparing forward-looking cash flow analysis in relation to its operational, investing and financing activities; 

 Monitoring undrawn credit facilities; 

 Maintaining credit risk related to financial assets; 

 Obtaining funding from a variety of sources; 

 Only investing surplus cash with major financial institutions; and 

 Comparing the maturity profile of financial liabilities with the realisation profile of financial assets. 

Cash flows realised from financial assets reflect management’s expectation as to the timing of realisation. 
Actual timing may therefore differ from that disclosed. The timing of cash flows presented in the table to 
settle financial liabilities reflect the earliest contractual settlement dates and do not reflect management’s 
expectations that banking facilities will be rolled forward. Balances due within 12 months equal their carrying 
amount as the impact of discounting is not significant. 

The table below reflects an undiscounted contractual maturity analysis for financial liabilities (exclude 
contract liabilities). 

  Contractual undiscounted cash flows 
  Carrying 

amount 
A$’000 

Within  
1 year 
A$’000 

Between  
2 to 5 years 

A$’000 

More than  
5 years 
A$’000 

Total 
A$’000 

2025  
Financial liabilities    
Trade and other payables 86,835 86,835 - - 86,835 
Lease liabilities 60,511 9,939 27,386 199,573 236,898 
Borrowings 60,000 3,198 63,368 - 66,566 
Total financial liabilities 207,346 99,972 90,754 199,573 390,299 
      
2024 
Financial liabilities      
Trade and other payables 153,149 153,149 - - 153,149 
Lease liabilities 57,297 10,159 25,327 189,888 225,374 
Borrowings 64,000 8,424 58,968 - 67,392 
Total financial liabilities 274,446 171,732 84,295 189,888 445,915 

The Group’s undrawn borrowings facilities and guarantees are disclosed in Notes 21 and 30 to the financial 
statements respectively. 
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30 June 2025 

33. Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued) 

(d) Capital management 

Management controls the capital of the Group in order to maintain a good debt-to-equity ratio, provide the 
shareholders with adequate returns and to ensure that the Group can fund its operations and continue as a 
going concern. 

The Group’s debt and capital includes ordinary share capital and financial liabilities, supported by financial 
assets. 

The Group and the Company have no externally imposed capital requirements. 

Management effectively manages the Group’s capital by assessing the Group’s financial risks and adjusting 
its capital structure in response to changes in these risks and in the market. These responses include the 
management of debt levels, distribution to shareholders and share issues. 

The net debt-to-equity ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total equity. Net debt is calculated as total 
financial liabilities less cash and cash equivalents. 

  2025 
A$’000 

2024 
A$’000 

Net debt 104,406 185,989 
Total equity 530,512 488,218 
Net debt-to-equity ratio 0.20 0.38 

(e) Fair value estimation 

Financial instruments 

The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities can be compared to their carrying values as 
presented in the consolidated statement of financial position. Fair values are those amounts at which an 
asset could be exchanged, or liability settled, between knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm’s length 
transaction. 

Fair values derived may be based on information that is estimated or subject to judgement, where changes 
in assumptions may have a material impact on the amounts estimated. 

The fair value of current financial assets and financial liabilities approximate the carrying value due to the 
liquid nature of these assets and/or the short-term nature of these financial rights and obligations. 

The fair value of non-current borrowings are calculated based on discounted expected future principal and 
interest cash flows. The discount rates used are based on market rates for similar instruments at the 
reporting date. The carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities are assumed to approximate 
their respective fair values. The Group does not anticipate that the carrying amounts recorded at the balance 
sheet date would be significantly different from the values that would eventually be received or settled. 

 

Fair value hierarchy 

The Group categories fair value measurement using a fair value hierarchy that is depend on the valuation 
inputs used as follows: 

 Level 1 – Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the Group 
can access at the measurement date; 

 Level 2 – Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or 
liability, either directly or indirectly; and 

 Level 3 – Unobservable inputs for the asset or liability 

Fair value measurements that use inputs of different hierarchy levels are categorised in its entirety in the 
same level of the fair value hierarchy as the lowest level input that is significant to the entire measurement. 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
30 June 2025 

34. Litigation 

Perth stadium project 

In February 2019, the Group lodged a writ in the Supreme Court of Western Australia against Brookfield 
Multiplex Engineering and Infrastructure Pty Ltd (‘Brookfield Multiplex’), in relation to the valuation of 
additional time and changes to the works undertaken in the delivery of the new Perth Stadium project in 
Western Australia. 

The Group is seeking a determination from the Supreme Court to recover costs associated with the changes 
in scope and nature of the works required to be completed and for the granting of Practical Completion. The 
proceedings are ongoing as at the date of this report. 

 

35. Adoption of new and revised standards 

The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year except that in the 
current financial year, the Group has adopted all the new and revised standards which are effective for 
annual financial periods beginning on or after 1 July 2024. 

Accounting standard Title 

Amendments to AASB 101 / SFRS(I) 1-1 Classification of liabilities as current or non-current 

Amendments to AASB 101 / SFSR(I) 1-1 Non-current liabilities with Covenants 

Amendments to AASB 112 / SFRS(I) 1-12 Deferred tax related to Assets and liabilities arising from a Single 
Transaction 

Amendments to AASB 16 / SFRS (I) 16 Lease liability in a sale and leaseback 

Amendments to AASB 1060 / SFRS(I) 1-7 and 7 Supplier finance arrangements 

 

36. New standards and interpretations not yet adopted 

A number of new standards and interpretations and amendments to standards are effective for annual 
periods beginning on or after 1 July 2025 and earlier application is permitted; however, the Group has not 
early adopted the new or amended standards and interpretations in preparing these financial statements. 

Applicable to 2026 financial statements: 

 Amendments to AASB 121 / SFRS(I) 1-21: the Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates: Lack 
of Exchangeability 

Applicable to 2027 financial statements: 

 AASB 18/SFRS(I) 18: Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements 

 SFRS(I) 19: Subsidiaries without Public Accountability: Disclosures 

Unspecified effective date, early adoption permitted: 

 Amendments to AASB 10 and AASB 128 / SFRS(I) 10 and SFRS(I) 1-28: Investments in Associates 
and Joint Ventures – Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint 
Venture 
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30 June 2025 

37. Subsequent events 

Acquisition of Luerssen Australia Pty Ltd 

On 1 July 2025, the Group has completed the acquisition of 100% of the shares in Luerssen Australia Pty 
Ltd from NVL Australia GmbH, for a cash consideration of A$20 million. The acquisition was funded from 
the Group’s existing cash reserves. It is the intent that, Luerssen Australia will be renamed to ‘Civmec 
Defence Industries Pty Ltd’. 

The Group is not in a position to present information related to the acquisition fair value of the assets acquired 
and liabilities assumed along with any goodwill that may arise from the acquisition of Luerssen Australia Pty 
Ltd due to the proximity of the acquisition date of 1 July 2025 to the date of release of these financial 
statements. 

 

38. Other disclosures 

There were no significant seasonal factors affecting the business during the current financial year. 

 

39. Remuneration of auditors 

During the financial year, the following fees were paid or payable for services provided by the Auditor of the 
Group: 

  2025 
A$’000 

2024 
A$’000 

Audit or review of the financial statements   
- Moore Australia Audit (WA) (previously as 

network firm) 171 126 
- Moore Stephens LLP* 142 137 
   
Total Auditors’ remuneration 313 263 
*Equivalent to S$118,000 for current financial year (2024: S$111,000)  
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30 June 2025 

40. Parent Entity 

On 4 September 2024, Civmec Australia Limited (now known as ‘Civmec Limited’) became the new listed 
holding company of the Civmec Group, replacing Civmec Limited (now known as ‘Civmec Singapore 
Limited’) through a scheme of arrangement. 

Civmec Australia Limited was incorporated on 26 October 2023, held ordinary share capital of A$1 and was 
dormant prior to the Restructure. 

Summary financial information  
  2025 

A$’000 
Current assets 51,704 
Total assets 89,246 
  
Current liabilities 48,750 
Total liabilities 48,750 
  
Issued capital 32,812 
Retained earnings 2,971 
Share-based payments reserve 1,216 
Other reserves 3,497 
Total shareholder equity 40,496 
  
Profit for the year 14,877 
  
Total comprehensive income for the year 14,877 
 

Parent entity’s contractual commitments for property, plant and equipment 

The Company has no contractual commitments to acquire property, plant and equipment. 
 

Subsidiary Guarantees 

The Company provides parent company guarantee (PCG) to clients from time to time when a subsidiary 
enters into a contractual agreement. These guarantees and indemnities only give rise to a liability in the 
event that the subsidiary is unable to perform its contractual obligations.  

During the course of business, the Company also provides letters of credit for international trading when 
required. 
 

Contingent liabilities 

There are no other known contingent liabilities of the Company. Refer to Note 30 for details of contingent 
liabilities of Group entities. 
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Consolidated Entity Disclosure 
Statement 
As at 30 June 2025 

Entity name Entity type 
Country of 
incorporation 

Equity 

held % 

Australian tax 
residency 

status 

Foreign 
Countries tax 

residency 

Civmec Limited Body corporate Australia N/A Australian N/A 

Civmec Singapore Limited Body corporate Singapore 100 Australian N/A 

Civmec Construction & 
Engineering Pty Ltd 

Body corporate Australia 100 Australian N/A 

Civmec Holdings Pty Ltd Body corporate Australia 100 Australian N/A 

Multidiscipline Solutions  
Pty Ltd 

Body corporate Australia 100 Australian N/A 

Civmec Pipe Productions Pty 
Ltd 

Body corporate Australia 83.5 Australian N/A 

Civmec Electrical and 
Instrumentation Pty Ltd 

Body corporate Australia 100 Australian N/A 

Forgacs Maring and Defence 
Pty Ltd 

Body corporate Australia 100 Australian N/A 

Black & Veatch Civmec JV 
(‘BCJV’) 

Participant in joint 
operations 

Australia 50 Australian N/A 

Civmec Construction & 
Engineering Pty Ltd and 
Seymour Whyte 
Constructions Pty Ltd and 
WSP Australia Pty Ltd 
(‘Causeway Link Alliance’) 

Participant in joint 
operations 

Australia 53.78 Australian N/A 
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Directors’ Declaration 
 

 

In the Directors’ opinion 

(a) The financial statements and notes for Civmec Limited and its controlled entities for the year ended 
30 June 2025 have been prepared in accordance with the Corporation Act (2001) including: 

(i) giving a true and fair view of the Group’s financial position as at 30 June 2025 and of its 
financial performance for the year ended on that date; 

(ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations (2001); 
and 

(b) There are reasonable grounds to believe that the company will be able to pay its debts as and when 
they become due and payable. 

(c) The financial statements comply with Singapore Financial Reporting Standards (International) as 
disclosed in Note 3. 

(d) The consolidated entity disclosure statement for Civmec Limited and its controlled entities as at 30 
June 2025 is true and correct. 

The directors have received the declarations required by the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial 
Officer as required by section 295A of the Corporations Act (2001). 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

This declaration has been made in accordance with resolution of the Directors. 

 

 

 

James Finbarr Fitzgerald 
Executive Chairman 
Civmec Limited 
28 August 2025 

Patrick John Tallon 
Chief Executive Officer 
Civmec Limited 
28 August 2025 
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Supplementary information 
30 June 2025 

 

As described in Note 1, Civmec Limited (formerly named Civmec Australia Limited. Domiciled in Australia) 
replace Civmec Singapore Limited (formerly named Civmec Limited, domiciled in Singapore) as the new 
listed parent company of the Civmec Group, moving the head company’s domicile from Singapore to 
Australia on 4 September 2024. This change was completed through a scheme of arrangement under 
Singapore’s Companies Act. 

 

(a) Overview of the Restructure 

The key steps undertake in the Restructure were: 

 New legal entity Civmec Australia Limited (the ‘NewCo’) was incorporated as a public limited 
company in Australia on 26 October 2023 for the sole purpose of the Change of Domicile. 

 Existing shareholders of Civmec Limited (the ‘Company’) exchanged their ordinary shares and 
CHESS Depositary Interests (CDIs) in the Company for new ordinary shares in the NewCo on a 1 for 
1 basis. 

 NewCo replaced Civmec Limited as the new holding company of the Group. 

 The existing listing of the Company on the Mainboard of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading 
Limited (the ‘SGX-ST’) and the Australian Securities Exchange (the ‘ASX’) transferred to the NewCo. 

 NewCo changed its name to ‘Civmec Limited’ and the Company changed its name to ‘Civmec 
Singapore Limited’. 

 

(b) Composition of the Group 

The composition of the Civmec Group after the Restructure is shown in the diagram below. 
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Moore Stephens LLP 
10 Anson Road#29-15 
International Plaza 
Singapore 079903  
 
T  +65 6221 3771 
E  email@mooresingapore.com 

www.mooresingapore.com 

 
 

 
Independent Audit Report 
To the members of Civmec Limited  
Report on the Audit of the Financial Report 
Opinion 
We have audited the financial report of Civmec Limited (the “Company”) and its controlled entities (the 
“Group”), which comprises the consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 June 2025, the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of 
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year ended 30 June 2025, and 
notes to the financial statements, including material accounting policy information, the consolidated entity 
disclosure statement and the directors’ declaration. The Group consists of the Company and the entities it 
controlled at the year-end or from time to time during the financial year. 
In our opinion, the accompanying financial report of the Group is in accordance with the Corporations Act 
2001, including: 

i. giving a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position as at 30 June 2025 and of its 
consolidated financial performance, consolidated changes in equity and consolidated cash flows 
for the year then ended; and  

ii. complying with Australian Accounting Standards, Singapore Financial Reporting Standards 
(International) (“SFRS(I)”) and the Corporations Regulations 2001. 

Basis for Opinion  
Moore Stephens LLP 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing (“SSAs”). Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit 
of the Financial Report section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the 
Accounting and Corporate Regulatory Authority (“ACRA”) Code of Professional Conduct and Ethics for 
Public Accountants and Accounting Entities (“ACRA Code”) and we have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the ACRA Code. We believe that the audit 
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
Moore Australia Audit (WA) 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards (“AASs”). Our responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial 
Report section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the auditor 
independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 and the ethical requirements of the Accounting 
Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants 
(including Independence Standards) (the “Code”) that are relevant to our audit of the financial report in 
Australia. We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. 
We confirm that the independence declaration required by the Corporations Act 2001, which has been 
given to the directors of the Company, would be in the same terms if given to the directors as at the time 
of this auditor’s report. 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our opinion. 

Key Audit Matters 
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our 
audit of the financial report of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit 
of the financial report as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate 
opinion on these matters.  

mailto:email@mooresingapore.com
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Key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our audit 
  

Accounting for Construction Contracts 

We refer to Note 4(a)(ii)-(iii) and 4(b)(i) 
under “Critical Accounting Estimates and 
Judgments”, Note 5(a) and Note 34 of the 
financial statements. 

During the financial year ended 30 June 
2025, revenue from construction contracts 
amounted to A$710.9 million which 
represented 88% of the Group’s total 
revenue. 

Contract revenue comprises the initial 
amount agreed in the contract and 
variations in the contract as constrained to 
the extent that it is highly probable that a 
significant reversal in the amount of 
cumulative revenue recognised will not 
occur when the uncertainty associated 
with the variable consideration is 
subsequently removed.   

The amount of revenue recognised is 
based on the Group’s progress towards 
completion of the construction contract, 
determined based on the proportion of 
construction costs incurred to date to the 
estimated total contract costs (“input 
method”). The Group uses the input 
method to measure project progress and 
recognises contract revenue in 
accordance with AASB / SFRS(I) 15 
Revenue from Contracts with Customers.  

Estimates of revenues, costs or the extent 
of progress toward completion are revised 
if circumstances change.  Any resulting 
increases or decreases in estimated 
revenues or costs are reflected in profit or 
loss in the period in which the 
circumstances that give rise to the 
revision become known by management.  

The determination of estimated contract 
revenue, total contract costs and costs to 
complete require significant judgment 
which may impact on amounts of the 
construction contract revenue and profits 
recognised during the year, including the 
provision for onerous contracts.   

We have therefore, identified this as a key 
audit matter. 

Our procedures included, amongst others: 

• We performed procedures to understand the projects 
through discussions with management and 
examination of key project documents including 
contracts and correspondence with customers on 
delays and extension of time. We evaluated the 
relevant key controls put in place by the 
management over the construction contract revenue 
and costs recognition on construction contracts. 

• In relation to the contract revenue for projects, on a 
sample basis, we have: 

o Traced the contract sums to the contracts and 
variation orders entered into by the Group and 
its customers. 

o Challenged the appropriateness of the Group’s 
judgment on the variations and claims included 
in the computation of the construction contract 
revenue via scrutiny of relevant customer 
correspondence and inspecting key clauses in 
the contracts and variation orders. 

o Reviewed minutes of operational & executive 
meetings, held discussions with senior 
operational and financial management, as well 
as the Group’s legal advisors where 
appropriate, to evaluate management’s 
assessment that it is highly probable that a 
significant reversal in the amount of cumulative 
revenue recognised will not occur when the 
uncertainty associated with the variable 
consideration is subsequently removed.  

o Assessed the adequacy of the provision for 
onerous contracts based on our understanding 
of the projects.  This includes reviewing 
management’s assessment of provision for 
onerous contracts by focusing on projects with 
low or negative margins.  We have also held 
discussions with senior operational and financial 
management, where appropriate, on these 
projects. 

• In relation to total contract costs, on a sample basis, 
we have: 

o Tested costs incurred to date and agreed these 
to supporting documentation. 

o Conducted a walkthrough of the Group’s 
process for preparing project cost forecasts. 
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Key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our audit 
  

o Performed analytical procedures comparing 
forecast costs to date with original budget costs 
to evaluate the accuracy of the management’s 
estimation process. 

o Evaluate the appropriateness of inputs, 
amongst others, materials, subcontractor and 
labour costs used by the management in their 
estimation of the total cost to complete the 
contract or project, and obtain supporting 
documentation on the major inputs. 

o We examined key project documentation and 
discussed the progress of the significant 
projects with the Group’s key project personnel 
and management for significant events that 
could impact the estimated total contract costs 
and stage of completion. 

• We have recomputed the percentage of completion 
based on actual cumulative contract costs incurred 
to date to the total estimated contract costs for 
individually significant projects. 

• We have checked the arithmetic accuracy of the 
revenue and profit recognised based on the 
percentage of completion computation for 
individually significant projects and traced the 
revenue for the current year based on the 
measurement of progress to the accounting records. 

• We have also assessed the adequacy of the 
disclosures of key accounting estimates and the 
sensitivity of the inputs to the estimates and found 
the disclosures in the financial statements to be 
appropriate. 

Our audit findings 
We are satisfied that the judgments applied by 
management in accounting for construction contracts are 
reasonable. 

Recoverability of trade and other receivables and contract assets 

We refer to Note 4(a)(i) under “Critical 
Accounting Estimates and Judgments”, 
Note 5(b), Note 12 and Note 33(a) to the 
financial statements. 

The carrying amount of trade and other 
receivables and contract assets of the 
Group was A$52.3 million and A$155.0 
million as at 30 June 2025 respectively.  
We focused on this area because of its 
significance and the degree of judgement 

Our procedures included, amongst others: 

• We obtained an understanding of the Group credit 
policy and evaluated the processes for identifying 
impairment indicators. 

• We reviewed and tested the ageing of trade and 
other receivables. 

• We reviewed management’s assessment on the 
credit worthiness of selected customers. 
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Key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our audit 
  

required in determining the carrying 
amount of trade and other receivables 
and contract assets as at the reporting 
date. 

In accordance with AASB / SFRS(I) 9 
Financial Instruments, the Group 
assesses periodically and at each 
financial year end, the expected credit 
loss associated with its receivables.  
When there is expected credit loss 
impairment, the amount and timing of 
future cash flows are estimated based on 
historical, current and forward-looking loss 
experience for assets with similar credit 
risk characteristics. 

• We assessed current ongoing negotiations and 
settlements of significant contracts subject to 
modifications, to identify if the collectability of 
contract consideration is highly probable. 

• We discussed with the key management on the 
adequacy of the allowance for impairment recorded 
by the Group and reviewed the supporting 
documents provided by management in relation to 
their assessment. 

Our audit findings 
Based on our audit procedures, we found management’s 
assessment of the recoverability of trade and other 
receivables and contract assets to be reasonable and the 
disclosures to be appropriate.  

Valuation of property, plant and equipment and investment properties 

We refer to Note 4(a)(vi) under “Critical 
Accounting Estimates and Judgments”, 
Note 6, Note 15, Note 16 and Note 27 to 
the financial statements. 

The carrying amount of property, plant 
and equipment and investment properties 
of the Group was A$568.2 million and 
A$19.7 million respectively as at 30 June 
2025, of which the fair value of the 
freehold land and buildings and 
investment properties had been assessed 
as having a fair value of A$460.6 million 
and A$17.1 million respectively. 

The valuation of property, plant and 
equipment and investment properties is 
significant to our audit due to the use of 
various valuation techniques which 
involve significant judgments and critical 
estimates. 

The key assumptions used in the fair 
valuation are also disclosed in Note 15 
and Note 16 to the financial statements. 

Management relied on independent 
external valuations for the fair valuation of 
its freehold land and buildings and 
investment properties. 

Our procedures included, amongst others: 

• We assessed the competence, capabilities and 
independence of the professional valuer engaged by 
the Group. 

• We discussed and considered the reasonableness of 
the valuation methodologies used, as well as 
reviewed the key assumptions and inputs used by 
the professional valuer in determining the valuation 
of each property.  

• We assessed the reasonableness of the market 
value of properties by benchmarking them against 
those of comparable properties when there is 
comparative market sales evidence. 

• We evaluated the reasonableness of the key data 
and assumptions used in the Depreciated 
Replacement Cost approach by the valuer when 
there is no comparable market sales evidence. 

• We also assessed the appropriateness of the 
disclosures relating to the valuation techniques and 
key inputs applied by the professional valuer. 

Our audit findings 
The external valuer is a member of a recognised body for 
professional valuers. We found that the valuation 
methodologies used to be appropriate and the key 
assumptions used were within the range of market data. 
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Other information 
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information 
included in the Group’s annual report for the year ended 30 June 2025 but does not include the financial 
report and our auditor’s report thereon. 

Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and accordingly we do not express 
any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in 
doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial report or our 
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Responsibilities of the Directors for the Financial Report 
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of: 

a) the financial report (other than the consolidated entity disclosure statement) that gives a true and 
fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards, SFRS(I) and the Corporations Act 
2001;  

b) the consolidated entity disclosure statement that is true and correct in accordance with the 
Corporations Act 2001, and 

c) for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of: 

i. the financial report that gives a true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error; and 

ii. the consolidated entity disclosure statement that is true and correct and is free of 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing the ability of the Group to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease 
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.  

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes 
our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with the AASs and SSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it 
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the 
basis of this financial report. 

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial report in accordance with AASs is 
located on the Auditing and Assurance Standards Board website at: 
https://www.auasb.gov.au/admin/file/content102/c3/ar1_2020.pdf. This description forms part of our 
auditor’s report. 

As part of an audit in accordance with SSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain 
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:   

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to 
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not 
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, 
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override 
of internal control.   

https://www.auasb.gov.au/admin/file/content102/c3/ar1_2020.pdf
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• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.   

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by management.  

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting 
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events 
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. 
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s 
report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, 
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of 
our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to 
continue as a going concern.  

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and 
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.   

• Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the 
financial information of the entities or business units within the Group as a basis for forming an 
opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision 
and review of the audit work performed for purposes of the group audit. We remain solely 
responsible for our audit opinion.  

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the 
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify 
during our audit.   

We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may 
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.  

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of most 
significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit 
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public 
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should 
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be 
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.   
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Report on the Remuneration Report 
Opinion on the Remuneration Report 
We have audited the Remuneration Report as included within the directors’ report for the year ended 30 
June 2025. 

In our opinion, the Remuneration Report of Civmec Limited for the year ended 30 June 2025 complies 
with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. 

Responsibilities 
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the Remuneration 
Report in accordance with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. Our responsibility is to express an 
opinion on the Remuneration Report, based on our audit conducted in accordance with AASs and SSAs. 

 

 

 

Michelle Chong Moore Stephens LLP 
Partner Public Accountants and Chartered Accountants 
Moore Stephens LLP 
 
Singapore 28 August 2025 

 

 

 

 

Suan Lee Tan Moore Australia Audit (WA) 
Partner Chartered Accountants 
Moore Australia Audit (WA) 
 
Perth 28 August 2025 
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